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004   LetteR FRoM the ceo

Ladies and Gentlemen,
clients and Partners,

2014 was a very successful year for the tÜV noRD 
GRoUP in its various markets. consolidated sales rose 
by 3.1% to €1,089.5 million (2013: €1,056.4 million), 
thereby scaling new heights – as did the operating 
results (eBIt), which reached €58.8 million (an increase 
of 34.6% over 2013). the return on sales, based on 
eBIt, amounted to 5.4% (2013: 4.1%).

once again, the domestic industrial business proved 
particularly robust. Although the Mobility business unit 
had to cope with severe losses as a result of changes 
to the laws governing general vehicle inspections, 
improvements in both sales and earnings were 
recorded. All the other business units were in positive 
territory. the figures presented in this report are 
encouraging. In almost every part of the world our 
engineers are offering up their knowledge and 
complete range of skills to find the best solutions for 
technological fields such as energy, electric mobility, 
complex logistics systems, biotechnology, aerospace 
and satellite technology, It security, and last but not 
least, quality, environment and safety management in 
enterprises. this spectrum of services is further 
enriched by the addition of tailor-made training 
programmes. 

We know that global megatrends, above all digiti- 
sation, are going to have a much greater impact on 
our work processes in the next few years than has 
previously been the case and will bring about 
significant change.

We in the tÜV noRD GRoUP are preparing specifically 
for these developments with our strategy 2020plus. 
the world stands on the brink of technological 
upheaval: vehicles will take to the roads without a 
driver, drones will take over the work of inspecting 
plants, the Internet and industry 4.0 will result in the 
networking of manufacturing processes – and these 
are just some of the many issues on which we are 
focusing very closely indeed. And in all things we are 
guided by the question of what we ourselves can do to 
drive forward innovation for the benefit of our 
customers. Values such as trust, security and quality 
remain unalterable constants in everything we do. It is 

Dr Guido Rettig
chairman of the Board  
of Management of the   
tÜV noRD GRoUP 

LetteR FRoM the ceo
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against these yardsticks that we will also be measured 
in the future.

the proportion of services provided outside Germany 
rose again slightly in the year under review to 25.5% 
(2013: 24.9%). Globalisation is leading to an increase in 
global goods flows and strengthening the demand for 
the certification of products and processes. At the 
same time, the global economies operate with different 
safety requirements, standards, and conformity 
provisions. this is particularly evident in the negotia-
tions for the ttIP (transatlantic trade and Investment 
Partnership) trade agreement with the United states. 
this is intended to facilitate market access and 
eliminate tariffs. We support a trade agreement 
between the world’s two largest economies but are 
also aware that the ttIP will meet with acceptance in 
europe only if the basic substance of safety standards 
and regulations that have been tried and tested over 
many decades is retained. We have made a number of 
concrete proposals to politicians and players in the 
economy for the practical implementation of the 
agreement. these proposals are concerned with 
ensuring that proven market access instruments, such 
as standardisation, accreditation, and independent 
assessments of conformity, are anchored in any 
agreement.

Given the rapidly growing number of digital business 
processes and services, data and information security 
is becoming an ever more pressing matter for authori-
ties and companies alike. the progressive development 
of networking means that cyber attacks, even on 
German industrial plants, are no longer isolated cases. 
In 2014, for instance, for the first time, hackers 
breached the defences of the system of a steel works 
and damaged a blast furnace. And the websites of both 
the Federal chancellery and the German Bundestag 
went down for short periods. In tÜVit we have a  
group company that operates successfully worldwide 
in the protection of It infrastructures and data 
security. the increase in sales of the It business unit 
(up 12.3% compared 2013) is further evidence that 
small and medium-sized companies are now investing 
in their It security. With its annual “cyber security 
Fact check” our group held a much-acclaimed 
discussion forum in Berlin on the topic of the Federal 
Government‘s digital agenda and cyber-security. this 
fact check has become an independent inventory of 

the state of cyber-security in Germany and of uniform 
pan-european data privacy regulations.

Digitisation is emerging as one of the key issues for the 
future. Whoever sets the standards will dominate the 
market and corner the business. europe must actively 
take up this challenge. In the It field, with the excep-
tion of sAP, we do not have a single company which 
can credibly pit itself against the global players from 
the United states and Asia. What is needed is a 
pan-european political and industrial initiative such as 
that which led to the establishment of Airbus.

notwithstanding muted forecasts for the world 
economy, we expect our business to develop well in 
2015. the development of the political and military 
conflicts in Ukraine and in the Middle east is hard to 
predict, as is the further impact of the Greek financial 
crisis on the eurozone. Particularly challenging is the 
situation in the declining natural resources markets. 
We do not expect a reversal in this trend in the near 
future.

In 2014 we looked back on the first ten years of the 
present tÜV noRD GRoUP. on september 1 2004, the 
newly merged companies at their sites in hamburg, 
hanover and essen set to work, as did over 200 
others. the overall number of employees has doubled 
since then, and total sales have risen from €600 million 
to over a billion. Without the commitment shown by 
our employees with their depth of knowledge and great 
dedication to our customers across the globe, this 
would have been impossible. on behalf of the entire 
Board of Management and the supervisory Board,  
I would like to thank every single one of them for this 
achievement. My thanks also go to the staff councils 
for their constructive cooperation. 

We would also like to thank all our customers and 
partners, not just for their commitment over the past 
year, but also for the trust that they have placed in the 
tÜV noRD GRoUP since 2004!

Kind regards,

Dr Guido Rettig
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security is a basic human need. Protection is what 
parents give their children at home “in the nest”. In 
doing so they want to offer their children the best 
possible conditions for a good start in life.

companies also want to get their products off to a good 
start on the market. But, no matter how accurate, 
competent and comprehensive the work of the 
developers may have been, it is always a good idea to 
ask a third party for advice. especially when it comes 
to complex materials, an objective external perspective 
can help bring about a technically perfect result. the 
experience and expertise of the people who work for 
the tÜV noRD GRoUP are an invaluable support for 

many companies in their efforts to ensure that their 
basic need for safety for their products and systems  
is met. 

Fascination with the new and unknown is an inherent 
human trait. the triumphal march of smartphones and 
tablets began in 2007. the technology was strikingly 
different at that time, and public enthusiasm knew no 
bounds. the devices were both captivating and 
fascinating, and anyone who had the money bought 
one. these days, people are not so concerned with the 
hardware: today it is the software – the apps – that 
matter. As what they promise to deliver scales ever 
more dizzying heights, the relentless data collection of 

 WeLcoMe
      to all our readers,
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some of these programs becomes ever more threaten-
ing. how reassuring it is, then, that people like the staff 
of the tÜV noRD GRoUP are alert to the risks and 
engaged in the task of conscientiously checking these 
apps with their analytical tools.

A good hundred years or so ago, researchers and 
tinkerers dreamt up a self-propelled machine. What  
a bold and captivating idea! People wanted to be 
mobile, to be independent. thus began the impressive 
development of individual mobility. the basic principle 
of the automobile is still the same: four wheels, an 
engine, a passenger compartment. But that is where 
the similarity ends. the quest to make driving even 

safer still has its challenges. one of these concerns the 
fascinating possibility that vehicles will one day be  
able to send signals to one another, decrypt them  
and even respond to them. It is precisely this new 
chapter in the history of the automobile that clever 
researchers have begun to write. And in the vanguard 
are engineers from the tÜV noRD GRoUP. 

how the world is set to change: wherever the  
challenges of today and tomorrow await, that is  
where engineers from the tÜV noRD GRoUP with 
their expertise are to be found. this annual report 
offers you with an insight into the diversity of the  
work done in the group.

Dr Guido Rettig 
chairman and ceo; 
natural Resources and  
Aerospace business units

Harald Reutter M. A.
Labour Director; 
training business unit

Dr Elmar Legge
cFo

Dr Dirk Stenkamp
Industrial services and 
It business units 

Dr Klaus Kleinherbers 
Mobility  
business unit
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Dr Georg Schöning
chairman of the  
supervisory Board

In the year under review, as before, the supervisory 
Board continued at all times and with great care to 
exercise the monitoring and consultancy responsibili-
ties incumbent on it in accordance with the law, the 
articles of association and the regulations. the regular 
meetings took place on April 1, May 27, september 16 
and December 2 2014. the principal focus of the 
meetings was on business development, the status of 
strategic planning, and the risk and opportunities 
management of the tÜV noRD GRoUP. In addition, in 
the meeting of December 2, the budget for 2015 was 
discussed and approved.

the Board of Management informed the supervisory 
Board regularly, promptly and comprehensively  
by word of mouth and in writing of all relevant  
issues of business development as well as the 
situation and strategy of the company, including  
the group’s main companies, the risk situation and 
risk and opportunity management. the chairmen  
of the supervisory Board and the Board of Manage-
ment were also in regular contact between the 
plenary and committee meetings, and both kept 
abreast of major developments.

to carry out its tasks the supervisory Board set  
up two committees which effectively support the 
work of the plenum. the executive committee/
personnel committee held five meetings during the 
year under review. the discussions focused primarily 
on the preparation of the plenary sessions and of the 
personnel and compensation decisions to be made by 
the supervisory Board. 

RePoRt oF the 
sUPeRVIsoRy BoARD
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the Finance committee met in advance of each of  
the supervisory Board meetings and paid particular 
attention to the annual financial statement, earnings 
trends, planning and cost trends with regard to the 
group’s pension obligations.

the drafting of tÜV noRD AG’s annual financial 
statements and consolidated financial statements, 
including the associated reports on the situation of  
the company and the group, was completed by the 
Board by December 31 2014. they were validated by 
the auditors appointed by the Annual General Meeting, 
BDo AG, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft in essen.

on March 17 2015 the Finance committee met with 
the Board of Management and the auditors to discuss 
the annual and consolidated financial statements and 
the audit reports. In addition, a detailed discussion 
took place at the meeting of the supervisory Board  
on March 24 2015. the auditors were present at the 
deliberations on the annual and consolidated financial 
statements. they reported on the main results of the 
audits and made themselves available to the supervi-
sory Board should the latter require additional 
information. the auditors also noted that the Board  
of Management had established an appropriate 
information and monitoring system whose design  
and management rendered it suitable for anticipating 
developments that might pose a risk to the continued 
existence of the company.  

on the basis of its own audit of the annual and 
consolidated financial statements, the management 

reports as well as on the basis of the report and  
the recommendation of the Finance committee,  
the supervisory Board felt able to concur with the 
auditors’ conclusions. no objections were raised.  
the supervisory Board has approved both the 
financial statements and the consolidated financial 
statements. the annual financial statements are thus 
adopted. 

Jürgen himmelsbach has been appointed with  
effect from september 1 2015 as successor to the 
chief Financial officer Dr elmar Legge, who is to 
retire at this time.

the supervisory Board would like to thank all the 
employees, the managers, the Board of Management 
and the employee representatives for their dedicated 
and successful work in the year under review.
 
the supervisory Board

Dr Georg schöning
chairman

hanover, March 2015

RePoRt oF the 
sUPeRVIsoRy BoARD
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testing technologies, reviewing quality requirements and ensuring  
a smooth work flow – the safety issue is a multifaceted one.  
Accordingly varied is the spectrum on which the companies of the 
tÜV noRD GRoUP with their core competencies offer their services 
as partners to industry and commerce. their expertise is just as 
sought after in the construction of production plants in the context 
of transnational cooperation agreements as it is in the ports of Asia 
and the development of warehouse vehicles.
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the 120-square-metre room with its 6.5 metre ceiling 
is bound to fill any layman with awe. Because, 
protruding menacingly from the walls and the ceiling 
are what look like a large number of oversized pencil 
points. Masses of cables on the floor and large 
antennae targeted at a vehicle in the hall add to the a 
futuristic atmosphere. And yet, no science fiction film 
is being shot here. Being tested on this occasion in the 

tÜV noRD laboratory for electromagnetic compatibili-
ty (eMc) is a vertical order picker, a warehousing 
vehicle that allows its operator to work at greater 
heights. the dangerous-looking points are, on closer 
inspection, made of foam and act as absorbers of 
electromagnetic waves. Meaningful and accurate 
testing would not be possible without them. the 
modern laboratory with its large anechoic chamber is 
suitable for testing everything from small radios right 
up to electric cars that can be driven into the hall. 

there are only a few laboratories in Germany capable 
of testing such a wide range of products as that 
operated by tÜV noRD in hamburg-harburg. Regard-
less of where they are found – in offices, living rooms, 
clinics or large warehouses – ever larger numbers of 
electronic devices and systems are required to 

function flawlessly alongside one another. this means 
that no device may be permitted to “interfere” with 
any other – what is meant here is the electromagnetic 
compatibility of every single product. Most devices 
from the household and industrial technology, 
consumer electronics and medical technology fields – 
and even cars – are for this reason tested for electro-
magnetic compatibility before they go into series 
production. “Passing the eMc test is a prerequisite for 
all products with electronic parts that need to be 
approved for market release,” explains Dr thomas 
Weber, head of the eMc laboratory of tÜV noRD.

DEvicES MuSt pASS tEStS
the background to this is eU Directive 2004/108/ec, 
which makes eMc testing mandatory for many devices 
if they are to be sold on the european market. this 
applies not just to devices for everyday use but also to 
a variety of industrial appliances such as, for example, 
those used in automatic control engineering. If the 
device complies with the requirements it receives the 
familiar ce mark. this is not a test mark: it is instead 
an administrative symbol which shows that appropria-
tely qualified industrial products may be freely sold on 
the european internal market. the sale without ce 
marking of devices which fall within the scope of the 
directive has been banned since 1996. 

DEcAtHLon in tHE LAboRAtoRy
the vertical order picker being tested on this day by 
the eMc specialists from tÜV noRD was manufactur-
ed by Jungheinrich. the hamburg-based group is one 
of the leading international companies in the fields of 
floor-level conveyors, warehousing and material 

“We test the 
produCts of tomorroW”
It is essential for electronic devices to operate faultlessly alongside one another:  
for this reason new products are tested for electromagnetic compatibility in the  
laboratory by tÜV noRD before their market launch.

“We collaborate regularly  
with tÜv nord, right from  
the development stage.” 
michael Wiese, Jungheinrich ag
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Dr thomas Weber (r) from tÜv noRD and Michael Wiese from Jungheinrich discuss the test results.
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flow technology. Being tested in the eMc 
laboratory is an advanced vertical order picker which 
will in the future have to navigate around the racks  
of large logistics centres and extract articles from 
different rack heights. 

“We collaborate regularly with tÜV noRD, right from 
the development stage, to get our products tested for 
their electromagnetic compatibility,” says Michael 
Wiese of Jungheinrich AG. “For us a testing procedure 
is like a decathlon. the products to be inspected must 
pass muster in several disciplines and demonstrate 
their electromagnetic compatibility,” explains  
Dr thomas Weber.

tWo tEStS RunS nEcESSARy 
In the anechoic chamber, two different test runs take 
place. First of all, the larger antennas are used to test 
radiated emissions. the purpose of this test is to 
establish whether the order picker will interfere with 
other equipment. “If the vehicle doesn’t pass this test 
it might mean that it could interfere with computers  
it passes in the warehouse,” says Michael Wiese.  
 
Measurements are taken at a standard distance of  
ten metres. this is to ensure that other devices will  
not be interfered with. this first test lasts for two 
hours; a second test verifies what is known as the 
radiated immunity of the vehicle. this means that the 
picker can work without functional impairment in 

the ESD test is run by Jörg Plambeck and Michael Wiese.the EMc measurements are evaluated on a computer next to the lab.

AccREDitED tEStS in  
AccoRDAncE WitH MoRE tHAn 
80 EMc StAnDARDS

–––
• RADiAtED EMiSSionS 

• conDuctED EMiSSionS   
 such as, for instance, interference voltage and
 parasitic current measurements up to 500 
 mhz, harmonics measurements and flicker 

• iMMunity to RADiAtion fiELDS 

• iMMunity to conDuctED 
 intERfEREncES (Rf, buRSt SuRGE)

• ELEctRoStAtic DiScHARGE (ESD)

• ADDitionAL tEStS 
 of grid quality as well as grid interference  
 and analysis of harmonics. Complete testing  
 service in conjunction with the experts  
 from tÜv nord

• DEvELopMEnt SuppoRt  
 with helpful interference analyses  
 and tests at the premises of the customer
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interference immunity is tested.  the order picker must be able to work without being interfered from electromagnetic fields.

conditions of exposure to electromagnetic interference 
from the outside. In order to ensure that the picker is 
immune to interference, it is exposed to electromagne-
tic radiation from the sides. An electromagnetic 
discharge (esD) test is then performed. Jungheinrich 
has decades of experience with this type of vehicle, but 
any technical change, no matter how small, can affect 
immunity. this is unpredictable, even for specialists. 
“sometimes all it takes for interference to arise is a 
change in the routing of a cable,” Mr Wiese says.

LAtESt tEcHnoLoGiES 
the testing laboratory in hamburg-harburg has been 
part of tÜV noRD since 1997 and was incorporated 
into tÜV noRD ceRt in early 2010. It has been 
accredited by the German Accreditation Body and 
recognised as a testing laboratory by the Federal 
Motor Vehicle transport Authority. 

the laboratory is constantly adapting its range of 
services to the state of the art according to technical 
progress in the area of eMc. “In our laboratory we  
are always testing state-of-the-art products,” says  
Dr thomas Weber. this offers fascinating insights into 
the current development of booming industries with 
new, innovative products that need to be tested for 
their electromagnetic compatibility. this currently 
applies especially to new products in the fields of 
smart homes (such as smoke detectors) and Green 
energy (frequency converters). 

Manufacturers of marine equipment and medical 
equipment also get their products tested by the 
hamburg-based laboratory. It is particularly important 
for hospitals that their equipment should function 
faultlessly and without mutual interference. According-
ly, electro magnetic compatibility is mandatory for 
most medical devices and must be tested by accredit-
ed laboratories such as that of tÜV noRD.

Proximity to the port of hamburg and the companies 
based there offers good testing conditions for marine 
equipment products such as, for example, LeD lighting. 
several thousand luminaires are installed on container 
and cruise ships. “But our customers are by no means 
restricted to hamburg alone. Manufacturers from 
Denmark and sweden also get us to perform eMc 
tests for them,” says Dr Weber.

not ALL DEvicES pASS
As well as carrying out conformity testing, Dr Weber’s 
team works closely with customers during the product 
development phase. Interference analyses provide 
valuable clues to help solve electromagnetic problems. 
the Jungheinrich vertical order picker passes all the 
test stages on the day of the test. “But not every 
device sails through like this,” says Dr thomas Weber. 
It might be that there is a problem on just one single 
frequency. the team then joins forces with the 
manufacturer’s design engineers to conduct a joint 
failure analysis.
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order to improve the quality of the products and to  
test new technologies. this is of international impor-
tance: 90 percent of global trade relies on merchant 
shipping. Ports are becoming ever more significant  
in logistics chain.

EXtEnSivE inSpEctionS
“As an independent testing company tÜV noRD is to 
monitor the production of steel components – from 
design to delivery,” says Karl-heinz Marrek, head of the 
competence centre for materials and welding technolo-
gy at tÜV noRD. this particularly concerns gantry 
cranes but also applies to other steel structures, such 
as, for example, cranes and towers for wind turbines. 
“steel structures of this type must satisfy the very 
highest quality materials and welding requirements if 
operational safety is to be assured,” says Marrek. ZPMc 
is no stranger to tÜV noRD. Inspections are already 
carried out on behalf of logistics operations in the ports 

steely Cooperation  
in the middle kingdom 
the chinese steel construction company ZPMc equips ports all over the world with 
gantry cranes. ZPMc is to join forces with tÜV noRD in order to improve the quality 
of steel structures and to test new technologies.

the defining feature of the city of hamburg has to  
be its port. Anyone looking out from the city centre 
toward the river elbe will have their gaze drawn to a 
sea of gantry cranes. Day and night, the gigantic cranes 
at the port load container vessels with tonnes of goods 
to send them out into the big wide world. And yet, the 
gantry cranes themselves have a long journey from the 
Far east behind them: their manufacturer, shanghai 
Zhenhua heavy Industry (ZPMc), is one of the largest 
steel construction companies based in china.

GLobALLy iMpoRtAnt coopERAtion
ZPMc is the world’s largest manufacturer of container 
gantry cranes and other heavy steel constructions.  
It supplies ports around the world and boasts a global 
market share of 75 percent. Which makes it all the 
more important that all the steel constructions should 
meet the quality requirements. this is why ZPMc and 
tÜV noRD have agreed on a strategic partnership in 

tÜv noRD inspectors work closely together with ZPMc staff.

RESEARcHinG toGEtHER 
–––
tÜv nord has also established a foothold in the 
middle kingdom when it comes to research: the 
testing company and shanghai maritime uni- 
versity (smu) inaugurated a laboratory for crane 
and offshore technology in shanghai. the labora- 
tory is becoming a central focal point for maritime 
research in the field of heavy goods - such as,  
for example, gantry cranes. tÜv nord Board 
member dr dirk stenkamp is a visiting professor.

sAFeGUARDInG
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of hamburg and Bremen. the partnership means that 
tÜV noRD is now being commissioned directly by 
ZPMc, thereby fostering a more extensive collaborative 
relationship. the work takes place mainly in shanghai 
and nantong, some 120 kilometres to the north. tÜV 
noRD monitors the principal stages in the chain of 
production of steel structures: from technical planning 
and design all the way through to commissioning. tÜV 
noRD is called on to examine the production documen-
tation as early as the design phase. once construction 
starts, the welding and tool technology come under 
scrutiny. Do the proposed materials satisfy the 
requirements? Are the welds free of defects? Is the 
assembly of the individual components being carried 
out properly?

tRAininG QuALifiED pERSonnEL
to improve internal workflows, ZPMc has also commis- 
sioned tÜV noRD with the qualification and certifica-
tion of procedures and staff. tÜV noRD will provide 
further training for welders and specialists whose task 
it will be to test the quality of the welded joints.

“We want to help ZPMc become the number one when 
it comes to quality as well as everything else,” says 
Rhett Wang, chief operating officer of tÜV noRD in 
china. the cooperation could set new standards in the 
chinese market. “We hope to improve the image of 
products made in china.” According to Marrek, the 
project is important to tÜV noRD because it will 
further improve the position of the company in steel 
construction, materials technology and the qualification 
of staff. “It will play a significant part in improving our 
position in china.”

tÜv noRD inspectors check the quality of container gantry cranes constructed by ZPMc.

steely Cooperation  
in the middle kingdom 

iMpRovinG coMpEtitivEnESS

What does ZMpc expect from the partnership?
Huang Qingfeng: At the moment the cooperation is focusing on inspec-
tions and certification to be carried out by tÜV noRD. We hope in future 
to get support in other areas, such as corporate management or human 
resources development. this is important for our international compe- 
titiveness.

the inspections include, in particular, steel structures related to  
transportation and logistics. but ZpMc also builds components for wind 
turbines, for instance.
Mr Huang: Wind energy is a very promising market in china. ZPMc  
is already involved in domestic wind power projects. We hope that  
tÜV noRD will give us professional technical support and help us move 
into a key position in this important market.  

What does the cooperation mean for chinese products and the steel 
industry in the country?
Mr Huang: the application of international quality standards to chinese 
products will undoubtedly improve their competitiveness on the international 
market. such a partnership will also help revitalise the industry in china.

HuAnG QinGfEnG

Vice President of 
shanghai Zhenhua heavy 
Industry (ZPMc)> intervieW

sAFeGUARDInG
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suCCessful WorldWide
Cooperation
cualicontrol and Guangzhou tÜV Industrial technical services have successfully 
cooperated in monitoring the construction of a production plant in the chinese 
industrial city of Panjin. 

the business world is a global one. companies from 
different countries frequently compete for large orders. 
crucial to success in bidding for major projects are not 
just the expertise and experience of the employees  
but also knowledge of the realities on the ground and 
the specific characteristics of the country and its 
people. It is for this reason that tÜV noRD sets such 
great store by subsidiaries and partnerships in 
numerous countries.
 
REfEREncE pRoJEct in cARtAGEnA
cualicontrol in spain is one of the subsidiaries of  
tÜV noRD. the company has longstanding experience 
with Repsol that includes the monitoring of the 
construction of the refinery at cartagena between 
2008 and 2011, its largest order, and a recent contract 
for in-service inspection in that facility amounting to  
€4 million. With these and other similar projects, 
cualicontrol has been promoted to the first division of 
technical service providers in spain. “there’s no doubt 

pRoMotinG SAfE tEcHnoLoGy 
ARounD tHE WoRLD
–––
cuALicontRoL-Aci, S.A.u.
Cualicontrol-aCi, s.a.u. was founded in 1972. 
the tÜv nord company based in madrid has 
12 sites with over 250 specialists and is one of 
the leading organisations for technical audits 
and certifications in spain. the company’s 
portfolio also includes the mandatory inspection 
of technical installations and machines, the 
certification of products and systems, the 
surveillance and inspection of construction and 
operation of industrial plants, power plants and 
public facilities.  
the biggest job to date was the supervision 
and quality control during the construction  
of repsol’s refinery in Cartagena (spain).

butADiEnE RubbER foR cHinA
–––
LiAoninG noRtH DynASoL RubbER co.
the company is a 50-50 joint venture. one of 
the partners is the spanish-mexican company 
dynasol (50 percent owned by repsol), a 
manufacturer of synthetic rubber, which 
operates in over 70 countries. its popular brand 
names include Calprene and solprene. the 
other is shanxi northern Xing’an Chemical 
industry Co., ltd. in panjin. the construction  
of the large industrial plant took more than  
a year from the end of 2013.

pRoDuction voLuME of SyntHtic RubbER
the global production rises (data in 1.000 tons since 2000 )

source: international rubber study group, statista 2015
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that the refinery job in cartagena was a crucial factor 
in our being awarded the order to supervise the joint 
venture between the Repsol subsidiary Dynasol and 
chinese industrial company Xing’an,” says Francisco 
Martínez Dopico, General Manager of cualicontrol.

pARtnER inStEAD of SERvicE pRoviDER
“our many previous projects have taught us how 
important it is to collaborate with the owner of an 
industrial plant. What happens over time is that you 
become more of a partner than a service provider,” 
says Mr Dopico. thus the company finally managed to 
get the commission for the Liaoning north Dynasol 
project (LnD). “one crucially important consideration 
for such large-scale projects is the development of a 
basis of mutual trust with the client. We need to 
ensure that the project manager is in the position to 
deliver the best possible quality within the given 
schedule and to maintain an overview of the budget.” 
one crucial point, Mr Dopico continues, was that the 
collaborating tÜV noRD companies, cualicontrol and 
Guangzhou tÜV Industrial technical services, have 
access to the cultures – spanish and chinese – of both 
joint venture partners.

At a time when the construction of the plant was 
already under way Dynasol commissioned cualicontrol 
with the task of conducting a feasibility study to assess 
the state of the work at the time. over a period of  
four weeks a team of four specialists from cualicontrol 
audited the quality of the previously completed con- 
struction work at the facility such as performance of 

the Repsol refinery in the spanish city of cartagena as reference project helps cualicontrol win 
contracts all over the world.

the construction of the rubber production plant in Panjin was monitor-
ed by cualicontrol and Guangzhou tÜV Industrial technical services.

the order is sealed by Dr Guido Rettig, chairman of the Board of 
tÜV noRD AG (r.), and Pedro conesa of Dynasol.

»notwithstanding the different  
working and communication cultures 
of spanish and Chinese staff,  
the collaboration was first-rate.«
francisco martínez dopico, Cualicontrol

civil works, metal structures, pipes as well as static 
and dynamic equipment. the final report of the 
specialists pointed out that permanent monitoring and 
support for quality assurance would be useful. 
consequently Dynasol contracted cualicontrol to carry 
out quality control services using a team consisting of 
engineers from different disciplines, such as building 
construction, mechanical engineering and automation. 
their brief included the monitoring of pipeline systems, 
equipment and the construction of the buildings, the 
inspections of electrical and automation installations 
as well as the project cost control. the tÜV noRD 
team also carried out the function of health and safety 
coordinator.

“We benefited from the experience that we had gained 
in the supervision of the Repsol refinery,” Mr Dopico 
stresses. “the work processes in this kind of project 
are similar, even if they are carried out for companies 
from different industries.” Another cause for satisfac-
tion is to be found in the successful collaboration 
between the teams. “notwithstanding the different 
working and communication cultures of spanish and 
chinese staff, the collaboration was first-rate.”
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however it manifests – in new forms of presentation of the news, the 
mobile use of a variety of information services, the promotion of profes-
sional advancement through training programmes or the detection of 
new deposits of natural resources – the development and improvement 
of the status quo is a basic drive in modern societies. the tÜV noRD 
GRoUP is committed to this course in various ways. examples of this 
are the inspection of camera robots in a television studio, solutions to 
improve the security of apps and the development of a concept of an 
academy for executives from medium-sized companies.

IMPRoVInG
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neWs from
the maChine room
Before the German evening news programme, the tagesschau, was able to go live  
with its new look a year ago, specialists had been working to develop a safety concept 
that was unique. the system was tested and passed by tÜV noRD.

It’s eight o’clock in the evening in a typical German 
living room: the tV is on, and the family is waiting 
for the usual opening credits of the tagesschau. And 
yet, on April 19 2014, everything looks different – as 
it has ever since. In place of the title captions and the 
old default view that used to show the upper body of 
the newsreader sitting behind a desk, on the stroke 
of 8 pm ARD viewers now find themselves looking at 
the entire studio from a bird’s-eye perspective, with 
the tiny figure of the newsreader behind one of two 
tables. In a spectacular panning motion the camera 
moves closer and focuses on the presenter until he or 
she fills the screen next to a section of the media 
wall. this is made possible by three motorised robot 
cameras hanging from the ceiling. “these robot 
cameras that can film while they’re in motion are the 
only ones of their kind in the world,” says stefan 
Rickmann, the man responsible for the planning and 
implementation of studio projects at the nDR tV 
channel.

SpEctAcuLAR tRAvELLinG SHotS
During its history, which stretches back over 60 
years, Germany’s oldest newscast has undergone 
several makeovers. since easter saturday last year, 
however, the tagesschau has, like its sister shows 
tagesthemen and nachtmagazin, been broadcast 
from a completely redesigned ARD studio in ham-
burg: At the beginning of the travelling shot in the 
opening credits, two three-arm newsreader desks  
can be seen, along with the 18-metre-wide media  
wall and the presenters’ podium which, with its 

tHE nEW MEDiA WALL 
–––
thanks to the rebuilding work, ard can now 
broadcast all its newscasts from a single studio, 
with up to 20 broadcasts a day. 

alongside the robot cameras, the 18-metre-wide 
media wall forms the centrepiece of the new 
320-square-metre ard studio. seven projectors 
beam out 3-d graphics, panoramic images, 
photos and videos from behind the semicircular 
wall. the newsreader stands in front of this wall 
and can also see the images and graphics.

the special feature is this: unique graphic 
software makes it possible to display the 
images on the concave wall in such a way that 
they are reproduced without distortion and in 
real time from every camera angle when moving 
cameras are being used.

illuminated edge, which is reminiscent of ship’s  
planking. the general effect is one of clarity and 
spaciousness. the hundred spotlights on the ceiling, 
the floor cameras and, of course, the three robot 
cameras hanging on the ceiling remain invisible.  
“We had to build a sturdy steel construction on the 
studio ceiling so that the robots could be 
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the presenters’ podium is reminiscent of ship’s planking and plays an important role: It separates the space in which the floor cameras move around from the field of movement 
of the presenters. even though they have more freedom of movement in the new studio, they may move around only in the area secured by the scanners.
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nDR staff members petra cohrs and Stefan Rickmann examine a robot camera.

mounted on the triangular track arrangement,” 
explains Mr Rickmann. And, what’s more, the nDR 
occupational safety team and tÜV noRD have long 
been working on refinements to a safety concept. the 
safety system developed by the manufacturer of the 
robot cameras, camerobot systems, was tested and 
approved by tÜV noRD, and nDR gets it inspected 
by an expert every four years.

the robots are used primarily in the automotive 
industry, and camerobot has adapted them to the 
requirements of a television studio. “In industrial 
production it’s all about precision and speed,” says 
Peter Pühringer, project manager at camerobot. 
“Whether the gripper arms shake when the camera is 
in motion is completely irrelevant. the main thing is 
that it hits the target.” the movements of these 
robots, from which 20 kg cameras are suspended, 
must in contrast be smooth, and starts and stops 
must not be allowed to cause the cameras to wobble, 
which would lead viewers to see a wavering image. 
the noise caused by the mobile robots, the second 
problem, is absorbed by special casings.

REviEW in LinE  
WitH nuMERouS StAnDARDS
the biggest challenge was to prevent collisions 
between people and machines – and between the 
machines themselves. “What we have in the ARD 
studio is to all intents and purposes a walk-in 

machine room,” says Bernd nowoczyn, an expert 
from tÜV noRD, who carried out the tests and 
passed the safety management system. “there isn’t 
yet any specific standard or directive to guide us. 
We finally opted for two regulations as the basis for 
the concept: professional association regulation BGV 
c1, which governs the safety requirements for event 
and production facilities for scenic representation, 
and DIn 56950 for mechanical equipment on stages 
and in studios,” the expert explains. In addition to 
many other standards and regulations, the risk 
assessment of the manufacturer was included in the 
safety assessment of the system. the specialist was 
assisted in the testing of the electrical systems by his 
colleague carsten ohlandt. 

With the exception of the presenters and studio 
guests, no-one may enter the studio. Before, during 

Scanner and camera data come together in the equipment cabinet.

“it’s good to know that i can 
quickly and automatically stop 
a camera from bearing down 
on me in the event of emergency.”
petra Cohrs, ndr occupational safety
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the team in the control room is in direct visual contact with the studio.

or after a broadcast, whenever the cameras may 
require reconfiguration, all the other people involved 
are to be found in the control room. the presenters 
too are severely restricted in their freedom of 
movement: During a broadcast they have to walk 
along set paths to ensure that they are properly 
captured by the travelling shots. tiny signs on the 
floor mark orientation points. they may not leave the 
podium at any time.

SAfEty At EvERy StEp
the special feature of the safety system – six floor 
scanners and one ceiling scanner – is invisible to the 
viewer. the scanners, located a few centimetres 
above the floor, continuously scan the podium and 
determine the position of the people in the studio. 
they are connected to the robot cameras and 
calculate when the movement of a robot arm needs 
to be interrupted to prevent it from getting too close 
to the presenter. “Behind the desk there always used 
to be mobile pedestals or bags. this is no longer 
possible with the new safety concept, as the scanner 
would interpret this as a breach of the safety area 
and stop the whole system,” Mr Rickmann explains. 
the benefit is this: “the presenters’ tables now have 
drawers and compartments, and the studio looks a lot 
less cluttered.” 

two floors scanners and a further unit attached to 
the ceiling scan the limits of the presenters’ podium. 

Anyone approaching the virtual curtain set up by the 
floor scanners first causes a warning lamp to light up 
on the teleprompter, telling the person concerned to 
move away from the edge of the podium. If the 
individual concerned comes to within two metres of 
the invisible barrier, the second safety level is 
triggered: the camera stops moving. “two metres 
represents an interval that you can’t span even with 
outstretched arms,” explains Petra cohrs, head of 
occupational safety at nDR. “As the robotic arms are 
configured to move smoothly, the attentive viewer 
may possibly notice an abrupt stop,” Mr Rickmann 
says. thus far there has never been an emergency 
stop during a broadcast.

bELt AnD bRAcES
In addition, in the control room there is also a red 
button that will stop the robot cameras in their 
tracks. As psychology plays an important role, there 
is also an emergency stop button on the back of the 
presenter’s table. “the buttons have only ever been 
pressed for test purposes,” says Petra cohrs. “But it’s 
good to know that, if I have to, I can stop the camera 
from automatically bearing down on me.” If all else 
should fail, the presenters can take refuge between 
the two tables: the only place in the studio where 
none of the robotic arms can reach them. But it won’t 
come to this - after all, Bernd nowoczyn also wants 
to be able to find out every day at 8 pm what’s been 
happening in the world.

the ceiling scanner, as an important element of the safety systems, is 
intended to prevent collisions between the cameras and the presenters.

the red button also gives the presenters a feeling of safety.
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even intelligence agencies such as the nsA in the 
United states and GchQ in the UK track communica-
tions via smartphones and tablets – meaning that the 
need for secure mobile communication is more urgent 
than ever.

unDER tHE MicRoScopE
All this explains why tÜVit, a trust provider for It 
security and It quality, is collaborating with mediatest 
digital, a company specialising in the security testing of 
mobile applications. the partners in the collaborative 
venture jointly developed and founded the Internet 
platform Application security center as a launchpad for 
the protection of enterprise mobility: “the dynamic and 
mobile world of work is making it increasingly difficult 
for businesses to guarantee It security at all times,” 
says General Manager of tÜVit Antonius sommer. 
“We’re very happy to be able to combine our strengths 
with those of mediatest digital to come up with new 
solutions to boost this security.”

With the Application security center the specialists  
in information security and privacy are offering small 
and medium-sized companies and company groups a 
complete platform for the security of mobile devices. 
this will in turn help app developers get their applica-
tions tested for compliance with security and data 
protection law. success in the tests results in the award 
of the “tRUsteD APP” seal of approval, offering manu- 
facturers a decisive market advantage for their apps. 

coMpREHEnSivE tEStS 
All the features of an app are tested in one single 
procedure. the real instances of data access found in 

apps on the test stand
Many applications, or apps, on mobile devices collect data without asking and unnoticed 
by the user and pass them on without authorisation to third parties. the Application  
security center is an all-in-one solution for a secure enterprise mobility management.

news, stock quotes or the weather - apps bring content 
to the user without regard to time or location. And yet, 
what few people know is that many of these mini- 
programs transmit unencrypted data, set up their own 
access to the device’s microphone and camera or create 
movement profiles.

DAtA octopuS
this is a nightmare for users, privacy advocates and 
security managers in businesses but is far from being 
an isolated case. In fact, the business models of many 
app vendors are based on this obsessive data collec-
tion. they store user data and sell it on to advertisers. 

hackers also look for sensitive information such as 
access to corporate e-mail accounts or credit card data. 

the tRuStED App seal of approval guarantees the security of 
users of mobile devices in a time dominated by data scandals.

IMPRoVInG
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the test are compared with those stated in the 
self-disclosure data submitted by the manufacturer.  
All the transmitted data are checked: Is the recipient 
the right one? Are the data collected relevant to the 
functionality of the app? Was the communication 
encrypted?

AppviSoRy HELpS to cHooSE AppS
At the very heart of the Application security center  
is the Appvisory. this lists all the apps tested and 
reviewed by mediatest digital and tÜVit. the App- 
visory thus helps companies to choose their apps. “In 
times of growing uncertainty in the wake of events like 
the sale of WhatsApp to Facebook or the revelations of 
edward snowden, the Appvisory helps distinguish 
secure from non-secure apps,” says tobias Berlin, 
General Manager of media test digital. tested apps 
increase data security on mobile devices, generate 
transparency concerning the security risks for 
businesses and thereby offer a solution to one of  
the biggest challenges facing corporate It systems.

SiMSme fiRSt App WitH  
tRuStED App QuALity SEAL 
the sIMsme app of Deutsche Post was the first app- 
lication to be awarded the mediatest digital and tÜVit 
tRUsteD APP quality seal. the messaging service 
satisfied the test criteria and is in compliance with the 
requirements for data protection and data security 
requirements laid down in the German Data Protection 
Act. In addition to app testing the Application security 
center also offers a service to run security tests on 
mobile web applications and complex mobile solutions. 
It can also carry out tests of mobile infrastructure.

in the Essen lab, tÜVit specialists test apps for vulnerabilities.

apps on the test stand

AntoniuS SoMMER on tEStED App SEcuRity

Why does it make sense to test apps for security? 
Antonius Sommer: Users are much less aware of security issues when  
using smartphones and tablets than when they’re working with desktop 
computers. And yet, the risk to sensitive data is almost as great with mobile 
devices. Which means that it’s extremely important to get apps tested.

How do you assess the current situation in the app stores? Are secure apps 
the exception or the rule?
Mr Sommer: sadly, secure apps are still the exception. Many of the apps  
that we use every day collect data without asking us and sell it on to third 
parties. the Application security center is shedding light on which applica-
tions can be trusted.
  
According to what criteria are the apps tested?
Mr Sommer: A comprehensive testing procedure puts the apps very 
thoroughly through their paces. to start with, the data traffic in the app is 
scanned and analysed. then, the access permissions are read and reviewed. 
the test results are then compared with the self-disclosure data from the 
manufacturer. on request we can also check the source code for security 
vulnerabilities. We finish up by carrying out a general terms and conditions/
privacy policy check. Apps which successfully pass the tests are awarded 
the “tRUsteD APP” seal of approval.

AntoniuS SoMMER

General Manager  
of tÜVit> intervieW

IMPRoVInG
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advanCed training
for managers
With the launch of Decatus in June 2014 tÜV noRD created an academy aimed specific-
ally at managers from small and medium-sized companies. All the seminars are focused 
on day-to-day business and tailored to the individual wishes and needs of the participants.

an academy aimed specifically at small and medium-
sized enterprises. “Managers in sMes have enough on 
their plate with the day-to-day business alone. however, 
if they opt for training it must be precisely tailored to 
them and their company,” says Jonas Linke, head of 
Decatus Academy. Which is exactly where Decatus 
comes in. “small and medium-sized businesses need 
different seminar content from major corporations. our 
concept includes asking the participants in advance 
about their personal preferences and desired learning 
objectives. Based on this information our trainers then 
set the agenda for the event,” explains Jonas Linke. this 
means that no one-size-fits-all content is foisted on the 
participants. “We present the content and subject matter 
in such a way as to ensure that every single participant 
can derive the maximum possible individual benefit,  
both for themselves and for the company,” Mr Linke 
stresses.

In our globalised world it is a universally acknowl-
edged fact that lifelong learning is an investment for 
the future. that personal development is fast becom-
ing the decisive criterion for professional success is 
particularly evident in the case of company managers. 
their task of overseeing all the processes in the 
company and providing vital impetus requires much 
more than mere specialist knowledge. Also needed  
are social skills, strategic understanding and personnel 
management techniques. But the pressure they are 
under in their day-to-day work means that decision-
makers, especially in sMes, often have little time to 
acquire and reinforce these skills. 

no off-tHE-SHELf pRoDuctS
tÜV noRD, a provider of advanced training pro- 
grammes for the last 25 years, has recognised this need 
and responded to it in June 2014 by launching Decatus, 

Renowned speakers and partners make Decatus one of the 
primary points of contact for sMes.

DEcAtuS – tHE AcADEMy
foR SMALL AnD MEDiuM-SiZED 
coMpAniES
–––
the name of the new academy is derived from 
the latin words “decanus” (dean, supervisor) 
and “catus” (clever, wise, knowing). the services 
on offer include seminars and conferences on 
corporate governance and strategy, marketing 
and sales, human resources development, 
leadership and social skills. further information 
is available at www.decatus.de.
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first-rate event venues and a wide diversity of fringe programmes alongside the practical seminars are further evidence of the high quality stand of Decatus.

tRAininG in A vARiEty of iSSuES 
the range of training programmes is diverse. It 
includes aspects of corporate management and control 
as well as topics related to personnel marketing,  
sales, intercultural skills, sMe financing, rhetoric and 
self-organisation. In addition, Decatus offers separate 
training programmes, for example for key account 
managers. Alongside open seminars and those tailored 
to specific companies, managers can also take 
advantage of the personal support of a professional 
coach. 

In all cases, Decatus works exclusively with renowned 
speakers and collaborates with the Bundesverband 
mittelständische Wirtschaft, a university of applied 
sciences devoted to the small and medium-sized 
enterprise sector. the seminars take place at different 
venues in northern and western Germany, mainly in 
hamburg and Bielefeld.

A great deal of importance is also attached to the 
networking principle. “the direct exchange of experi-
ence generates interesting new perspectives and 
brings people together in a way that enriches all sides. 

As a special feature we provide tools to promote this 
exchange outside the seminar context,” Mr Linke says. 
In the course of a series of “business breakfasts”, for 
instance, managers took advantage of an opportunity 
in mid-september in hamburg to share their experi-
ence with social media expert and author Professor 
Manfred Leisenberg, author of “WeB 2.0 in Unterneh-
men” (“WeB 2.0 in businesses”), and to make new 
contacts.

focuS on pEopLE

Where do you want to position yourselves in the training market?  
Jonas Linke: We specialise in meeting the high expectations of the top 
management of small and medium-sized companies. It’s important for  
us to ensure a consistently high quality since the level in the training market 
varies considerably. And our membership of the tÜV noRD GRoUP also 
means that we ourselves have to embody these high standards.

How does Decatus set itself apart from the competition?
Mr Linke: one special feature is our qualification programmes in the form of 
comprehensive five-day training events. these are different from classical 
seminars in that we don’t deal with one single area but instead combine 
different topics as a way of offering a newly appointed head of sales or key 
account manager all the skills they need to do their job. they often find 
themselves confronted with completely new tasks and are grateful for a 
toolkit which they can use to refresh the methodological, technical and social 
skills they need in their work.
  
How important are individual training solutions today?
Mr Linke: every manager offers different personal and social skills.  
And every position requires a different expression of these skills. Which  
is why we look at every customer as an individual. In other words, we  
adapt the contents and didactic approaches to the individual participants.

JonAS LinKE

head of  
Decatus Academy> intervieW
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algerian gold: phosphorus
from the roCky desert
Without phosphate there’s no fertiliser, without fertiliser no food. Algeria is one of  
the few countries with large deposits of phosphate. the engineering and consulting 
company DMt is assisting the Algerian firm soMIPhos with its extraction.

“Phosphorus is life’s bottleneck.” What biochemist and 
author Isaac Asimov was getting at this terse statement 
back in the 1970s is now more immediately apparent 
than ever. the year 2008 witnessed an uprising among 
peasant farmers in India: the price of phosphate 
fertiliser had risen by 800 percent due to growing 
demand and the introduction of tariffs in china, 
meaning that Indian farmers could no longer afford to 
pay for it. two people died in the course of these 
protests. If the planet’s supply of phosphate were to run 
out, this would become tens of millions. this is because, 
without phosphorus, it would be impossible to meet the 
nutritional needs of the growing world population. some 
90 percent of the phosphorus mined today is used in 
the production of fertiliser.

fEASibiLity AnD pRofitAbiLity StuDiES  
ARE ESSEntiAL
the element is found mainly in sedimentary rock, from 
which 80 percent of the phosphorus in use today is 

the drilled rock samples from Bled el hadba shed light on the 
quality and quantity of the phosphate.

tHE inDiviDuAL StEpS
–––
RESouRcE ASSESSMEnt
rock samples are analysed in the laboratory  
to check whether there are sufficient raw 
materials for economical extraction. a geo - 
logical model is constructed on this basis.  
the quality distribution is interpolated using 
geostatic processes. the quantity of the 
resources is estimated and classified in three 
categories.

MininG pLAnninG
the availability of resources is all very  
well – but it must be possible to actually 
extract them. Which is where technology 
comes into play: can the necessary  
equipment be operated on the ground?  
are there particular geological constraints – 
does, for instance, the risk of landslide render 
the use of explosives impossible? 

pREtREAtMEnt
to produce phosphorus in the desired 
concentration the mined rock must be 
processed in plants: that is to say, it must be 
crushed, screened, milled or even cycloned.  
it’s dmt’s job to design and test the facilities 
used in these processes. 

coSt EffEctivEnESS AuDit
in a cash flow analysis dmt calculates the 
ratio of expected revenues to the projected 
expenses for the operation of the mining site.
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extracted. It is mined in opencast mining operations, 
especially in the United states, the Middle east, china, 
Morocco and other African countries such as Algeria. 
the phosphorus deposits found in those places are 
located in difficult desert terrain and the element is 
bound as phosphate. If complex mining operations are 
to be set up in such places, it is essential first of all  
to test the undertaking for feasibility – and, not least, 
for profitability. 

It was for this reason that the Algerian société des 
Mines des Phosphates (soMIPhos) commissioned the 
international engineering and consulting company DMt 
in December 2013 with the task of carrying out a 
feasibility study. Algeria was not unknown territory for 
DMt: “We’ve successfully supported several projects 
there in the past,” says Julia Ridder, mining engineer at 
DMt.

tWo DEpoSitS – onE MAJoR pRoJEct
the project covers two deposits in the north-east of 
Algeria: In Djebel onk sud phosphate has been mined 
for 50 years in two open-cast mines; Bled el hadba  
is a greenfield deposit, and the intention is now also to 
set up a processing plant there. Both mines, which have 
yet to be surveyed, promise a total yield of ten million 
tonnes of phosphate concentrate per annum.  

According to the Us Geological survey of 2011, total 
phosphorus reserves in Algeria amount to 2,200 million 
tonnes. this makes the country the world‘s largest 
supplier of phosphorus after Morocco, china and Iraq, 

the Kef Snoun opencast mine – the intention here is to expand a processing plant.

algerian gold: phosphorus
from the roCky desert

the mining team from DMt and soMIPhos.

DMt geologists examine the Kef snoun deposit.

and extracting the vital element is also invested with 
immense economic significance.

SiX tEAMS on tHE pRoJEct
For the project, DMt formed six professional teams in the 
fields of mining, geology, treatment, infrastructure, 
hydrology, the environment and geotechnical engineering. 
they were commissioned with three tasks. the first  
of these was the now complete geological modelling of the 
deposits, on the basis of which the existing resources 
were then estimated and certified. the tasks also include 
the subsequent detailed planning of the extraction 
process, from the creation of the box cut right through to 
the later ecological reclamation of the site, which DMt 
specialists are currently working on.

In the second step the existing processing plant at Djebel 
onk sud, whose annual output is to be increased from two 
to four million tonnes, was modernised. For Bled el hadba 
an even more productive processing plant is on the 
agenda: the aim is to produce six million tonnes of phos- 
phate concentrate here each year. these tasks are nearing 
completion. For the third part of the project, the “bankable 
feasibility study”, the professionals have to go back to 
their desks. As Julia Ridder relates, this is as complex a 
stage as it is crucial: “If they are to finance the mining 
project, banks and potential investors need accurate 
information in accordance with international standards. 
the value of the project is to be assessed on the basis of a 
cash flow model.” After this last step, soMIPhos can go 
ahead and make concrete plans – and it may soon be 
adding to the global supply of phosphate.
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thInKInG AheADequipping cars with increasingly sophisticated technical details, 
determining and categorising the emission values of commercial 
vehicles, preparing vehicles for space missions, monitoring the  
decommissioning of nuclear power plants – the challenges of  
the future require us to think ahead right now to come up with 
sustainable solutions. the flow of ideas from companies of the  
tÜV noRD GRoUP has a key part to play in this. specialists are 
developing testing methods for vehicle communication via ether-
net, turning their attention to the analysis of the co

2
 emissions  

of trucks and subjecting the many electronic components of the 
spaceship orion to a whole raft of endurance tests.

thInKInG AheAD
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revolution in the  
automoBile
the complexity of vehicle communication is bringing developers up against the techno- 
logical limits of what is possible. the solution: ethernet and IP. tÜV noRD is developing 
testing methods to safeguard the functioning of the necessary control units.

the drivers of yesteryear have only little in common 
with their modern-day counterparts. Where their 
forebears used to be in control of vehicles whose 
technology it was still relatively easy to understand, 
the drivers of today are quite incidentally also the 
operators of complex computer systems and applica-
tions. It’s hard these days to imagine a car without  
a radio. And it’s equally hard to conceive of a radio 
whose functions are limited to news, music and  
traffic services. every modern car radio has a cD 
player, at the very least. car owners often go a few 
steps further and order DVD and MP3 players, plus  
a satnav. 

on-board computers, distance controllers, parking assis-
tants, esP and tyre pressure monitoring systems are 
standard features offered by most car manufacturers.

DAtA EXcHAnGE iS bEcoMinG  
incREASinGLy iMpoRtAnt
And yet, this is merely the dawn of the high-tech 
automotive future. the electronic components installed 
in cars are extremely powerful; their full potential is 
far from having been harnessed. common features  
in addition to the reduction of fuel consumption and 
emissions include, in particular, the enhancement of 
driving dynamics, vehicle customisation and not least, 
increases in road safety by means of driver assistance 
systems.  
 
car manufacturers already offer adjustable chassis and 
incremental driving modes which have an influence on 
several systems in the vehicle. For example, transmis-

sion, steering, suspension, and esP are automatically 
tuned and adjusted to the driver’s choice of eco or 
sports mode. In the future, drivers will be able to 
choose from different configurations and customise 
them for each drive according to personal preferences 
and environmental conditions. 

What limits the driver assistance systems of today  
is that, until now, they have only been able to control 
and manage individual vehicles. But that will soon 
change. the vehicles of the future will share informa-
tion with other road users (car-to-car) and the traffic 
control centres (car-to-X), allowing vehicles following 
behind to react to hazards – for instance, traffic jams 
or the risk of skidding on icy roads – in a timely 
manner. In other words, on the one hand, vehicles will 
set up ad-hoc networks and exchange relevant data on  
the traffic situation; on the other, they will inform  
the Vtc centres.  

nEtWoRKED coMMunicAtion 
“complex electrical and electronic systems with 
multiple distributed functions require the development 
of reliable and efficient communication technologies 
for use in the car,” says heiko ehrich, head of the 
Automotive electronics & car It Department in the 
Institute for Vehicle technology and Mobility (IFM)  
of tÜV noRD. the challenge is this: In today’s 
vehicles, up to 80 control units communicate using  
up to six different networking technologies. Band-
width, signal propagation delay, availability, reliability, 
information security, topology are important factors, 
as are scalability and cost reduction. 
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through the protection of vehicle networks on the laboratory test stand, errors can be detected at early stages of development.
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Expertise and professional laboratory equipment permit efficient testing.

to allow the control units of different application 
domains to interact requires the use of gateways. 
these act as translators between the non-compatible 
protocols. “Due to their complexity and the high 
amount of traffic data they have to manage, gateways 
now constitute a bottleneck in the development of 
modern vehicle networks,” Mr ehrich says.

finDinG nEW SoLutionS  
to SoLvE pRobLEMS
In their efforts to solve these problems, developers  
are increasingly coming up against the performance 
limits of the existing technology. the opening up of 
vehicle networks to the outside world, for instance 
using smartphones, the Internet and car-to-X, is 
throwing up new challenges for continuous communi-
cation, security of access and tamper proofing. the 
IFM specialist goes on to say that increased cost 
pressures and the resulting optimisation of system 
dimensioning to satisfy indi vidual application criteria 
are making it necessary to introduce new technologies, 
system architectures and communication paradigms 
into the automotive network.

the introduction of ethernet and IP into the vehicle 
network is making new approaches to solving these 
problems possible. ethernet is a family of network 
technologies which have until now mainly been  
used in the connection of computer networks; the  
IP address is, as it were, the unique address of a 

component within a computer network. For several 
years the automobile industry has been addressing  
the issue of the use of ethernet and IP technology in 
vehicle networks. “We’re going to use the ethernet 
wherever large amounts of data arise. this includes, 
above all, video and cameras, music and other types of 
infotainment such as browsing the Internet and navi- 
gation. And then, automated driving will also give rise 
to lots of data which will also need the bandwidth of 
the ethernet,” says Dr Kirsten Matheus, ethernet 
project manager at BMW (see interview on page 37). 
Before it is deployed, however, the operational capa- 
bility of this technology must be investigated and 
expanded with respect to specific automotive require-
ments, says Mr ehrich.

And yet, he goes on to say, the optimal solution will  
in any case be the ethernet, since this technology will 
guarantee interoperability between the subnetworks 

Electromagnetic systems in cars are subject to specific technical 
requirements.

the interoperability of individual components is carefully tested.

“the new technologies first have  
to be tested for their operational 
capability in the vehicle.”
heiko ehrich, head of the automotive electronics 
& Car it department in the institute for vehicle 
technology and mobility (ifm).
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tÜv noRD engineers are continuously developing the testing services needed to test the security of communication between vehicle components.

and permit distributed communication between 
heterogeneous subnets. Which is where the expert 
team led by Mr ehrich within the IFM comes into play. 
As a provider of engineering and testing services in 
the field of embedded systems and networking 
technologies, the institute has been working for more 
than ten years for manufacturers and suppliers to the 
automotive industry. In addition, since the launch of 
the oPen Alliance in 2012, the IFM has been a part of 
several working groups and is even chairing one of the 
nine technical committees. the oPen Alliance is an 
association with more than 200 companies and  
about 500 members whose aim is to promote the 
introduction of the ethernet into cars. 

As a logical further development of services in the field 
of vehicle networking, the IFM engineers are working 
on the development of a test lab for the testing and 
analysis of ethernet- and IP-based communication. 
this involves creating test setups, which, depending 
on the object of the investigation, integrate different  
parts of the overall system. 

In addition, the IFM, with its versatile testing environ-
ment, is in the position to evaluate out architecture 
concepts and topology variants at an early stage. 
these include the investigation of various characteris-
tics such as stability, robustness and real-time 
behaviour, alongside access security and tamper 
protection.

EXtEnDinG tHE functionALity of coMpLEX SyStEMS

Which bMW vehicle systems are currently networked via the Ethernet?
Dr Kirsten Matheus: Diagnosis and software updates have been 
implemented in BMW vehicles via an ethernet interface since 2008. 
In 2013 we introduced our BroadR-Reach ethernet pilot system, in 
which the camera data of the surroundview system is transmitted 
over unshielded wires. thanks to the success of the pilot, BMW is going 
to network a large number of other control units with the ethernet 
as of 2015.

Which technical challenges for standardisation and system development 
do you see in relation to the Ethernet?
Dr Matheus: As a general rule, the technology has been introduced in cars, 
which means that it works. several semiconductor manufacturers offer 
corresponding products and, in the oPen Alliance, you have a body which 
can close loopholes should there be any. A major innovation in the coming 
years will be the use of the ethernet for high-speed, safety-relevant control 
data that is needed for automated driving. the challenge here is to extend 
the functionality of the system while keeping its complexity within bounds.

DR KiRStEn MAtHEuS

ethernet project  
manager at BMW> intervieW
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the commission, road transport on the road causes a 
quarter of the greenhouse gas emissions in europe. 
however, before the commission can adopt any 
measures to reduce these emissions, the fuel consump-
tion of heavy commercial vehicles must first be 
monitored and compared. this has not been possible – 
until today. 

the reason is that there are countless versions of 
heavy commercial vehicles. In europe, the heavy 
commercial vehicle category covers the range from  
3.5 to 40-tonne lorries. this includes everything from 
building site tipper trucks and long-distance lorries  
to city buses and holiday coaches – all of which come 
with different equipment, superstructures and trailers. 
Leif-erik schulte explains why expanding the new 
system was so difficult: “What was needed was to 
develop an application that would be at all capable  

targeting CarBon dioXide
Until now it has not been possible to compare the co

2
 emissions from different heavy 

commercial vehicles. thanks to an application that simulates fuel consumption, this is all 
set to change. tÜV noRD’s IFM is involved in its development.

Leif-erik schulte and Dr Jan hammer from the Institute 
for Vehicle technology and Mobility (IFM) of tÜV 
noRD are using a computer to evaluate the measure-
ment data. the data are part of a program that 
simulates the carbon dioxide emissions of heavy 
commercial vehicles. the name of the application is 
Vecto – Vehicle energy consumption calculation tool. 
european truck manufacturers have been working on 
this procedure since 2010 with experts in vehicle 
technology and mobility under the guidance of the 
technical University of Graz. A good half-dozen IFM 
engineers are supporting the programme.

WiDE DivERSity in tHE tRAnSpoRt SEctoR
the european commission commissioned Vecto out  
of a desire to reduce carbon dioxide emissions from  
the transport sector. the aim is to reduce co

2
 levels  

by 60 percent from 1990 levels by 2050. According to 

the carbon dioxide values of heavy commercial vehicles  
can now for the first time be compared with one another.

Engineers from the tÜv noRD team analyse the results  
of a series of tests.
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of mapping this broad range of vehicles and calculating 
realistic co

2
 values for each heavy commercial vehicle.”

the methodology that has been developed relies on driving 
profiles from defined vehicle segments. the co

2
-related 

parameters of these specific vehicle configurations are first 
determined through component testing. these include, for 
example, air and rolling resistance, as well as engine, axle 
and transmission efficiency. other components, such as 
auxiliaries, which are not directly involved in propelling the 
vehicle but which contribute to fuel consumption and 
carbon dioxide emissions are initially not measured but 
instead mapped using standard values. For the actual 
simulation of the co

2
 values, the program then links all the 

important components with different driving cycles – for 
example, for urban traffic or motorway driving.

for the simulation of the co
2
 emissions of heavy commercial vehicles Leif-erik schulte and Dr Jan hammer (l) analyse large amounts of data.

inStitutE of vEHicLE tEcHnoLoGy
AnD MobiLity (ifM) of tÜv noRD
–––
the institute for vehicle technology and mobility 
(ifm) of tÜv nord in essen is among the leading 
institutions of its kind in europe. it advises  
the automotive industry on issues such as 
reducing exhaust gas/Co

2
 emissions to protect the 

environment, functional safety/networked driving 
and electric mobility. the ifm employs 150 
people.

since the start the Institute has been lending its 
support to the development of the new guidelines.  
“We carried out the first measurements and analyses 
back in 2009,” says Mr schulte. Back then we were 
dealing with the basic question of which application to 
use to record and compare the consumption levels of 
heavy commercial vehicles. once the decision had been 
made to opt for a simulation, the engineers from essen 
helped to identify and present the relevant input data. 
In a further step they investigated how best to test  
the influence of the components. In the next phase the 
IFM will work on the shared project to define and 
record further vehicle types. “the work is very diverse. 
Participating in the development of this complex 
programme is a major challenge,” says Dr hammer.

bEnEfitS to tHE EnviRonMEnt  
AnD conSuMERS 
In 2015 the first version of Vecto for some heavy 
commercial vehicles will become available. More vehicle 
types will gradually be added. It is conceivable that the 
first recommendations on how the results could be 
incorporated into eU legislation will be made in 2016. 
In addition, the future determination of c0

2
 values will 

have far-reaching consequences. “since c0
2
 values are 

directly related to fuel consumption, the industry will 
need to optimise all vehicle components for heavy 
goods vehicles with that in mind. this will benefit both 
the environment and fleet operators,” says Mr schulte 
with conviction.
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fluctuations. “And that doesn’t include the tremendous 
acceleration and vibrations associated with the launch,” 
says Ms Diaz. 

MAny yEARS of EXpERiEncE
eva Diaz and her team of four engineers are responsible 
for ensuring that orion will safely complete its missions. 
their job is to select the electronic, electrical and 
electromechanical (eee) components that are required 
for the service module of the spacecraft. their client is 
the european space Agency (esA), which came up with 
the design of the module for nAsA (see box). the 
service module is based on esA’s automatic transfer 
vehicles, abbreviated to AtV. the unmanned space 
freighters have been commuting between the earth and 
the international space station, Iss, since 2008. In 
addition, esA is implementing new technologies.

Atn has been involved in the development of the AtVs 
since 1997. “our work ends long before the launch of a 
spaceship,” explains eva Diaz. “We select the necessary 
components in the design phase and test them for 
suitability.” the experts test 5,000 eee parts each year 
for behaviour and reliability. 

With tÜv testing to mars
In the spaceship orion people are set to venture further into space than ever before. 
ALteR technoLoGy tÜV noRD (Atn) is subjecting the electronic, electrical and  
electromechanical (eee) components of the service module to rigorous endurance tests.

When the spaceship orion was first launched on 
December 5 2014 over a million people were on board. 
During the four-hour test flight they orbited the earth 
twice and ventured 5,800 kilometres away from the 
blue planet. At the end they splashed into the Pacific in 
the capsule in a descent checked by parachutes.

HoStiLE EnviRonMEnt
It should be said at this point that the passengers were 
only virtually on board as orion soared into space: their 
names had been stored at their request on a microchip 
which was taken into orbit by the spacecraft of the Us 
space agency nAsA. this is because the designers will 
need a few more years yet to make orion fit to fly 
humans to asteroids, the moon and even to Mars - fur-
ther into space than anyone has ever been before. 

“space is a very hostile environment,” explains eva Diaz, 
programme manager at Atn in seville. Along with 
cosmic radiation, the sensitive components must endure 
vacuum, extreme temperatures and temperature 

EEE components for the orion service module are subjected to 
extensive tests by Atn.

“We will make sure that, with all its 
cutting-edge technologies that have not 
yet been tested in space travel, orion 
will safely convey people into space and 
back again.”
eva diaz, alter teChnology tÜv nord
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SiMuLAtion in tHE RADiAtion LAboRAtoRy 
eva Diaz and her team test the material, the construc-
tion and the workmanship. “standard components are 
not designed for use in space. We check whether they  
can withstand the real conditions without overloading 
them,” says the programme manager. Atn uses 
destructive testing to examine the construction, 
material and finish ing of the parts. the engineers also 
test the response of the components to the doses of 
radiation to be expected on the missions. Whereas the 
AtVs spend just a brief period of time in space on a low 
trajectory, orion will be exposed to far higher levels of 
radiation on its journeys into the depths of the universe. 
Atn has been conducting radiation tests for more than 
28 years and since 2013 has been performing these 
radiations in seville in the most advanced gamma-ray 
laboratory in the world. “With our RADLAB we can 
reliably simulate the conditions in space,” explains  
Ms Diaz. 

When orion sets off on its first manned mission in  
2021, the esA service module will be on board. the 
capsule will then take people to the Moon for the first 
time since 1972. A manned mission to the red planet  
is scheduled for 2030. eva Diaz and her colleagues will 
admittedly not be on board. And yet, when they are 
sitting watching the launch on their monitors, they will 
know that this great step for mankind would not have 
been possible if they had not carefully selected every 
last little eee component.

Laboratory tests guarantee that the electronic components will withstand the hostile conditions of the mission.

With tÜv testing to mars

oRion’S SERvicE MoDuLE
–––
the service module, with a length of 2.7 metres 
and a diameter of 4.5 metres, is being constructed 
by esa for the nasa spacecraft orion. it is to be 
coupled to the craft directly behind the crew 
module. the solar panels of the service module 
will produce enough power, at up to 11 kilowatts, 
to meet the needs of a typical household. tanks 
and the main propulsion system will also be 
housed in the service module. it will propel the 
spacecraft in space and also help it dodge flying 
man-made debris. in addition, it will supply the 
crew module with water, oxygen, and nitrogen. it 
will also regulate the temperature on board and 
can carry uncompressed cargo plus equipment for 
scientific experiments. 
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a Challenge for  
generations to Come
At the end of 2022 the last nuclear power plant in Germany will be decommissioned. 
the challenge will then shift from safe operation toward safe decommissioning,  
dismantling and disposal – a complex undertaking.

advantage of this approach is that, when it comes  
to decommissioning, you can call on the existing 
experience and expertise of the staff gained from  
the operation of the plant. What’s more, all the 
technical requirements and methods for the immediate 
dismantling of nuclear installations are already on 
hand, as is sufficient experience, so that, in most cases, 
there’s no safety advantage to be gained from safe 
enclosure.”

tÜv noRD GivES tHE AutHoRitiES  
EXpERt SuppoRt
Before the dismantling of a nuclear plant can begin, 
extensive approval procedures must be negotiated. 
the bodies responsible for granting permissions and 
for overall supervision are the authorities from the 
respective federal states, which in turn commission 
expert organisations such as tÜV noRD with the tasks 
of expert appraisal and ongoing monitoring. Dr Drot- 
leff: “As experts in safety technology we audit for 
compliance with the relevant rules and regulations and 
investigate whether the plans of the operator comply 
with the current state of the art of science and 
technology. In their regulatory decisions the authori-
ties rely on our reports and statements.”

99 percent of the material from a nuclear  
power plant is either not contaminated or can be 
recycled after a procedure laid down by the  
authorities with the intention of demonstrating that 
the material is not in breach of maximum permissable 
contamination values. Dr Drotleff: “A great deal of 
testing and monitoring work is required to adequately 
separate the material flows. steps must be taken to 
ensure that no undue mixing takes place and that the 

this requires a lot of specialist knowledge. As an 
expert organisation in safety technology, tÜV noRD 
remains, as it has long been, a partner to the licensing 
and regulatory authorities for the entire lifecycle of  
nuclear plants – and this brief will now extend to the 
point at which the site is restored to a green field after 
successful decommissioning and dismantling. Lubmin, 
once the largest nuclear power plant in the GDR, is the 
biggest nuclear decommissioning project in Germany 
today. the announcement that the plant was to be 
closed came directly after the fall of the Berlin Wall. 
since 1995, employees of tÜV noRD have been 
providing technical support in the decommissioning 
process. Lubmin is an example of the fate awaiting all 
German nuclear power plants in the coming years;  
the agreed phase-out of the use of nuclear energy 
envisages the shut-down of the last power plant by  
no later than 2022.

tWo StRAtEGiES: noW oR LAtER
According to the Atomic energy Act, the choice is 
basically between two approaches of decommissioning 
– immediate dismantling or safe enclosure. With 
immediate dismantling the operator starts to dismantle 
the nuclear plant right away. With safe enclosure the 
nuclear power plant is placed in a nearly maintenance-
free state for a longer period of time, and the final 
dismantling operation is postponed until later. 
“As things stand, operators in Germany generally go 
for direct dismantling,” says Dr heinz-Walter Drotleff, 
head of project decommissioning, dismantling and 
disposal in the nuclear technology division of tÜV 
noRD and a member of the disposal commission which 
advises the Federal Ministry of the environment in all 
aspects of decommissioning and disposal. “the 
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radioactive substances reliably make their way into 
the appropriate radioactive waste pile. Also needed is 
reliable evidence that the contamination levels of 
substances in the predominant mass flow are actually 
below the clearance levels of the Radiation Protection 
ordinance and can be removed from regulatory  
control under the Atomic energy Act.”

In Germany, radioactive waste products are differen-
tiated into two basic categories according to their con- 
centration of radio nuclides and their heat generation 
due to radioactive decay. the final repository for 
non-heat-generating waste is to be the Konrad final 
disposal facility, which is currently being built and, 
according to current plans, will be completed in 2022. 
over 99 percent of the total activity of a nuclear 
power plant is concentrated in the spent fuel or the 
waste generated by reprocessing. For this waste 
stream of heat-generating waste materials, which is 

Decades can elapse from the moment of approval of the decommissioning of a nuclear power plant to the final ecological restoration of the site.

significantly smaller by volume, a nationwide process 
has recently been launched to find a suitable site for a 
final disposal facility. Dr Drotleff: “As this process and 
the subsequent exploration and construction of the 
repository will take several decades, the safe storage 
of spent fuel and high-level radioactive waste is a 
challenge that we will have to face for at least 50 to 
100 years.”

the issues surrounding the dismantling of nuclear 
installations and the disposal of radioactive waste  
are set to provide engineers and technical expert 
organisations in Germany with major and challenging 
fields of work for many years to come. Dr heinz- 
Walter Drotleff: “We at tÜV noRD are streets ahead  
in Germany when it comes to this kind of expertise, 
but this know-how in increasing demand in other 
countries as well. this offers interesting market 
opportunities for tÜV noRD.”
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group management report

 
fundamental principles of the group

Business activity

The TÜV NORD group is a global technical services 
group with core activities in the Industrial Services, 
Mobility, Training, Natural Resources, Aerospace and IT 
business units. We are regional market leaders in these 
segments. We have been supporting our customers for 
over 145 years with our comprehensive and innovative 
services in the fields of consulting, engineering, quali-
fication, testing and certification. In over 70 countries, 
the expertise of some 10,000 TÜV NORD employees is 
the byword for quality, safety and reliability. 

As of December 31 2014, the group with its manage-
ment company TÜV NORD AG embraced a total of 86 
fully consolidated companies, 44 of them domiciled in 
Germany and 42 abroad. The TÜV NORD AG consoli-
dated financial statement includes all major companies 
in Germany and abroad in which TÜV NORD AG either 
directly or indirectly holds the majority of voting 
rights.

The broad-based certification, service and testing  
portfolio of the companies in the Industrial Services 
business unit includes specific individual tests and  
the management of complex security solutions. The 
services of the Mobility business unit include the  
classic statutory vehicle and driver's licence tests as 
well as vehicle assessments and consultation services 
in support of the development work carried out by  
car makers and automotive component suppliers.  
The Training business unit is responsible for all levels 
of professional coaching from advanced commercial 
training to management training. The Natural Resources 
business unit focuses on engineering and consulting 
services for natural resources exploration, mining and 
coking plant engineering, construction and infrastruc-
ture, product testing and building security, as well as 
industrial testing and measurement technology. The 
Aerospace business unit is the home of all activities 
involved in the selection, procurement, modification, 
testing and certification of electronic components for 
the aerospace industry. The services of the IT business 
unit include the testing and certification of all IT prod-
ucts and components, as well as training in selected 
security and quality issues in the fields of IT security 
and IT quality. 

economic report

general economic and sector-specific conditions

In the 2014 fiscal year, global economic growth was 
once again subdued, turning out to be weaker than ex-
pected. Europe as a whole performed relatively weakly 
in the face of the consolidation pressures on public 
budgets, in conjunction with muted consumption. At 
the same time, there was some variation in regional 
trends. While Western Europe as a whole stagnated 
and, in some countries, economic activity declined, 
Germany once again recorded encouraging positive 
growth in gross domestic product, albeit at a level 
below that of previous years. The economies in India, 
China and the Arabian peninsula, which are particular-
ly relevant for us, gained new momentum. 

Overall the TÜV NORD group held its own very well 
in the face of this difficult economic environment. 
Our companies both at home and abroad turned in a 
successful business performance which represented 
an improvement on the preceding year. Particularly im-
pressive in this context was the positive development 
of our Industrial Services business unit. The market 
studies for our industry published in 2014 also show 
continued growth and demand for our services.

Business trends

Classic TÜV services in the Industrial Services business 
unit once again formed the backbone of the positive 
trend in our business in 2014. The Mobility business 
unit responded flexibly to difficult market conditions 
during the year and recorded an improvement in its op-
erative business. The earnings situation of the Training 
and Natural Resources business units also developed 
positively thanks to programmes implemented in these 
areas to improve the results. In a competitive econom-
ic environment the Aerospace and IT business units 
demonstrated stable financial ratios. 

With the acquisition of the company TÜV NORD 
Bautechnik GmbH, Hamburg, on January 1 2014 the 
TÜV NORD group expanded its technological expertise 
in the field of fire protection for nuclear installations. 

Furthermore, the TÜV NORD group acquired shares 
in Asesoría y Control en Protección Radiológica, S.L., 
Barcelona/Spain on January 1 2014 with the specific 
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aims of strengthening its brand presence in Spain and 
complementing its services in the area of radiation pro-
tection and X-ray diagnostics e.g. for medical products. 

In the context of an asset deal, the main assets of 
the WPL Werkstatt-Prüf-Labor-GmbH, Moers, were 
acquired as of January 1 2014. This provided a useful 
supplement to the product portfolio concerning the ac-
tivities of mechanical testing and analysis technology.

The TÜV NORD group as a whole developed positively 
in 2014. The targets set at the beginning of the year 
for the development of the business were achieved or 
even exceeded. As announced in the 2013 annual re-
port and the forecast for 2014, an increase in turnover 
was achieved in tandem with an improvement in prof-
itability. Contrary to the forecast, however, the number 
of employees fell slightly. The increase in earnings is 
based on the positive results of all the business units. 
The development was accompanied during the year 
by a programme designed to safeguard earnings with 
measures to improve the result, along with cost reduc-
tions. The Training business unit performed better than 
the forecast figure and returned a positive result for 
the first time. The innovation work continued unabat-
ed, and new systems and services were developed in 
all business units.

The trends within the group in the fiscal year 2014 in 
comparison with the previous year were as follows: 

s  Turnover increased by 3.1 % from €1,056.4 million 
to €1,089.5 million. The rise in sales of €33.1 mil-
lion was essentially due to the Industrial Service 
and Mobility business units. 

s  Before non-operating items, earnings before inter-
est and taxes (EBIT) rose by 34.6 % to €58.8 mil-
lion. The increase of the result of €15.1 million can 
primarily be attributed to the positive development 
in earnings in the Industrial Services business unit 
as well as cost savings across the group and com-
prehensive profit enhancement programmes. 

s  The return on sales, measured by EBIT, was thus 
5.4 % after 4.1 % in the previous year.

s  Earnings before tax (EBT) increased by €14.7  
million to €49.2 million and includes €10.1 million 
provisions, value adjustments and measures to  
improve the result. 

s  The number of employees, including those from 
first-time recruitment, acquisitions and portfolio 
adjustments, converted to full-time employees, fell 
from 9,843 to 9,764 on average in 2014, resulting 
in a significant growth in productivity.

s  Expenses for innovation and investment in the TÜV 
NORD group amounted to €7.5 million in the 2014 
fiscal year (2013: €14.0 million). The decline is 
due to the completion of investment in the IT data 
centre, which offers new innovative services for our 
customers. 

It can in conclusion confidently be stated that the TÜV 
NORD group is continuing to chart a course of success-
ful development. This will be assured by the diverse 
portfolio of services offered by companies of the TÜV 
Nord group in nearly every major country in the world.

earnings

The group concluded the 2014 fiscal year with rev-
enue of €1,089.5 million as against €1,056.4 million 
in 2013. The development over the past five years is 
illustrated by the following diagram (figures in € mil-
lion):

 

The breakdown of revenue by region is shown below 
(figures in m €):

 

In its domestic business, the TÜV NORD group ended 
the year 2014 with revenue totalling €811.2 million 
(2013: €793.0 million). International business contrib-
uted €278.3 million (2013: €263.4 million) to consol-
idated revenue. Altogether, 25.0 % of revenues was 
generated by the foreign subsidiaries.
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Broken down by business units, revenue in 2014 was 
as shown below:

 

 
 
Owing to the group’s heterogeneous market presence 
and the orientation of its various activities towards dif-
ferent geographical regions, the levels of performance 
achieved by the individual business units varied in the 
year under review. 

The turnover of the Industrial Services business unit 
was €503.7 million (2013: €475.6 million), and the 
domestic industrial business once again proved to 
be a driver of growth. Domestic turnover increased 
by €20.8 million to €350.3 million. Overseas, busi-
ness growth in southern Europe and Asia resulted in 
revenues of €153.3 million, 4.9% higher than in the 
previous year. In the Mobility business unit, sales were 
€304.8 million, representing an increase of 2.1% over 
the previous year's figure of €298.7 million. After a 
good start to the fiscal year, the trend as of May 2014 
was decisively shaped by legislative measures (elimina-
tion of backdating of general vehicle inspections).  
The Training business unit increased its turnover by 
1.1% to €115.9 million (2013: €114.6 million), in spite 
of the ongoing structural difficulties in the publicly 
funded training market, in which strong competition 
and pressure on prices prevail. The Natural Resources 
Business unit recorded sales roughly equivalent to 
those of the previous year of €112.1 million (2013: 
€113.0 million). Business development also continues 
to be adversely affected by declining raw material 
markets. The turnover of the Aerospace business unit 
declined by 6.4%, thus amounting to €40.2 million 
(2013: €43.0 million); this decline was due to project 
delays in South America, China and Korea, which were 
only partially offset by orders in Europe and Japan. The 
sales of the IT business unit were €12.8 million (2013: 
€11.4 million).

Group expenses increased by 1.2 % to €1,080.4 million 
during the year under review. The cost of materials 
declined from €194.0 million in the previous year to 
€180.0 million, a change which can be attributed to 
decreased expenditure on services. 

Personnel expense rose by 3.7% to €663.4 million. The 
principal causes for this were the business expansion 
of TÜV NORD Transfer GmbH and salary increases 
arising out of collective bargaining. The expansion of 
the business activities of TÜV NORD Transfer GmbH is 
associated with an increase in personnel costs because 
the staff taken over for qualification and placement 
have employment contracts with the company. 

Further information on expenses can be found in the 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, under 
No. 3, Consolidated Income Statement disclosures.

Non-operating items amounted to €-10.1 million after 
€-10.3 million in the previous year. Significant factors 
were the provisions for the earnings enhancement pro-
grammes, the provision for risk and value adjustments. 

Almost all of the business units contributed to the  
positive result of the group. For example, the Natural 
Resources and Training business units able to make a 
positive contribution to the consolidated result after 
their failure to do so in 2013. Earnings before tax 
(EBT) amounted to €49.2 million and were thus 42.6 % 
above the previous year’s result of €34.5 million.

At €29.4 million, the profit for the fiscal year was 54.5 % 
higher than the previous year’s figure of €19.0 million. 

assets

The TÜV NORD group balance sheet displays a sound 
structure. 

Total assets increased to €776.6 million during the 
year under review, as against €745.9 million in 2013.

Non-current assets rose from €460.3 million to  
€488.0 million. This was due in particular to the rise 
in deferred tax assets as a result of increased pension 
provisions. The rate of coverage of non-current assets 
(equity plus pension provisions divided by non-current 
assets) amounts to 94.0 % (2013: 84.3 %)

Current assets, which make up 37.2 % of total assets, 
are recognised at €288.6 million (2013: €285.6 mil-
lion). Cash and cash equivalents increased to €61.6 
million (2013: €54.0 million).
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The group also has hidden reserves, mainly in property 
investments. In this respect the Board of Management 
acts on the assumption of hidden reserves amounting 
to approx. €120 million due to the positive market 
environment. 

Shareholders’ equity decreased to €100.8 million, as 
against €120.5 million in the previous year. The equity 
ratio amounts to 13.0 % (2013: 16.2 %). 

In the 2014 fiscal year, €706.2 million (2013: €685.5 
million) of plan assets were netted against pension 
provisions. The proportion of the provisions for current 
and future pension obligations that is not covered  
by plan assets amounted to €358.2 million (2013:  
€267.5 million). The cause for this was the significant 
reduction of the discount rate of pension provisions. 
The provision for obligations arising out of pre-re-
tirement part-time working amounts to €15.4 million 
(2013: €20.3 million).

Reinsurance coverage of pension provisions increased 
by €20.2 million to €738.3 million. Through this alloca-
tion of funds the degree of coverage adjusted for the 
effects of a change in the discount rate was once again 
enhanced as compared with the previous year.

Further information on the assets situation can be 
found in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, under No. 5, “Consolidated Balance Sheet 
disclosures”.

financial situation, cash flow

The TÜV NORD group continued to pursue its conserv-
ative financial policy in 2014. The most important ob-
jectives remain the further maintenance of the group’s 
good rating, the safeguarding of an adequate level of 
liquidity and the centralised financing of the subsidiary 
companies by the group at a level that meets their 
needs. In addition, it is fundamental to the group’s 
financial policy to ensure a wide measure of financial 
flexibility and transparent risk and opportunity man-
agement.

The German Bundesbank has certified our eligibility 
for the eighth time in a row. Thus it is that the group 
belongs to the circle of companies that can be used 
by commercial banks as collateral for existing loans at 
the Deutsche Bundesbank and has a preferred position 
compared to the competition when it comes to access 
to financial resources. This certification is preceded by 
a detailed creditworthiness analysis of the figures on 
the balance sheet. This financial rating assesses the 
business profile of the group‘s key figures for profita-

bility, internal financing strength, liquidity and capital 
structure based on audited financial statements.

The cash flow (see “Consolidated Cash Flow State-
ment”) amounted to €67.0 million and was essentially 
applied to the reinsurance of pension liabilities,  
investments in intangible asset and in property, plant 
and equipment, and equity investments. Capital ex-
penditure excluding corporate acquisitions amounted 
to €31.1 million in the year under review as against  
€36.1 million in 2013. Of this, €27.6 million was  
invested by the German companies, and €3.5 million 
abroad. The focus was on material investments in 
buildings and investment in testing equipment. 2014 
saw the completion of the new data centre in Hanover 
and the commissioning of a district heating plant as 
well as the further expansion of the Hamburg offices.

No material capital expenditure obligations existed  
as of the reporting date. The TÜV NORD group spent  
a total of €3.2 million (2013: €2.6 million) on the  
acquisition of companies and equity holdings during 
the year under review. All projects were assessed by 
value creation criteria; every potential acquisition or 
capital investment project was scrutinised and ana-
lysed both with regard to the return it would bring, 
and also from the point of view of its impact on the 
consolidated balance sheet. 

TÜV NORD group’s net financial position amounted to 
€18.2 million at the end of the year under review, a 
figure which, due to the rise in annual net profit, was 
significantly higher than that of the previous year 
(2013: €0.2 million). In addition, the group took out a 
subordinated registered debenture for €20.0 million at 
the end of 2014.

The group has access to a syndicated loan in the 
amount of €175.0 million. As of December 31 2014,  
€20.0 million of this had been drawn down.

The group was able to meet its payment obligations at 
all times. 

non-financial performance indicators

innovation report

In addition to the targeted acquisition of companies 
and the maintenance of existing employee and cus-
tomer relations the TÜV Nord group also sets great 
store by a culture of innovation to achieve its strategic 
objectives. As a result of new industry trends and the 
associated new technologies (Industry 4.0, big data, 
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smart sensors, augmented reality, wearables, etc.) 
traditional testing and inspection services are subject 
to increasing technological change. For a technical 
services company, the use of new products and inno-
vative technologies to help actively shape this change 
is a critical success factor. The testing and certification 
bodies are a driving force for global innovations and 
development in traditional TÜV fields of activity. Inno-
vation and technological progress promote growth and 
competitiveness in the companies of the TÜV NORD 
group and are thus key strategic factors for sustain-
able business success. At the same time, the growing 
need of companies and customers alike for quality 
and safety is taken into account. The expertise of TÜV 
NORD employees and the company’s global presence 
offer the best conditions for this need to be met. 

It should be stressed that employees take an active 
part in all relevant committees involved nationally 
and internationally in the development of policy. This 
allows innovations and developments to be quickly 
passed on to the customers. In addition, the TÜV 
NORD group works closely with universities and 
collaborates with research institutions as well as re-
search-based companies and organisations.

Innovation objectives determine to a significant extent 
the investment strategy of the group. Investments are 
made in companies that are active in our growth mar-
kets. The focus is on companies which have a stable 
and sustainable business model that will help ensure 
their long-term survival.

The selection of investments follows a thorough, mul-
ti-step due diligence process. Company policy insists 
on no less than a thorough understanding from top to 
bottom of any company to be acquired. Before a final 
decision on investment is made, an analysis is under-
taken of the financial characteristics and competitive 
environment, technological status and relevance to 
end customers of the services offered. A great deal of 
emphasis is placed on intensive contact with the man-
agement of the company to be purchased. The deep 
understanding of the business to be acquired clears 
the way for a target-oriented acquisition process and 
the subsequent successful integration of the new com-
pany into the group. 

In the year 2014 innovation expenditure and invest-
ments amounted to a total of approx. €7.5 million, 
subdivided as follows: 

 
As in the previous year, roughly 300 of the staff were 
either exclusively or to some extent involved with R & D 
work. The innovation and growth issue is high on the 
agenda at all management events. Our engineers get 
the room for manoeuvre that they require to develop 
and pursue new ideas and approaches. Our engineering 
expertise also makes it possible for our customers to 
gain an edge in the global competitive environment 
and to manufacture innovative products in a manner 
that is both economically viable and kind to resources.

For the future progress of innovation the strategy 
process 2020plus, with its focus on economic de-
velopment to the year 2020 and beyond, is of great 
importance. Innovation is one of the main topics ad-
dressed by the future workshops in all business units. 
Megatrends, in particular globalisation, demographic 
change, and Industry 4.0, serve as the springboard for 
ideas in this respect. The business units are identifying 
global trends with which the development of their 
priorities is to be aligned, such as materials and energy 
along with the environment and resources. The proce-
dure is accompanied every step of the way by leading 
strategy consultants. Exchanges between the compa-
nies and the business units are encouraged. With this 
aim in mind, specialists are brought together to engage 
in dialogue and encouraged to form networks. 

In the 2014 fiscal year the individual business units 
focused in particular on the following projects:

industrial services: The “Cyber Inspection” innovation 
project of TÜV NORD Systems in cooperation with the 
Magdeburg-based Fraunhofer IFF has as its aim the 
development of specially programmed and customised 
data glasses (wearables) for lift inspections. The data 
relevant to the audit are automatically transmitted to 
the data glasses, and the entire test procedure can be 
carried out with the data glasses. An ergonomic test-
ing instrument is thus available with which the expert 
can efficiently perform lift inspections. It is anticipated 

€ million 2014
IT-Service data centre 1.8
Exploration processes and exploration 
seismology 1.6

Radiation protection, material tests 1.6
Fire safety – nuclear engineering 1.4

Process development in the  
Institut für Fahrzeugtechnik  
(Institute for Vehicle Technology) 1.1

total 7.5
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that the technology will in future be transferred to 
other services.

TÜV NORD SysTec developed “LOOP” to calculate the 
service life of pipelines. If corrosion is found in a pipe-
line inspection, the operator must rectify the damage 
either immediately or later, depending on its severity. 
So that the damage may be precisely assessed, a  
realistic 3D model of the damaged pipeline section  
is created on the basis of the data of high resolution 
inspection gauges used in each pipeline inspection. 
This is used to calculate the properties of the damage 
site. The use of this new procedure can reveal signifi -
cant reserves in the ultimate bearing capacity in com-
parison to the standard assessment procedure. These 
discoveries result in a significant improvement in the 
planning and the more cost-effective inplementation 
of the replacement of the damaged section of the 
pipeline. 

With the newly developed SIL-approved assessment 
offered by TÜV NORD the functional safety of auto-
mated systems can effectively be improved in the light 
of the fact that, in practice, the commissioning of such 
systems is, in more than one-third of cases, delayed 
due to serious safety deficiencies. Alongside training, 
advice on security planning, hazard and risk analyses, 
the range of services individually tailored to the needs 
of the customers is rounded off by the independent 
preliminary testing of specifications, design documen-
tation and software. 

mobility: The number of safety-related electronic 
vehicle systems, and thereby also their technological 
requirements, is continuously increasing. In 2015, 
after an intensive development and trial period, a new 
technical testing system is to be introduced in the 
form of the general vehicle inspection adapter which 
can be used to read out and test the electronic vehicle 
systems. The new inspection technology will ensure 
that the technical condition of future generations of 
vehicles can be safely recorded and assessed. 

With the portable emissions measurement system 
(PEMS) developed by TÜV NORD a basis has been cre-
ated for the measurement of the emissions behaviour 
of vehicles in normal operation. The experience and 
test results derived here are to be incorporated into 
the new EU directive on determining the emissions 
behaviour of commercial vehicles.

training: The Training business unit is breaking new 
ground with regard to the courses it offers. In the  
context of the research project “EmoTal – user- 
centred electric mobility in Wuppertal”, for instance, 
TÜV NORD Bildung is developing trainings along the 
electric mobility value added chain, where the primary 
focus is on safety and environmental benefits. The 
trainings in question are aimed at new target groups, 
such as insurance companies or manufacturers/distrib-
utors of Pedelecs, for which the safety issue is by no 
means the sole factor.

natural resources: The Exploration & Geosurvey 
business field is making an important contribution 
in numerous projects to the metrological monitoring 
of hazardous areas. For the handling and analysis of 
various measurement data the business field has de-
veloped the DMT SAFEGUARD hardware and software 
solution which centrally collates and securely stores all 
the information gathered from complex geo-monitoring 
networks and makes it available online for shared use. 
An integrated early warning and notification system 
permits fast and informed decision-making in support 
of professional risk management. Current applications 
include, for example, the monitoring of slope stabilities 
in the mining industry and the measurement of noise 
and vibrations during tunnel construction. 

Furthermore, in the form of the Wireline Shaft Sur-
veying System a special measuring system has been 
developed for the high-precision measurement and 
condition documentation of shafts. Equipped with a 
collision control system, the measuring system is spe-
cifically designed for use in disused shafts or shafts 
without their own descent equipment. The Wireline 
Shaft Surveying System is the world's only commer-
cially available measuring system with this particular 
setup. It will be expanded in the future through the 
addition of extra sensors.

it: Information and communication technology is in 
the process of making the leap from its established 
home in the commercial world to new territory in the 
industrial sector. Examples of this trend are industrial 
control systems, Industry 3.0/4.0, smart grids, car2car 
communication, and identity management. The exist-
ing procedures and mechanisms in the commercial IT 
world are being transferred to the industrial sector 
and adapted to the needs of different industries. In-
formation and communications technology is thereby 
fulfilling a function as a support to the processes of 
many industries, including all the business units of the 
TÜV NORD group.
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employees

The group is very well positioned for the future. The 
average number of staff employed by German and 
foreign companies as of December 31 2014, expressed 
as full-time equivalents, amounted to 9,764, as against 
9,843 in the previous year. The following chart depicts 
the development of average employee capacity: 

 

Including the technical experts made available by the 
parent associations, the average number of people 
working full-time for the group amounted to 9,840 
(2013: 9,925). As of the reporting date December 31 
2014 the headcount of employees was 12,532. 

In Germany, 7,442 staff offer consultation, testing, 
certification and qualification services. The number of 
international staff rose in 2013 to 2,398. The largest 
business unit is Industrial Services with 4,951 em-
ployees at home and abroad, followed by the Mobility 
business unit with 2,487 staff. 

The TÜV NORD group is one of the TOP 100 employers 
for young professionals and students. Our group is an 
interesting and attractive employer in particular for 
engineering and natural sciences graduates. In 2014, 
a new award was added to the existing “Top Compa-
ny” quality seal: the “Open Company” quality seal is 
awarded for open and authentic communication as an 
employer in the public domain.

The well-being of its employees is important to the 
group. Through group-wide staff surveys we also 
get regular internal feedback on satisfaction. In May 
2014 the TÜV NORD group conducted its first ever 
global online employee survey, in which about 6,000 
staff from 70 countries took part. The focus was on 
finding out how committed the group’s staff are to the 
company and establishing the degree to which the em-
ployees identify with their employer. The overall figure 
can safely be described as outstanding. There were, 
however, also numerous references to potential for im-
provement with regard, for instance, to the processes 
or the communication within the company. These are 
now being addressed in a follow-up process. The inten-
tion is for a follow-up survey to be carried out in about 
two years. 

As a technological services provider the lifelong train-
ing and development of our employees is important  
us. The group boasts a very wide range of trainings  
for employees, not to mention a strategy-oriented  
and expertise-based system of human resources devel-
opment. In 2014, €7.4 million was spent on internal 
and external training events (2013: €7.1 million ). The 
ultimate aim of managerial development, above and 
beyond enhancing the competitiveness and securing 
the future of the companies involved, is to use “good” 
management to improve the job satisfaction of the 
staff. “Managers who really know how to get things 
done make companies more successful.” In keeping 
with this idea the leadership and management skills of 
the 2nd and 3rd tier managers are being specifically 
and systematically promoted throughout the business 
units. The aim is to offer the best possible support to 
the participants in their leadership and management 
tasks and to continuously expand their skills base. Nu-
merous management seminars and soft skills training 
sessions targeted to specific needs are being offered 
in the context of business-unit-specific manager de-
velopment. For each manager there are both common 
and individual measures which are designed to develop 
key skills such as decision-making, strategic thinking, 
results-oriented action and goal-oriented management. 
Furthermore, the participants are being systematically 
networked with one another in order to secure the ex-
istence of a sustainable and high-performance network 
within the company.
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96 trainees and dual-curriculum students are currently 
preparing to embark on their careers. The spectrum of 
occupations for which we offer training ranges from 
classic office work to technical professions. In this way 
the group is also offering attractive career opportuni-
ties for school-leavers. With the integration of theory 
and practice, the students, who divide their time 
between study and the workplace, are being ideally 
groomed for future positions of responsibility in vari-
ous companies of the group. The particular focus here 
is on the technical/information technology field, for in-
stance, on degrees in engineering or computer science. 
Various models of the training and this dual curriculum 
are being offered at many sites within Germany.

The TÜV NORD group has been sponsoring school 
students since 2014. The group offers scholarship 
students with migrant backgrounds the opportunity 
to discover their individual skills and interests, to ex-
pand existing talents and to test and consolidate them 
within projects. As a condition of the scholarship, the 
young people involved must demonstrate social com-
mitment and good performance at school. 

Nationwide partnerships with academic institutions 
give us the opportunity to take part in job fairs for 
university graduates and people with prior profession-
al experience. In this collaborative context we have 
since 2008 been offering assistance to national and 
international students. At the same time, by offering 
scholarships we live up to our social responsibility: 
We provide assistance to many climbers up the edu-
cational ladder and students in degree courses which 
involve responsibility to society as a whole. Our part-
ners in this endeavour include the Leibniz Universität 
in Hanover, the University of Applied Science and Arts 
Hanover and the Technical University of Dresden. As 
an international group of companies we also award 
an international scholarship for foreign holders of 
bachelor degrees with initial professional experience in 
collaboration with the Northern Institute of Technology 
Management (NIT) at the Technical University of Ham-
burg Harburg.

As a further means of getting young people into the 
world of work, the TÜV NORD group offers a group 
trainee scheme in addition to its programme of appren-
ticeships, dual study courses or work as ( jobbing) stu-
dents. This offers individual tailoring options and the 
opportunity to get to know the group internationally 
and/or across the various disciplines over a period of 
twelve months. 

In order to secure today the services of the next gener-
ation of employees the company offers different career 
path models for executives, project managers, sales 
employees and specialists. Depending on career path, 
the employees are offered intensive support in a range 
of different development programms.

The group considers a good work-life balance to be an 
important factor in ensuring the top performance of its 
employees. Anyone who wants to be successful profes-
sionally needs backing from their family. We do more 
than just pay lip service to the compatibility of work 
and family. TÜV NORD AG and many of its subsidiaries 
have already been certified according to the “berufund-
familie” (“work and family”) audit, and more will follow.

Flexible working hours and the possibility of part-
time work help promote the cause of happy family 
life. If staff members are confronted with particular 
challenges in the care of children or elderly relatives, 
an external service provider is on hand to offer advice. 
For children there are holiday programmes and care 
facilities for nursery-age children. The corporate health 
management service organises various seminars, a 
health week and an eye school as well as providing 
health coaching, medical checkups, and stress tests; 
depending on the location, various sports activities are 
also on offer.

For our companies it is particularly important to cul-
tivate a culture that reinforces a high level of mutual 
loyalty between employees and companies. One way 
of measuring this is length of service life. Throughout 
the group this averages over ten years, a figure which 
is significantly higher than comparable statistics from 
the competition.

The Board of Management would like to thank all em-
ployees and the managements of the subsidiary compa-
nies both in Germany and abroad for their commitment, 
their initiative and the new ideas and knowledge they 
have contributed. We would also like to thank the mem-
bers of the employees’ representative bodies for their 
constructive cooperation in an atmosphere of trust.

overall situation

In view of the macroeconomic situation and not-
withstanding the challenging circumstances, we are 
generally satisfied with the way the year under review 
progressed. We are also continuing to work steadily to 
identify and implement measures aimed at improving 
the earnings, asset and financial position. It is our 
assumption that the earnings, asset and financial posi-
tion will remain stable in the future.
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subsequent events

No events of particular significance which materially 
affect the group’s business performance have occurred 
since the end of the fiscal year.

 
report on expected developments,  
opportunities and risks

report on expected developments

For the 2015 fiscal year we expect global growth of 
about 3%, in line with current forecasts. We expect 
even stronger growth in the plant and industry field, 
as well as in the manufacturing sector. We take a cau-
tious view of developments in the natural resources 
markets.

The monetary environment remains expansionary. 
This should also continue to support growth. However, 
the outlook remains uncertain. The declining natural 
resources markets in particular might be a sign of wan-
ing demand. Current geopolitical tensions may hold 
further hazards in store. 

All in all, the TÜV NORD group expects further chal-
lenges in the 2015 fiscal year. The summary below 
sets out the results planned for 2015:

We expect a slight rise in sales in the 2015 fiscal year. 
Possible effects from the acquisition and sale of com-
panies have not been taken into account. All business 
units will contribute to the planned growth rates.

As far as the core business of the Industrial Services 
business unit is concerned, we expect the favourable 
development to continue thanks to the extensive and 
innovative range of services. The growth strategies 
for the companies in the Netherlands, South Africa 
and China should contribute to an increase in sales. In 
the Mobility business unit the assumption is of prof-
itable growth based on the optimisation and further 
development of existing services in existing and new 
markets at home and abroad. In the Training business 
unit a decline is expected in 2015 due to the planned 
closure of two vocational colleges, although it should 
be noted that TÜV NORD Bildung continues to chart a 
course of stabilisation. In the Natural Resources busi-
ness unit, an operational improvement in the business 
fields of coking technology, international mining and 
exploration & geosurveying is expected in the wake of 
restructuring measures. The Aerospace business unit 
expects to see growth caused by the slow recovery 
of the European aerospace market. In the IT business 

unit, the drivers of growth are the hardware laboratory 
and mobile security.

At the same time, improving profitability has been de-
fined as a vital corporate objective. To this end, among 
other measures, cost-cutting programmes will be im-
posed and targeted portfolio adjustments made. In this 
way we will strengthen our financial base and benefit 
from extra room for manoeuvre for the strategic ex-
pansion of our business activities. 

With regard to earnings we expect to see stabilisation 
in 2015, supported among other things by the conclu-
sion of the earnings improvement programmes in the 
Training, Natural Resources and Industrial Services 
business units abroad and expected effects from the 
cost optimisation programmes in the procurement field. 
The plan for 2015 is for all business units to generate 
positive earnings. The aim is to achieve positive corpo-
rate results slightly in excess of the operating level of 
the preceding year. 

The number of employees is expected to grow in 2015. 
The objective of human resources development is the 
enhancement of productivity. 

Innovative activity is to continue in 2015 in order 
to sustainably increase the share of new services in 
the overall portfolio. All business units are actively 
focusing on global megatrends such as digitisation, 
urbanisation and demographics. These developments 
need to be implemented in more highly advanced and 
innovative business models.

risk and opportunity management system 

For a group with international operations, comprehen-
sive risk and opportunity management is an essential 
management tool. Risk and Opportunity Management, 
as an integral part of the internal control system, is 
not only an information and management instrument 
for handling identified risks within the group, but also 
serves to enable opportunities to be identified and tak-
en advantage of.

External and internal risks are regularly and systemati-
cally identified at all companies in which TÜV NORD AG 
holds a majority interest, and levels of potential loss or 
damage are evaluated in a uniform manner throughout 
the group. Identified risks are then classified into dif-
ferent risk categories in accordance with the estimated 
probability of their occurrence, and appropriate coun-
termeasures are planned and implemented. 
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Wherever necessary, provisions are formed to cover 
risks emanating from the various segments of the 
group’s activities. The group has taken out adequate 
insurance in order to limit or completely eliminate the 
financial impact of any losses or liabilities arising. The 
level of this insurance cover is constantly being opti-
mised.

Strict quality assurance and the optimisation of the 
use of resources at all levels of the organisation con-
tribute to the mitigation of identified risks and the 
better exploitation of opportunities, and thus to the 
strengthening of the group’s competitive position.

A quarterly risk and opportunity report is presented to 
the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board. 
In addition, group companies are required to submit ad 
hoc reports whenever necessary.

The risk and opportunity management is constantly 
being further developed in order to take account of 
current requirements. The efficiency and effectiveness 
of the system are regularly monitored by the internal 
and external auditors.

risks and opportunities for tÜv nord group

As a business group with international operations, TÜV 
NORD is confronted with countless opportunities and 
risks that are inseparable from the pursuit of entrepre-
neurial activity. Opportunities arise out of the group’s 
presence in growth sectors and dynamic markets. The 
new organisational structure means that these will in 
future be utilised more effectively. Investment in in-
novative business areas in Germany and abroad gives 
the opportunity to react to the intensifying pressure of 
competition and to strengthen the company’s market 
position. 

No risks became apparent during the 2014 fiscal year 
which might individually or cumulatively jeopardise 
the company’s continued existence or materially impair 
its financial position, financial performance or earnings. 
Nor is there any threat for the foreseeable future of 
any risks arising that might jeopardise the company’s 
continued existence. 

Interest rate risks can arise in connection with pension 
obligations. The plan assets intended to finance the 
pension obligations are managed in a fiduciary capaci-
ty by the TÜV NORD PENSION TRUST e.V., which was 
founded in 2008. Changes to the technical interest 
rate in the valuation of pension obligations can lead 
to corresponding impacts on the present value of the 
discounted obligations and thus exert significant influ-
ence on the equity capital and the overall result.

The group is not exposed to any material price, credit 
loss or liquidity risks, or to risks arising from fluctu-
ations in cash flow. The group’s financial assets are 
invested in such a way that, as far as can be seen at 
present, no material risks exist. 

The individual business units report the following risks 
and opportunities in their business activities:

The Industrial Services business unit expects its busi-
ness to continue to show a positive development in 
the coming years. The risks and opportunities that are 
likely to exert a material influence on the way business 
proceeds may be summed up as follows. The business 
unit is exposed to risks above all in its core market, 
Europe. Intense price competition, but also equally 
intense competition with regard to the recruiting of 
staff, especially engineers, may have a negative impact 
on the achievement of the objectives. Furthermore, 
there is a real risk in Germany that regulations will be 
amended with the effect that previously mandatory 
tests will no longer be required and inspections will 
be carried out by experts from other specialist com-
panies in addition to our own. This would result in a 
decline in revenue and earnings as well as in increased 
competition. There are opportunities for the expansion 
of business through the introduction of new services 
and the extension of existing ones (e.g. in the field of 
of wind energy or foodstuffs) as well as through the 
geographical expansion of activities throughout the 
world. Moreover, there is still room for measures to be 
implemented that will further enhance the efficiency 
with which services can be provided. 
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In the coming years the companies from the nuclear 
technology business area will face the risk of shrink-
ing order books as a result of the new 2011 Atomic 
Energy Act. There are opportunities arising from the 
group’s involvement in the field of nuclear waste dis-
posal in Germany and from the expansion of nuclear 
power abroad. There is more intensive demand for 
services in the non-nuclear field, leading to their ex-
pansion. 

As before, the certification business is subject to the 
risk that accreditation bodies will in certain areas 
impose drastic sanctions, up to and including the 
suspension of a certification company, in the case of 
violations committed by individual employees. Process 
optimisation and investments in the areas of energy 
and consumer protection both present opportunities. 
Overseas, East and Southeast Asia have been singled 
out in particular as growth regions. The aim is for 
business expansion to be realised by organic growth 
and through acquisitions. The expected positive devel-
opment may be affected by risks arising from changes 
in the local political, social and economic conditions in 
some countries.

The Mobility business unit is faced with stronger 
competition – in particular on the German market. Due 
to the use of the same core brand there is inter-brand 
competition between the TÜV organisations. Takeovers 
and mergers in the car dealership and workshop sector 
are resulting in ever increasing numbers of trans-re-
gional and nationwide car dealership groups and 
chains. The need for comprehensive service bundles 
and the national provision of services is increasing in 
lockstep with this development. Technological devel-
opments in the automotive industry and global efforts 
to reduce pollutions are leading to a greater diversity 
of propulsion concepts. Associated with this is an 
increased global demand throughout the automotive 
industry for support in vehicle development and the 
homologation of automotive components. Information 
technology is an essential ingredient in modern vehicle 
construction. This is generating completely new de-
mands on data security systems and methods of ver-
ification and control. As a long-standing development 
partner TÜV NORD Mobilität boasts the knowledge 
and methods needed for the verification of electronic 
systems installed in vehicles and can simulate their in-
teractions with each other. Particularly when it comes 
to the prospects for the development of autonomous 
driving, the safety and reliability of vehicle electronics 
is acquiring a whole new level of significance. In the 
automotive growth markets, such as China, the used-
car market is surging, and with it the interest in neu-
tral and independent used car evaluations. In a manner 

specifically adapted to country-specific circumstances, 
TÜV NORD Mobilität is collaborating with the local 
TÜV NORD companies to develop new business models 
for the implementation of used car evaluations. The 
TÜV NORD brand represents real added value and is 
generating confidence and facilitating market entry. 

For the companies of the Training business unit, falling 
unemployment could give rise to risks in the coming 
years, as it may lead to a substantial reduction in the 
number of contracts for training measures financed 
from public funds. The companies intend to extend 
their portfolios of services for the free market, e.g.  
for the health and nursing services sector. There are 
opportunities for the business unit to improve its  
market position by expanding its freemarket activities 
both regionally and internationally.

In its project business the Natural Resources business 
unit is subject to a number of exogenous influence fac-
tors. Alongside increasing competitive pressure in the 
large-scale seismology sector and volatile raw material 
prices and exchange rates, government regulation and 
the business climate among investors must be deemed 
significant risks. There are medium-term growth pros-
pects, especially overseas. Inorganic growth through 
acquisitions will be supplemented by additional in-
ternationalization measures and should enhance the 
global presence of the DMT group.

The companies of the Aerospace business unit are 
dependent upon successful partnership with the 
component manufacturers. In the growing market for 
satellite construction in particular there is a risk that 
the component manufacturers may enter into direct 
business relationships with the builders of satellites or 
systems. Prospects for business expansion are also of-
fered by increased growth in emerging markets as well 
as the extension of existing services and the marketing 
of these services for the aviation sector.
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For the IT business unit risks are emerging on the back 
of the tendency to national sovereignty in the public 
sector that has been triggered by the NSA scandal and 
the resulting distrust of foreign, particularly Chinese 
and Russian but also American products. This may lead 
to protectionism with regard to IT security products. 
On the other hand, the NSA scandal has received very 
broad public attention. The resulting changes in securi-
ty awareness have the potential to lead to an increased 
demand for IT security services, for example on the 
part of authorities. Opportunities will arise as a result 
of the fact that, in its strategic innovation policy, the 
German government is forcing the pace with regard to 
issues such as Industry 4.0, critical (IT) infrastructure, 
and the energy transition with its smart grids and elec-
tric vehicles. Negotiations on the EU data protection 
regulation for a uniform standard of data protection 
in Europe are going well, and the IT security law in 
Germany is in the planning stage. The development 
of a cyber-safety strategy at EU level is still under 
discussion. The main issues for the future are set to 
be the development and dissemination of chip card 
technology, cryptography, DE-mail, secure end-to-end 
encryption, and trusted hardware and software.

corporate governance

Corporate governance at TÜV NORD group is the 
byword for responsible management and control, ori-
entated towards long-term value creation in all group 
companies in Germany and abroad. The Board of Man-
agement has set up a central point of contact which 
coordinates Compliance issues and tasks. The point of 
contact is available for all employees. Appropriately 
conceived and clearly formulated policies and regula-
tions, accessible to all staff at all times via the intranet, 
are fundamental factors in ensuring good corporate 
governance. The adoption of a corporate philosophy 
and a binding code of conduct have given employees 
a concrete framework of guidelines for their actions, 
thus reinforcing business practices in compliance with 
the law. The corporate philosophy and the code of con-
duct are regularly reviewed and updated. Information 
events and training sessions are organised in order to 
enhance staff awareness of the theme of compliance.

An ombudsman system has been set up with the aim 
of combating corruption. In this way, TÜV NORD has 
created a protected space for staff, customers and 
business partners, in which any indications that a law 
or directive may possibly have been contravened, e.g. 
by a case of corruption, can be passed on to a lawyer 
of repute. Compliance with the corporate governance 
rules and regulations is continually monitored by the 
Internal Audit Department through its risk-orientated 
audit planning. The efficiency and effectiveness of the 
Corporate Audit Department are regularly confirmed 
in accordance with the DIIR standard by an external 
quality assessment.

In 2014 the Board of Management commissioned an 
external auditing company with the task of scrutinis-
ing the compliance management system on the basis 
of the IDW PS 980 auditing standard. Along with the 
compliance project including amnesty phase which 
was conducted and concluded in 2012/2013, this is 
another measure for the continuous safeguarding of 
the efficiency and effectiveness of the compliance 
management system in the TÜV NORD group. In addi-
tion, compliance audits are regularly held in all areas 
by the on-site Internal Audit Department. Risk-based 
process controls, such as, for instance, a compliance 
check for business partners, systematically reduce 
potential compliance risks. The tracking, sanctioning, 
evaluation and documentation of breaches of com-
pliance represent an integral part of the continuous 
improvement process. In addition to the continuous 
supply of up-to-date information to the Board of  
Management, the group's compliance contact presents 
a compliance report twice a year. These measures will 
further strengthen the tried-and-tested compliance 
structures and permanently reinforce awareness of 
the mandatory nature of TÜV NORD compliance in the 
group’s day-to-day business.
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further information

In view of the fact that their Boards of Management 
and Supervisory Boards are in part composed of iden-
tical persons, TÜV NORD AG is deemed to be directly 
dependent within the meaning of Sec. 17 of the Stock 
Corporations Act (Aktiengesetz – AktG) upon TÜV Nord 
Holding GmbH & Co. KG of Hamburg and TÜV HAS 
Holding GmbH & Co. KG of Hanover, and indirectly 
dependent upon TÜV Nord e.V. and TÜV Hannover/
Sachsen-Anhalt e.V. For the period from January 1 to 
December 31 2014 and in respect of relevant special 
transactions during the 2014 fiscal year, the Board of 
Management of TÜV NORD AG has drawn up a report 
pursuant to Sec. 312 of the AktG regarding relations 
between the company on the one hand and TÜV Nord 
Holding GmbH & Co. KG, TÜV HSA Holding GmbH & 
Co. KG, TÜV Nord e.V., TÜV Hannover/Sachsen-Anhalt 
e.V. and the affiliated companies on the other. 

This report ends with the following declaration:

“We hereby declare that in respect of every legal 
transaction with affiliates, TÜV NORD AG received 
consideration that was appropriate in the light of the 
circumstances known to us at the time when such 
transactions were performed. 

Beyond the activities reported on herein, there were 
no further reportable transactions, measures or omis-
sions.”

Hanover, February 27 2015

 
TÜV NORD AG

The Board of Management 
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consolidated income statement

€ k note 2014 2013

Revenue 3.1. 1,089,493 1,056,359
Change in inventories of finished goods and work in progress -1,642 4,624
Other internally generated additions to assets 58 116
Other operating income 3.2. 41,438 40,080
Cost of materials 3.3. -179,989 -194,006
Personnel expense 3.4.  
 a) Wages and salaries -524,379 -509,375
 b) Social security contributions, post-employment and welfare benefits -139,050 -130,149
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 3.5. -32,231 -29,336
Other operating expense 3.6. -204,726 -204,796

operating profit 48,972 33,517

Income from investments in associates 709 538
Income from other equity investments 193 234
Interest income 1,595 1,895
Interest expense -1,996 -1,508
Other financial items -235 -152

financial items 3.7. 266 1,007

eBt (earnings before tax) 49,238 34,524

Taxes on income 3.8.
 a) Current tax expense -20,009 -15,260
 b) Deferred tax income 153 -241

  
consolidated earnings after tax 29,382 19,023

The consolidated earnings after tax are attributable to
owners of TÜV NORD AG 27,429 17,360
non-controlling interests 1,953 1,663



061consolidated financial statements 2014

statement of comprehensive income

€ k 2014 2013

consolidated earnings after tax 29,382 19,023

items that will not be reclassified subsequently to the income statement
Actuarial gains and losses 
Changes from unrealised gains and losses1) -102,891 -16,115
Taxes 31,734 5,077

total items that will not be reclassified subsequently to the income statement -71,157 -11,038

items that will be reclassified subsequently to the income statement
Financial assets available for sale
Changes from unrealised gains and losses -37 -80

total financial assets available for sale -37 -80

Currency translation 
Changes from unrealised gains and losses 2,330 -3,392

total currency translation 2,330 -3,392

total items that will be reclassified subsequently to the income statement 2,293 -3,472

other comprehensive income -68,864 -14,510

total comprehensive income -39,482 4,513
Of which attributable to 
owners of TÜV NORD AG -40,586 3,829
non-controlling interests 1,104 684

1) Including non-controlling interests amounting to €-1.837k (2013: €-390k).
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consolidated Balance sheet

assets note 31.12.2014 31.12.2013
€ k

a. non-current assets
Intangible assets 5.1. 82,921 82,959
Property, plant and equipment 5.2. 210,704 212,648
Equity-accounted investments 5.3. 6,017 4,248
Other financial assets 5.4. 55,700 61,397
Trade and other receivables 5.6. 209 259
Other assets 5.7. 3,912 3,374
Deferred tax assets 3.8. 128,560 95,392

total non-current assets 488,024 460,277

B. current assets
Inventories 5.5. 61,198 61,842
Trade and other receivables 5.6. 143,433 151,142
Other assets 5.7. 15,549 13,589
Current tax assets 4,664 4,972
Cash and cash equivalents 5.8. 61,607 54,006

total current assets 286,451 285,551

c. assets held for sale 5.9. 2,099 57

total assets 776,574 745,885
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eQuitY and liaBilities note 31.12.2014 31.12.2013
€ k

a. eQuitY
Subscribed capital 5.10. 10,000 10,000
Capital reserves 5.10. 114,413 115,332
Subordinated registered debenture 5.10. 20,000 0
Retained earnings 5.10. 57,516 29,127
Other equity items 5.10. -109,672 -41,657
Non-controlling interests 5.10. 8,511 7,721

total eQuitY 100,768 120,523

B. non-current liaBilities and provisons
Provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits 5.11. 358,158 267,538
Other provisions 5.12. 47,226 49,988
Financial liabilities 5.13. 727 967
Trade and other payables 5.13. 19,059 25,183
Deferred tax liabilities 3.8. 11,226 10,282
Other liabilities 5.13. 52 30

total non-current liaBilities and provisons 436,448 353,988

c. current liaBilities and provisons
Provisions 5.12. 49,643 40,710
Financial liabilities 5.13. 21,447 51,867
Trade and other payables 5.13. 94,457 105,690
Current tax liabilities 9,744 7,015
Other liabilities 5.13. 64,065 66,092

total current liaBilities and provisons 239,358 271,374

total eQuitY and liaBilties 776,574 745,885
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consolidated cash flow statement

€ k note 2014 2013

Consolidated earnings after tax 29,382 19,023
Adjustments to take account of non-cash transactions
  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of intangible assets 32,231 29,336
  Amortisation of financial assets 235 152
  Pension expense 5,175 4,262
  cash flow 67,023 52,773

Appropriation of profits of associates -356 -334
Interest income/expense 401 -387
Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised as income or expense -153 241
Loss/Gain on disposal of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment -6 27
Changes in inventories, receivables and other assets 7,976 8,181
Changes in payables, other provisions and other liabilities 5,750 -11,170
Income taxes paid -12,019 -7,651
cash flow from operating activities 6. 68,616 41,680

Receipts from disposals of intangible assets 20 144
Receipts from disposals of property, plant and equipment 822 491
Receipts from disposals of other financial assets 40,142 39,642
Payments for investments in intangible assets -2,245 -1,380
Payments for investments in property, plant and equipment -28,859 -34,682
Payments for investments in other financial assets -59,877 -52,485
Acquisitions of consolidated companies 69 -914
cash flow from investing activities 6. -49,928 -49,184

Receipts from financial resources 20,944 8,024
Interest received 1,331 1,664
Dividends to owners and non-controlling shareholders -1,759 -1,726
Payments for the amortisation of loans -31,266 -313
Interest paid -1,458 -1,286
cash flow from financing activities 6. -12,208 6,363

net change in cash and cash equivalents through payments made and received 6,480 -1,141

Net change in cash and cash equivalents through changes 
in exchange rates and in the basis of consolidation 1,121 -1,425

cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 54,006 56,572

cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 61,607 54,006

supplementary information:
Receipts from dividends included in cash flow from operating activities 546 438
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accumulated other comprehensive income

€ k
subscribed

capital
capital

reserves
subordinated

registered debenture
retained
earnings

currency translation
differences

financial assets 
held for sale

actuarial gains 
and losses

share of
tÜv nord ag’s 

owners
non-controlling

interests
consolidated

equity

carrying amounts as of January 1 2013 10,000 115,332 0 13,085 -1,190 -66 -26,870 110,291 7,742 118,033
Comprehensive income 0 0 0 17,360 -2,683 -80 -10,768 3,829 684 4,513
Dividend payment 0 0 0 -1,000 0 0 0 -1,000 -726 -1,726
Changes in basis of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21 21
Other changes 0 0 0 -318 0 0 0 -318 0 -318

carrying amounts as of december 31 2013 10,000 115,332 0 29,127 -3,873 -146 -37,638 112,802 7,721 120,523

carrying amounts as of January 1 2014 10,000 115,332  0 29,127 -3,873 -146 -37,638 112,802 7,721 120,523
Comprehensive income 0 0 0 27,429 1,908 -37 -69,886 -40,586 1,104 -39,482
Transfer from/to 0 -919 0 919 0 0 0 0 0 0
Payment from subordinated 
registered debenture 0 0 20,000 0 0 0 0 20,000 0 20,000
Dividend payment 0 0 0 -1,000 0 0 0 -1,000 -759 -1,759
Changes in basis of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 445 445
Other changes 0 0 0 1,041 0 0 0 1,041 0 1,041

carrying amounts as of december 31 2014 10,000 114,413 20,000 57,516 -1,965 -183 -107,524 92,257 8,511 100,768

statement of changes in consolidated eQuitY
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accumulated other comprehensive income

€ k
subscribed

capital
capital

reserves
subordinated

registered debenture
retained
earnings

currency translation
differences

financial assets 
held for sale

actuarial gains 
and losses

share of
tÜv nord ag’s 

owners
non-controlling

interests
consolidated

equity

carrying amounts as of January 1 2013 10,000 115,332 0 13,085 -1,190 -66 -26,870 110,291 7,742 118,033
Comprehensive income 0 0 0 17,360 -2,683 -80 -10,768 3,829 684 4,513
Dividend payment 0 0 0 -1,000 0 0 0 -1,000 -726 -1,726
Changes in basis of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21 21
Other changes 0 0 0 -318 0 0 0 -318 0 -318

carrying amounts as of december 31 2013 10,000 115,332 0 29,127 -3,873 -146 -37,638 112,802 7,721 120,523

carrying amounts as of January 1 2014 10,000 115,332  0 29,127 -3,873 -146 -37,638 112,802 7,721 120,523
Comprehensive income 0 0 0 27,429 1,908 -37 -69,886 -40,586 1,104 -39,482
Transfer from/to 0 -919 0 919 0 0 0 0 0 0
Payment from subordinated 
registered debenture 0 0 20,000 0 0 0 0 20,000 0 20,000
Dividend payment 0 0 0 -1,000 0 0 0 -1,000 -759 -1,759
Changes in basis of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 445 445
Other changes 0 0 0 1,041 0 0 0 1,041 0 1,041

carrying amounts as of december 31 2014 10,000 114,413 20,000 57,516 -1,965 -183 -107,524 92,257 8,511 100,768
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1. general principles

1.1. corporate information

The TÜV NORD group is one of the biggest technical 
service providers in Germany, offering a broad range of 
consultancy, testing and other services in its Industrial 
Services, Mobility, Training, Natural Resources, Aero-
space and IT business units in more than 70 countries 
all over the world.

TÜV NORD AG, with its registered office in Hanover, 
Germany, is the parent company of the group, registered 
with the Commercial Registry of Hanover Local Court 
under no. HRB 200158. 

The Board of Management of TÜV NORD AG com- 
pleted the preparation of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements as of December 31 2014 and the Group 
Management Report for the 2014 fiscal year on Febru-
ary 27 2015, and authorised them for submission to the 
Supervisory Board.

1.2. Basis of presentation 

Taking advantage of the right of election pursuant to 
Art. 315a (3) of the German Commercial Code (HGB), 
TÜV NORD AG prepared its Consolidated Financial 
Statements as of December 31 2014 in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
while at the same time complying with the German 
supplementary provisions pursuant to Art. 315a (1) of 
the HGB. All the International Accounting Standards 
(IAS) and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) adopted by the International Accounting Stand-
ards Board (IASB) up to December 31 2014 and all the 
pronouncements of the International Financial Report-
ing Standards Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) have 

been applied in relation to the 2014 fiscal year, to the 
extent that such standards had received the endorse-
ment of the Commission of the European Union up to 
the time of publication of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and that their application is mandatory. In 
addition to the Income Statement, the Balance Sheet 
(Statement of Financial Position) and the Cash Flow 
Statement, a Statement of Comprehensive Income is 
presented.

In order to achieve equivalence with consolidated 
financial statements prepared in accordance with the 
HGB, all statutory requirements of disclosure and expla-
nation going beyond the IASB requirements have been 
complied with, in particular the preparation of a group 
Management Report. 

The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in 
Euro and on the basis of original cost (costs of purchase 
or production), with the exception of certain financial 
instruments which are recognised at fair value. Unless 
otherwise indicated, the amounts are stated in thou-
sands of Euro (€ k). For the sake of clarity and to make 
the financial statements more readily understandable, 
certain individual items are aggregated in the Balance 
Sheet and the Income Statement but disclosed and 
explained separately in the notes. 

The Consolidated Financial Statements are based on the 
consolidated accounts. Separate financial statements of 
subsidiary companies prepared in their local currencies 
are translated into Euro.

The reporting periods of the TÜV NORD group and of all 
consolidated subsidiaries end on December 31 of each 
successive calendar year.

1.3.  accounting standards applied for the first time  
in the year under review

The IASB has issued the following standards and 
amendments to existing standards, which have received 
endorsement from the EU, i.e. have been adopted into 
European law, and whose application is mandatory in 
respect of the 2014 fiscal year: 

notes on the consolidated  
financial statements  
for the 2014 fiscal Year
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All the accounting standards whose application is man-
datory as of the 2014 fiscal year have been applied by 
TÜV NORD AG; this has not, however, had any material 
impact on the presentation of the financial statements.

1.4.  newly issued accounting standards not yet applied 
The following standards, interpretations and amend-
ments to existing standards issued by the IASB have 
already been adopted into European law by the EU, 
but their application is not yet mandatory for the year 
under review. The company has not elected to apply this 
provision in advance of its becoming mandatory. 

effective application
Standard/Interpretation

 
mandatory application

IAS 19 (amendments): “Defined Benefit Plans: 
Employee Contributions”

Reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1.2.2015

IFRIC 21: “Levies” Reporting periods beginning 
on or after 17.6.2014

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010 – 2012 
(issued 12.12.2013)

Reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1.2.2015

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011 – 2013 
(issued 12.12.2013)

Reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1.7.2014

effective application
Standard/Interpretation

 
mandatory application

IFRS 10: “Consolidated Financial Statements” Reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1.1.2014

IFRS 10, 11, 12 (amendments): “Transition Guidance” Reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1.1.2014

IFRS 10, 12, IAS 27 (amendments): “Investment Entities” Reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1.1.2014

IFRS 11: “Joint Arrangements” Reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1.1.2014

IFRS 12: “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” Reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1.1.2014

IAS 27 (revised): “Separate Financial Statements” Reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1.1.2014

IAS 28 (revised): “Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures”

Reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1.1.2014

IAS 32 (amendment): “Offsetting Financial Asssets 
and Financial Liabilities”

Reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1.1.2014

IAS 36 (amendment): “Recoverable Amount Disclosures 
for Non-Financial Assets”

Reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1.1.2014

IAS 39 (amendment): “Novation of Derivatives 
and Continuation of Hedge Accounting”

Reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1.1.2014
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TÜV NORD AG is of the opinion that the application of 
this standard, which was issued before the reporting 
date but whose application is not yet mandatory, will 
have no material consequences for its financial position 
or financial performance. 

The following standards and amendments to existing 
standards issued by the IASB or the IFRS IC have not 
yet received EU endorsement, with the effect that their 
application is not yet admissible:

2.  summary of significant  
accounting policies 

2.1. Basis of consolidation

In addition to TÜV NORD AG, the Consolidated Financial 
Statements cover 43 (2013: 41) domestic and 42 (2013: 
41) foreign companies in which TÜV NORD AG directly 
or indirectly holds a majority of the voting power, or 
over whose financial and operating policies it otherwise 
exerts control and is thus in a position to obtain benefits 
from their activities. In determining the situation with 
regard to control, potential voting rights which are 
currently exercisable or convertible are also taken into 
consideration.

Not included in the consolidation are companies which 
are of only minor significance for a true and fair view  
of the financial position, financial performance and  
earnings of the group. This waiver of consolidation has 
the effect of reducing group revenue by 1.1 % (2013:  
0.7 %) and of a change of consolidated earnings before 
tax (EBT) of -2.0 % (2013: 1.2 %).

In addition, four companies (see under 5.3.) which are of 
only minor significance are accounted for by the equity 
method.

A list of shareholdings has been prepared in which TÜV 
NORD group’s affiliates and other equity investments 
are listed, showing the proportion of the capital held. A 
list of all the group’s shareholdings is published in the 
Federal Gazette as part of the Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

2.2. acquisitions 

The scope of consolidation was extended in the 2014 
fiscal year by the first-time inclusion of three companies. 
These comprise the newly formed TÜV NORD NC GmbH 
& Co. KG (TN NC), Hanover, and the acquisitions Ase-
soría y Control en Protección Radiológica, S.L. (ACPRO), 
Barcelona/Spain, and TÜV NORD Bautechnik GmbH (TN 
Bautechnik; formerly Germanischer Lloyd Bautechnik 
GmbH), Hamburg. 

The date of initial consolidation of the newly consoli-
dated companies was January 1 2014 or the date of the 
founding or acquisition.

application in advance inadmissible
Standard/Interpretation

 
mandatory application

IFRS 9: “Financial Instruments” Reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1.1.2018

IFRS 10, 12, IAS 28 (amendments): “Investment Entities: 
Applying the Consolidation Exception”

Reporting Periods beginning 
on or after 1.1.2016

IFRS 14: “Regulatory Deferral Accounts” Reporting Periods beginning 
on or after 1.1.2016

IFRS 15: “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” Reporting Periods beginning 
on or after 1.1.2017

IFRS 10, IAS 28: “Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture”

Reporting Periods beginning 
on or after 1.1.2016

IFRS 11 (amendments): “Accounting for Acquisitions 
of Interests in Joint Operations”

Reporting Periods beginning 
on or after 1.1.2016

IAS 1 (amendments): “Disclosure Initiative” Reporting Periods beginning 
on or after 1.1.2016

IAS 16, 38 (amendments): “Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation”

Reporting Periods beginning 
on or after 1.1.2016

IAS 16, 41 (amendments): “Bearer Plants” Reporting Periods beginning 
on or after 1.1.2016

IAS 27 (amendments): “Equity Method in Separate 
Financial Statements”

Reporting Periods beginning 
on or after 1.1.2016

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012 –2014 
(issued 25.9.2014)

Reporting Periods beginning 
on or after 1.1.2016
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TN NC was founded on September 22 2014 as a 100% 
subsidiary of TÜV NORD AG.

TÜV NORD Systems GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, acquired 
60% of the shares in ACPRO on January 16 2014 with 
economic effect as of January 1 2014. The purchase 
price amounted to €960k. The first-time consolidation of 
the company resulted in a goodwill value in the amount 
of €310k. 

TÜV NORD Systems GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, acquired 
100% of the shares in TN Bautechnik on February 28 
2014 with economic effect as of January 1 2014. The 
purchase price amounted to €1,400k. The first-time  
consolidation of the company resulted in a goodwill 
value in the amount of €737k. 

The main assets of WPL Werkstatt-Prüf-Labor-GmbH 
(WPL), Moers, were taken over on January 1 2014 in 
the context of an asset deal. The acquisition yielded a 
goodwill value amounting to €255k.

2.3. consolidation policy

The annual financial statements of the subsidiaries in-
cluded in consolidation are prepared in accordance with 
TÜV NORD AG’s accounting and valuation methods, 
which are applied uniformly throughout the group. 

Capital consolidation is effected using the purchase 
method, pursuant to IFRS 3, Business Combinations. 
Using the purchase method to account for business 
combinations assumes that, at the time of initial consol-
idation, all the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
of the company acquired and also any intangible assets 
to be recognised in addition are measured at fair value. 
Any difference amounts between the cost of acquiring 
the interest in the company and the acquirer’s pro rata 
share in the reassessed equity at the time of acquisition 
are allocated to the appropriate balance sheet items of 
the subsidiary up to the amount of their fair value. Any 
remaining positive difference is recognised as goodwill. 
If a negative difference arises, it is to be recognised as 
an expense in profit and loss for the reporting period 
during which the business combination takes place. 
Goodwill is tested for impairment at least once a year. 
The earnings of subsidiary companies acquired or 
disposed of in the course of the fiscal year are included 
in the Consolidated Income Statement from the point in 
time when control was acquired or up to the effective 
time of disposal. 

Significant associates and joint ventures are accounted 
for using the equity method. An associate is a business 
entity upon which the group can exert significant in-
fluence through participation in financial and operating 
policy decisions, but over which it cannot exercise 
control. In general, such significant influence may be 
presumed if the group holds 20% or more of the voting 
power. The pro rata earnings from such equity holdings 
are recognised under the item Income from investments 
in associates. Should any such equity investments be 
subject to long-term impairment, impairment losses are 
recognised. Where a group company undertakes trans-
actions with an associate, any resulting unrealised gains 
or losses are eliminated pro rata to the group’s interest 
in the associate or joint venture. 

Receivables and payables between companies included 
in consolidation are netted. Profits and losses arising 
out of intercompany transfers of assets that are to be 
recognised in the Consolidated Financial Statements are 
eliminated unless they are immaterial. Revenue and oth-
er income between consolidated companies are offset 
against the corresponding expenses.

During the process of consolidation, income tax effects 
are taken into account and deferred taxes are recog-
nised where appropriate. 

Shares in the equity of subsidiaries that are held by 
parties outside the group are recognised separately 
within equity capital. The proportions of the earnings of 
subsidiary companies attributable to outside sharehold-
ers (non-controlling interests) are stated separately in 
the Income Statement. 
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2.4. currency translation

translation into the presentation currency

The annual financial statements of any foreign group 
company whose functional currency is not the Euro 
are translated into the group presentation currency, i.e. 
Euro, in accordance with the functional currency con-
cept. In general, the functional currencies of the foreign 
subsidiaries are their respective local currencies. 

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are trans-
lated at the exchange rate prevailing as of the balance 
sheet date. Equity is translated at historical rates of 
exchange. Expense and income are translated into Euro 
at average rates for the year. Differences arising out of 
currency translation are recognised in Other comprehen-

sive income. Such a translation difference recognised in 
comprehensive income is posted to profit and loss only 
if the company concerned is deconsolidated. 

translation into the functional currency

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the 
functional currency at the exchange rate prevailing at 
the time of the transaction. Gains and losses resulting 
from the fulfilment of such transactions and from the 
translation as at the reporting date of monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised in the Income Statement. 

The following exchange rates are among those used for 
the translation of the currencies of countries that are 
not members of the European Monetary Union:

1) Latvia has been a member of the Eurozone since 01.01.2014

currency iso code
exchange rate as of the reporting date annual average rate

31.12.2014 31.12.2013 2014 2013
Brazilian real BRL 3.2410 3.2519 3.2464 2.9476
British pound sterling GBP 0.7818 0.8331 0.8066 0.8241
Bulgarian lev BGN 1.9559 1.9558 1.9558 1.9558
Canadian dollar CAD 1.4117 1.4635 1.4372 1.3833
Chinese renminbi yuan CNY 7.5550 8.3314 7.9242 8.2711
Croatian kuna HRK 7.6610 7.6198 7.6403 7.5906
Czech koruna CZK 27.7434 27.4033 27.5725 26.2103
Danish krone DKK 7.4457 7.4599 7.4528 7.4599
Hong Kong dollar HKD 9.4373 10.6753 10.0182 10.4420
Indian rupee INR 77.4731 85.2224 81.1622 78.1861
Indonesian rupiah IDR 15,128.5930 16,666.6667 15,873.0159 14,705.8824
Korean won KRW 1,337.3454 1,452.8549 1,392.7577 1,431.8442
Latvian lat1) LVL  - 0.6997  - 0.6990
Malaysian ringgit MYR 4.2622 4.5204 4.3875 4.2630
Polish zloty PLN 4.2902 4.1508 4.2194 4.1217
South African rand ZAR 14.0575 14.5035 14.2769 12.6330
Swedish krone SEK 9.4277 8.8261 9.1158 8.7032
Thai baht THB 40.0245 45.2182 42.4628 42.6476
Turkish lira TRY 2.8327 2.9446 2.8877 2.6178
US dollar USD 1.2166 1.3767 1.2917 1.3468
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2.5. use of estimates 

The preparation of IFRS financial statements requires 
management to make certain estimates and assump-
tions which have an impact on the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities existing as of the reporting date, and 
the income and expense recognised for the fiscal year. 
In compiling the Consolidated Financial Statements, 
estimates had to be made in particular with regard to 
the valuation of employee benefits under IAS 19, the 
impairment testing of goodwill, the restructuring provi-
sion, the provision for threatened losses from pending 
transactions and the deferred tax assets relating to loss 
carryforwards. 

Employee benefits relate essentially to obligations 
arising out of defined benefit pension commitments, 
which are determined on the basis of actuarial parame-
ters. These require assumptions to be made about future 
wage and salary increases, trends in pension levels and 
the discount rate. 

Changes in the parameters for determining defined 
benefit obligations and plan assets do not however 
affect consolidated earnings for the current year, since 
any actuarial gains or losses are recognised in “Other 
comprehensive income”. 

Goodwill is subjected to an annual impairment test on 
the basis of the smallest cash-generating unit to which 
goodwill has been allocated and the management’s ap-
proved three-year operating plan. No change that might 
reasonably be possible to any of the basic assumptions 
made for the purpose of determining the value in use 
of the cash-generating units could lead to their carrying 
amounts materially exceeding the recoverable amounts.

Recognition and measurement of the restructuring 
provision and of the provision for threatened losses are 
based on estimates of the probability of a future outflow 
of resources and on the basis of experience values and 
of the circumstances known at the reporting date. To 
this extent, the actual outflow of resources may vary 
from the amount of the provision. 

Deferred tax assets relating to loss carryforwards are 
accounted for on the basis of estimates of the extent 
to which the tax advantages can be realised in future, 
i.e. whether adequate taxable income or reduced tax 
expense is to be expected. The actual tax situation in 
future periods, and thus the actual extent to which 
loss carryforwards can be utilised, may vary from the 
estimate made at the time when the deferred taxes 
were recognised. 

2.6. accounting policies

Accounting is undertaken in accordance with the follow-
ing principles:

revenue realisation

Revenue from services rendered is recognised as soon 
as performance is completed. Any diminutions of 
the income, such as trade discounts and rebates, are 
deducted.

Income from contracts to render services is recognised 
by reference to the stage of completion, to the extent 
that the criteria of IAS 18.20 are fulfilled. Such service 
contracts are accounted for using the percentage of 
completion method, under which revenue is recognised 
in proportion to the stage of completion. This is deter-
mined by the cost-to-cost method.

Other income is recognised when the amount can be 
reliably determined and when the inflow of resources is 
to be regarded as sufficiently probable. 
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intangible assets

Intangible assets encompass intangible assets acquired 
for consideration and internally generated intangible 
assets and goodwill.

Intangible assets acquired for consideration, e.g. 
software and accreditations, are valued at historical 
cost. This position also includes items identified during 
purchase price allocations, e.g. customer relations and 
trade mark rights.

Internally generated intangible assets, e.g. software 
or research and development costs, are recognised at 
production cost if this meets the recognition criteria of 
IAS 38.

Intangible assets with a certain useful life are subject to 
amortisation by the straight-line method over a period 
of generally between 3 and 15 years, depending on the 
expected future economic benefits. The useful life is 
subject to annual review, and if necessary is adjusted 
in accordance with future expectations. If there is any 
indication of impairment, or if the recoverable amount 
is less than the amortised cost, an impairment loss 
must be recognised. Intangible assets with an uncer-
tain useful live are not subject to amortisation, but an 
impairment test is used every year.

If the reasons for recognising such an impairment loss 
cease to apply, the impairment loss is reversed, where 
the resulting enhanced carrying amount may not exceed 
the amortised cost arrived at by normal amortisation. 

Goodwill arising out of a business combination is to be 
recognised from the time when control is obtained over 
the company acquired (the acquisition date). It arises 
whenever the cost of acquiring the business exceeds 
the netted fair value of the identifiable assets, debts and 
contingent debts at the acquisition date. Goodwill is not 
subject to amortisation; instead, it is subjected to an 
impairment test at least once a year, and more frequent-
ly should any triggering events occur. The impairment 
test is carried out on the basis of cash-generating units, 
the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit being 
compared with its carrying amount. Under IAS 36, an 
impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount 
of a cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been 
allocated exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment 
losses on goodwill, once recognised, may not be subse-
quently be reversed.

Since 2013 the cash generating units correspond with 
the international business units Industrial Services, 
Mobility, Training, Natural Resources, Aerospace and IT. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of the cash-gen-
erating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value 
in use. The recoverable amount of a cash-generating 
unit is calculated by determining its fair value less costs 
to sell, using the discounted cash flow method on the 
basis of the three-year plan approved by management. 
In determining fair value certain assumptions have to be 
made, relating essentially to the rate at which operating 
profit will grow over the planning period, the cost of 
capital as well as the expected sustained growth rate 
after the end of the three-year plan. The cost of capital 
is determined on the basis of the weighted average cost 
of capital (WACC).
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property, plant and equipment

Assets falling into the category of property, plant and 
equipment are recognised at depreciated costs (pur-
chase or construction costs). Construction costs include 
not only direct costs but also attributable overheads.

The revaluation model as per IAS 16.31 is not applied. 
As a result, under current market conditions the carry-
ing amounts of TÜV NORD group`s real estate include 
hidden reserves.

Property, plant and equipment is normally depreciated 
by the straight-line method, unless in exceptional cases 
some other depreciation method appears more appropri-
ate. Depreciation is based on the following useful lives:
 

Under IAS 36, “Impairment of assets”, property, 
plant and equipment are subject to impairment if the 
recoverable amount (see also under “Intangible assets” 
above) of the asset concerned has fallen below its 
carrying amount. If the reasons for recognising such an 
impairment loss cease to apply, the impairment loss is 
reversed, but only to the extent that the enhanced car-
rying amount does not exceed the asset’s depreciated 
cost. Such a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 
as income. 

leases

Leases are to be classified either as operating leases or 
finance leases. Under IAS 17, leases under which all the 
substantial risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
an asset are transferred to TÜV NORD group are to be 
classified as finance leases; other leases are operating 
leases. 

In case of finance lease, the leased item is recognised as 
from the time of its first use at the lower of fair value 
and the present value of the minimum lease payments, 
and depreciated by the straight-line method over its 
estimated economic life, or, if shorter, the term of the 
lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is to be 
recognised in the balance sheet as a liability from a 
finance lease and amortised over the subsequent period 
of time using the effective interest rate method. In the 
case of operating leases, the net lease payments are 
recognised in the income statement over the term of the 
lease.

investments accounted for using the equity method

Associates and joint ventures are initially recognised at 
cost at the time of their acquisition, and in subsequent 
accounting periods in accordance with the proportion of 
the equity held, using the equity method. The carrying 
amounts are increased or decreased annually by the 
amount of the earnings attributable pro rata, the divi-
dends distributed or other changes in equity. Under IAS 
28.33, accounting using the equity method is effected 
on the basis of the financial statements for the previous 
reporting period. Any goodwill is reviewed in connection 
with the impairment testing of the investment in the as-
sociate (IAS 39) or joint venture. Goodwill is not subject 
to amortisation.

useful lives of property, 
plant and equipment                 years

Office buildings         30 – 50
Test facilities          20 – 30
Machinery          5 – 12
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment       3 – 20
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other financial assets

The item ”Other financial assets” covers in particular 
investments in non-consolidated affiliates, other equity 
investments, loans, securities and claims arising out of 
the reinsurance of pension obligations. 

Under IAS 39, four categories of financial asset are 
distinguished:

s Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(held for trading),

s Available-for-sale financial assets,

s Held-to-maturity investments,

s Loans and receivables.

Investments in non-consolidated affiliates, other equity 
investments and securities that are available for sale are 
assigned to the “Available for sale” category. Invest-
ments in non-consolidated affiliates and associates are 
recognised at amortised cost, since no fair values are 
available and other admissible measurement proce-
dures do not lead to reliable results. Securities that are 
available for sale are recognised at fair value. Changes in 
value are recognised in equity, making due allowance for 
deferred tax effects. 

If the fair value of a financial asset falls below cost, the 
impairment loss is recognised as expense. 

Loans granted fall into the category “Loans and receiva-
bles” and are recognised at amortised cost. 

Claims arising out of reinsurance fund shares that do 
not form part of the plan assets are accounted for at fair 
value in accordance with IAS 19. 

inventories

Inventories essentially cover work in progress and 
are measured at cost of production. This includes not 
only direct labour but also an allocation of proportions 
of material and production overheads on the basis of 
normal utilisation of capacity, and also depreciation. In 
addition, the costs of occupational pensions and of the 
company’s voluntary welfare benefits are included, to 
the extent that they are attributable to the production 
area. Administrative costs are recognised to the extent 
that they are attributable to the production area. 

Inventories may be written down to an appropriate and 
adequate extent to take account of contract-related 
risks. Where necessary, they are recognised at the 
lower net realisable value. If the reasons for subjecting 
inventories to such an impairment loss cease to apply, 
the impairment loss is reversed.

trade and other receivables, other assets

Receivables include the company’s trade receivables, 
other receivables and other assets. They are meas-
ured at nominal value or at cost net of impairment. 
Non-current receivables bearing no or only low interest 
are discounted at a rate appropriate to the risk, to the 
extent that the interest effect is material. The amount 
discounted is recognised pro rata under interest income 
until the receivable becomes due.

Other receivables and other assets also include receiv-
ables from partly fulfilled contracts to render services 
pursuant to IAS 18.20, which are recognised by the per-
centage of completion method. Any advance payments 
received are netted against the receivables.

cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include freely disposable 
cash in hand, cheques and bank credit balances with 
a term of up to three months. They are recognised at 
nominal value.



077consolidated financial statements 2014

deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all 
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the IFRS balance sheet and their 
tax bases, and also for consolidation measures recog-
nised through profit or loss, and are set off as far as 
is permissible against each other in the balance sheet. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that there will be taxable income against 
which the deductible temporary difference can be offset. 
Deferred tax assets also include claims for reductions 
in amounts of tax payable arising out of the expected 
utilisation of existing loss carryforwards in subsequent 
years, to the extent that their realisation is sufficiently 
certain. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are also recog-
nised where temporary differences arise in connection 
with business combinations (corporate acquisitions), 
with the exception of temporary differences relating to 
goodwill.

Deferred taxes are determined on the basis of the rates 
of taxation that apply or are expected to apply under 
current law in the individual countries at the time of re-
alisation. Tax rates that will be applicable in future years 
are used for calculation purposes to the extent that they 
have already been fixed in law or that the legislative 
process is practically completed. 

Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities in the 
balance sheet generally lead to tax expense or income in 
the income statement; unless they relate to items recog-
nised in comprehensive income; in this case the deferred 
taxes are also recognised in comprehensive income. 

Deferred taxes are not recognised at the reporting date 
in respect of temporary differences in connection with 
investments in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures 
(outside basis differences). It is not possible to make any 
reasonable estimate of the amounts of these unrecog-
nised deferred tax liabilities. 

For the calculation of domestic deferred taxes, a tax rate 
of 32.0 %, unchanged from the previous year, has been 
applied. 

assets held for sale

Assets held for sale are shown separately in the balance 
sheet if they can be sold in their existing condition 
and it is probable that they will be. When assets are 
first classified as “held for sale”, they are revalued at 
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs 
to sell. Impairment losses resulting from the first-time 
classification of the assets as being “held for sale”, and 
also any later impairments (or reversals of impairments), 
are recognised as expense (or income) in the Income 
Statement. Assets held for sale are not subjected to 
amortisation.

provisions for pensions  
and other post-employment benefits

Post-employment benefit plans are classified as either 
defined benefit or defined contribution plans, depending 
on the economic substance of the plan as derived from 
its principal terms and conditions. Plans are classified 
as defined benefit plans if the actuarial risk or the 
investment risk falls on the employer. Post-employment 
benefit commitments that cannot be unambiguously 
classified as defined benefit plans are regarded as 
defined contribution plans.

The requisite level of pension provisions in respect of 
defined benefit obligations is determined by actuarial 
valuation using the projected unit credit method. This 
valuation is carried out by actuaries as of every balance 
sheet date. Actuarial gains and losses arising are 
accounted for directly in equity without passing through 
the Income Statement, and are recognised in the Group 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Through the transfer of claims to reinsurance to TÜV 
NORD PENSION TRUST e.V. of Hanover, plan assets 
have been formed which serve to secure the pension 
obligations. 

The service cost included in pension expense and the 
included net interest expense are recognised under 
“Personnel expense”.

Payment obligations under defined contribution pension 
plans (the statutory pension funds) are recognised in the 
income statement for the period concerned. 
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other provisions

Other provisions are formed if a present legal or 
constructive obligation exists towards third parties as a 
result of a past event, in respect of which it is probable 
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the provision required. The measurement 
of the provisions is effected using the best estimate 
of the amount required to settle the obligation, which 
is not set off against any possible claims for recourse. 
Non-current provisions are discounted if the interest 
effect is material. 

trade and other payables

Interest-bearing payables to banks are accounted for at 
the amount disbursed less directly attributable transac-
tion costs. Financing costs are distributed as expense 
over the term, increasing the carrying amount of the 
liability in subsequent periods. Trade and other payables 
are recognised at amortised cost in accordance with IAS 
39. Non-current liabilities that are not subject to interest 
are discounted using the effective interest method if 
the interest effect is material. Liabilities arising out of 
finance leases are recognised at the lower of the fair  
value of the leased item and the present value of 
the lease payments. In subsequent years, the lease 
payments are apportioned between the reduction of the 
outstanding liability and the finance charge; pursuant 
to IAS 17.25 this is done in such a way as to produce a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. 

contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that might 
arise from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed by future events not within the control of the 
TÜV NORD group. It may also be a question of existing 
obligations that cannot be recognised because an 
outflow of resources is improbable or the amount of the 
obligation cannot be estimated with sufficient reliability. 
Such contingent liabilities are recognised at the level of 
liability existing at the reporting date. 
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3.  consolidated income  
statement disclosures

3.1. revenue

Revenue breaks down between the six business units as 
follows:

Revenue includes €22,985k (2013: €34,552k) relating 
to partly fulfilled contracts to render services, which 
were recognised proportionately by the percentage of 
completion method as of the reporting date.

Revenue amounting to €811,174k (2013: €793,000k) 
was generated in Germany, €181,928k (2013:  
€153,366k) in the rest of Europe and €96,391k  
(2013: €109,993k) in the rest of the world.

3.2. other operating income

Other operating income amounting to €41,438k (2013: 
€40,080k) is made up essentially of the following  
components: income from the reimbursement of 
remnant costs in the amount of €8,452k (2013: €0k), 
income from the reversal of provisions €4,880k  
(2013: €8,990k), income from grants and allowances  
€2,855k (2013: €4,011k), canteen takings €1,908k 
(2013: €2,070 k), income from the reversal of impair-
ment losses on trade receivables €984k (2013:  
€977k), income from tenancy agreements €702k  
(2013: €704k), income from ancillary services €228k 
(2013: €621k), income from the reversal of a negative 
difference recognised as an expense €127k (2013:  
€354 k). 

3.3. cost of materials

3.4. personnel expense

 
On average over the year, the consolidated companies 
had 9,764 employees (2013: 9,843) (expressed as full-
time equivalents). The group’s employees are for the 
most part salaried staff.

3.5. depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses

 
3.6. other operating expenses

Other operating expenses €204,726k (2013:  
€204,796k) principally relate to occupancy expenses  
€60,475k (2013: €63,009k), travelling expenses  
€39,884k (2013: €40,350k), operating and adminis-
trative expenses €20,266k (2013: €21,298k), other 
services €15,785k (2013: €16,586k), advertising  
and communication expenses €14,464k (2013:  
€16,102k), legal and consultancy fees €7,791k  
(2013: €5,992k) and donations and contributions  
€2,031k (2013: €2,068k). Value adjustments on  
doubtful trade receivables amounting to €3,185k  
(2013: €3,589k) are also included, as are other taxes  
in the amount of €2,160k (2013: €1,827k).

€ k 2014 2013
Industrial Services 503,670 475,552
Mobility 304,850 298,723
Training 115,852 114,649
Natural Resources 112,091 113,045
Aerospace 40,185 42,953
IT 12,845 11,437
total 1,089,493 1,056,359

€ k 2014 2013

Cost of raw materials  
and supplies 33,002 38,439

Cost of services 
bought in 146,987 155,567
total 179,989 194,006

€ k 2014 2013
Wages and salaries 524,379 509,375
Social security  
contributions 96,401 90,928

Post-employment  
benefit expense 38,594 35,393

Other employee benefits 4,055 3,828
total 663,429 639,524

€ k 2014 2013

Depreciation and  
amortisation of assets 30,489 29,025
Impairment losses 1,742 311
total 32,231 29,336
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3.7. financial items

3.8. taxes on income

The group’s tax expense is as follows:

The deferred taxes result from the formation or reversal 
of tax accruals in profit or loss during the fiscal year. In 
both fiscal years the deferred taxes are predominantly 
the result of temporary differences being recognised or 
reversed.

The following reconciliation statement summarises the 
individual deferred tax items determined in relation to 
the individual companies and applying the tax rates 
prevailing in the various countries, taking due account 
of consolidation measures. The table reconciles expected 
tax expense with the tax expense actually recognised.

The expected tax rate for both fiscal years was deter-
mined on the basis of a corporation tax rate of 15.0 % 
plus a solidarity levy of 5.5 % of the tax due and a local 
business tax rating of 462 %. 

Deferred taxes resulting from recognition and measure-
ment differences arose in the following balance sheet 
items:

€ k 2014 2013

Income from equity-
accounted investments 709 538

Income from other 
equity investments 193 234

Amortisation of other 
financial investments 
and securities -235 -152

financial items 
(excluding interest) 667 620

Interest income 
on bank balances 
and sight deposits 1,595 1,895

Interest and similar 
expense -1,996 -1,508

a) Interest expense 
 on loans and liabilities 
 to banks -1,569 -1,501

b) Interest included 
 in lease payments -14 -5

c) Other interest 
 and similar expense -413 -2

net interest expense/
income -401 387

financial items 
(including interest) 266 1,007

€ k 2014 2013
Current tax expense -20,009 -15,260
Deferred tax income/
expense 153 -241
total -19,856 -15,501

€ k 2014 2013
Earnings before tax 49,238 34,524

Expected income tax 
expense (tax rate: 32.0 %; 
2013: 32.0 %) 15,756 11,048

Effect of different 
foreign tax rates / 
Other differences -291 -397

Changes in tax rates 
or tax legislation 73 83

Permanent differences 
resulting from non-
deductible expense, 
tax-free income etc. 1,527 3,996

Current taxes 
for previous periods 964 -63

Deferred taxes 
for previous periods 248 235

Effects of 
value adjustments 1,579 599

recognised income 
tax expense 19,856 15,501
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€ k

2014 2013
deferred tax 

assets
deferred tax 

liabilities 
deferred tax 

assets
deferred tax 

liabilities 
Intangible assets 1,742 5,906 1,904 5,703
Property, plant and equipment 658 10,744 772 10,709
Inventories 0 1,869 0 1,640
Other assets 2,055 2,533 1,517 2,471
Pension provisions 118,568 0 87,830 0
Other provisions 10,233 372 9,192 286
Other liabilities 922 191 730 261
Tax loss carryforwards 4,771 0 4,235 0
gross amount 138,949 21,615 106,180 21,070
Offsettings -10,389 -10,389 -10,788 -10,788
Balance sheet recognition 128,560 11,226 95,392 10,282

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if there is 
sufficient probability that these tax advantages will be 
realised. Any value adjustments are determined taking 
into account all positive and negative factors known 
at the present time that may influence future taxable 
earnings. The estimates made for this purpose may be 
subject to future adjustments. 

Deferred taxes amounting to €31,734k (2013: €5,077k) 
were recognised in comprehensive income. This is essen-
tially a result of the recognition in “Other comprehensive 
income” of actuarial gains/losses relating to pension 
provisions.

As of the reporting date, deferred tax assets were  
recognised for loss carryforwards in the amount of  
€26,166k (2013: €23,436k) existing in the group.  
In respect of further tax loss carryforwards in the 
amount of €35,683k (2013: €25,772k), no additional 
deferred tax assets have been recognised as of the 
reporting date, since it is not sufficiently certain that 
these can be realised. Under current legislation, there 
is no limitation, either of time or amount, on such loss 
carryforwards for tax purposes. 

3.9. dividend per share

A dividend amounting to €1,000k was paid in the 
2014 fiscal year. In relation to the number of shares as 
recorded in the commercial register – 100,000 – this 
represents a dividend of €10 per share.
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4.  notes on the consolidated  
statement of compehensive 
income

The deferred taxes in the amount of €31,734k (2013: 
€5,077k) reported in “Other comprehensive income” 
relate to the actuarial losses of €102,891k (2013: 
€16,115k) in the fiscal year. The actuarial losses after 
deferred tax amount to €71,157k (2013: €11,038k). 
The other comprehensive income before deferred tax 
amounts to €-100,598k (2013: €-19,587k). 

5.   consolidated Balance sheet  
disclosures

In accordance with IAS 1, the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet (Statement of Financial Position) is structured to 
present the breakdown between current and non-cur-
rent assets and liabilities. Assets and liabilities are 
regarded as current if it is expected that they will be 
recovered or settled within a year. Inventories and trade 
receivables are also classified as current, irrespective of 
their expected use or due dates, if they are to be sold, 
used or recovered, not within one year, but within the 
company’s normal operating cycle. In accordance with 
IAS 12, deferred taxes are recognised as non-current 
assets or liabilities. 

changes 2014
€ k

concessions, proprietary 
rights and similar rights and 

assets, including licences  
on such rights and assets 

goodwill payments 
made on
 account

total

cost (of purchase or production)
Amounts as of January 1 54,205 76,083 18 130,306
Changes in basis of consolidation 13 1,047 0 1,060
Additions / Current investments 2,138 309 55 2,502
Disposals -783 -15 -1 -799
Reclassifications 5 -5 -16 -16
Currency translation differences 28 73 2 103
amounts as of december 31 55,605 77,491 59 133,155

accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses
Amounts as of January 1 46,232 1,115 0 47,347
Changes in basis of consolidation 0 0 0 0
Additions 3,642 0 0 3,642
Disposals -780 0 0 -780
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0
Currency translation differences 18 7 0 25
amounts as of december 31 49,111 1,122 0 50,234
net carrying amounts 6,494 76,369 59 82,921
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5.1. intangible assets

The following changes in intangible assets occurred: 
The changes in the basis of consolidation presented un-
der Goodwill relate to the acquisition of TN Bautechnik 
(€737k) and ACPRO (€310k).

The additions under Goodwill essentially resulted from 
the purchase of assets of WPL-Werkstatt-Prüf-Labor-
GmbH.

The changes in the basis of consolidation presented 
under Goodwill relate essentially to the acquisition of 
assets of INSTA Ingenieurtechnik Ingenieurgesellschaft 
für Elektro-, Meß-, und Regeltechnik m.b.H, Frankfurt am 
Main.

Impairment testing of all the goodwill recognised in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet did not lead to any addition-
al impairment losses, since in each case the fair value 
less costs to sell is higher than the carrying amount 
recognised by the cash-generating unit concerned. The 
weighted average cost of capital (WACC) applied for 
discounting purposes is 4.85% (2013: 4.83%), whereby a 

growth discount of 1.0% is applied after the end of the 
three-year planning period.

The goodwill subjected to impairment testing is 
essentially shared between the business units Natural 
Resources (2014: €34.763k; 2013: €34.763k), Industrial 
Services (2014: €28.768k; 2013: €27.367) and Aero-
space (2014: €12.465k; 2013: €12.465k).

changes 2013
€ k

concessions, proprietary 
rights and similar rights and 

assets, including licences  
on such rights and assets 

goodwill payments 
made on
 account

total

cost (of purchase or production)
Amounts as of January 1 53,027 74,911 33 127,971
Changes in basis of consolidation 0 0 0 0
Additions / Current investments 1,371 1,360 17 2,748
Disposals -166 -163 -2 -331
Reclassifications 28 0 -29 -1
Currency translation differences -55 -25 -1 -81
amounts as of december 31 54,205 76,083 18 130,306

accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses
Amounts as of January 1 42,215 1,108 0 43,323
Changes in basis of consolidation 0 0 0 0
Additions 4,218 7 0 4,225
Disposals -151 0 0 -151
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0
Currency translation differences -50 0 0 -50
amounts as of december 31 46,232 1,115 0 47,347
net carrying amounts 7,973 74,968 18 82,959
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5.2. property, plant and equipment

The following changes occurred in property, plant and 
equipment:

changes 2014
€ k

land, leasehold rights 
and buildings, 

including buildings on 
third-party land

machinery furniture and 
fittings, other 

factory and 
office equipment

payments made 
on account and

assets under
construction 

total

cost (of purchase 
or production)

Amounts 
as of January 1 286,337 115,890 187,230 2,152 591,608

Changes in basis 
of consolidation 0 43 13 0 56

Additions/ 
Current investments 2,369 6,585 18,562 1,438 28,954

Disposals -1,069 -760 -6,262 -1 -8,092
Reclassifications -6,236 1,392 273 -1,664 -6,235

Currency translation 
differences 273 183 428 1 885

amounts 
as of december 31 281,674 123,333 200,243 1,927 607,177

accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairment losses

Amounts 
as of January 1 147,162 78,497 153,111 190 378,960

Changes in basis 
of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0

Additions 5,960 8,170 14,458 1 28,589
Disposals -771 -716 -6,005 0 -7,492
Reclassifications -4,007 101 -101 0 -4,007

Currency translation 
differences 24 74 324 0 421

amounts 
as of december 31 148,368 86,126 161,788 191 396,472

net carrying amounts 133,306 37,207 38,455 1,736 210,704
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Impairment losses pursuant to IAS 36 recognised as 
Additions under Depreciation and impairment losses 
amount to €1.742k (2013: € 311k).

  

changes 2013
€ k

land, leasehold rights 
and buildings, 

including buildings on 
third-party land

machinery furniture and 
fittings, other 

factory and 
office equipment

payments made 
on account and

assets under
construction 

total

cost (of purchase 
or production)

Amounts 
as of January 1 266,778 109,463 177,504 12,410 566,155

Changes in basis 
of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0

Additions/ 
Current investments 10,977 7,769 14,983 998 34,727

Disposals -2,566 -726 -4,575 -22 -7,889
Reclassifications 11,715 -410 54 -11,173 186

Currency translation 
differences -565 -207 -735 -62 -1,570

amounts 
as of december 31 286,337 115,890 187,230 2,152 591,608

accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairment losses

Amounts 
as of January 1 145,966 71,347 144,410 13 361,736

Changes in basis 
of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0

Additions 3,421 7,992 13,699 0 25,111
Disposals -2,145 -629 -4,414 -13 -7,201
Reclassifications 0 -155 -45 190 -11

Currency translation 
differences -78 -58 -538 0 -674

amounts 
as of december 31 147,162 78,497 153,111 190 378,961

net carrying amounts 139,175 37,393 34,118 1,962 212,648
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The following assets are subject to limitations on their 
availability:

Items of property, plant and equipment to the value of 
€3,563k (2013: €3,430k) are pledged as collateral for 
debt. The liabilities secured as of December 31 2014 
amount to €1.113k (2013: €1,013k).

Compensation payments by third parties in the amount 
of €178k (2013: €448k) are recognised as Other operat-
ing income.

The following carrying amounts of property, plant and 
equipment relate to assets on lease under finance leases:

The following minimum lease payments will be payable 
in future on the basis of existing finance leases:

There are no minimum lease payments with residual 
terms of more than 5 years.

Obligations under finance leases are recognised under 
Other liabilities (see under 5.13.).

Future obligations under operating leases where the 
benefits of ownership do not lie with TÜV NORD group 
as lessee are recognised under Other financial liabilities 
(see under 5.16.). 

€ k 31. 12. 2014 31. 12. 2013
Machinery 162 101
Furniture and fittings, other factory and office equipment 869 593

€ k initial recognition
amounts

accumulated 
depreciation and 

impairment losses

net carrying
amounts

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Furniture and 
fittings, other 
factory and office 
equipment 904 268 449 176 455 92

€ k up to 1 year 1 – 5 years total
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Total 
minimum lease 
payments 225 64 226 35 451 99

Interest expense 
included -8 -1 -6 -1 -14 -2
present values 217 63 220 34 437 97



087consolidated financial statements 2014

5.3. equity-accounted investments 

The following table shows the names and the locations of 
the registered offices of companies accounted for using the 
equity method, together with the percentage of the equity 
held, the company’s total equity and its total earnings after 
tax:

These are exclusively associated companies.

The equity-method was used for the first time for TÜV
Middle East W.L.L., Manama, Bahrain at December 31 2014. 

For the associates that are material to TÜV NORD AG the 
following table show financial information as well as a 
reconciliation to the carrying amount of the interest in the 
associate:

name, location 
of registered office

share of equity
%

total equity
€ k

eat 100%
€ k

National Inspection and Technical 
Testing Company Ltd. (FAHSS), Damman, 
Saudi-Arabia 25.11 8,261 1,265

TÜV Middle East W.L.L., Manama, Bahrain 25.10 5,727 808
UAB TÜVLITA, Vilnius, Lithuania 50.00 4,707 489
OutSmart B.V., Velp, The Netherlands 25.10 413 -209

€ k 31.12.2014 31.12.2013
results from fahss
Revenues 18,887 14,453
Earnings after tax/total comprehensive income 1,265 1,164
Share of earnings after tax/total comprehensive income 276 245
Balance sheet information fahss
Current assets 10,579 8,273
Non-current assets 4,381 3,564
Current liabilities -3,536 -2,644
Non-current liabilities -3,163 -2,251
Equity 8,261 6,942
 
Share of equity 1,896 1,743
Other -362 -553
Book value of the equity-accounted fahss 1,534 1,190

€ k 31.12.2014 31.12.2013
results from tÜv middle east
Revenues 16,145 0
Earnings after tax/total comprehensive income 808 0
Share of earnings after tax/total comprehensive income 203 0
Balance sheet information tÜv middle east
Current assets 9,290 0
Non-current assets 669 0
Current liabilities -2,896 0
Non-current liabilities -1,336 0
Equity 5,727 0
 
Share of equity 1,437 0
Other -160 0
Book value of the equity-accounted tÜv middle east 1,277 0
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The following table shows summarised financial infor-
mation on both non-material investments accounted for 
using the equity method: 

 
Income from non-material investments accounted for 
using the equity method is shown in the following table:

These figures were determined on the basis of audited 
financial statements for the previous year (see under 2.6.).

5.4. other financial assets 

For TÜV NORD AG’s other equity investments please refer 
to the list of shareholdings (see under 7.7.).

The following changes in other financial assets occurred 
during the year under review:

€ k 31.12.2014 31.12.2013
Assets 6,741 6,185
Liabilities -1,621 -1,458
Equity 5,120 4,727

€ k 2014 2013
Earnings after tax 280 536
Share of earnings after tax 231 293
Share of total comprehensive income 231 293
Book value of non-material associates 3,206 3,057

changes 2014
€ k

investments
in affiliates

investments in
joint ventures

and associates
(not equity
accounted)

other 
equity
invest-
ments

long-
term

securi-
ties

loans
granted

shares in
guarantee

funds 
arising 

from re-
insurance

total

cost (of purchase 
or production)

Amounts 
as of January 1 5,722 331 675 25,936 2,627 32,555 67,845
Additions 380 13 0 67 23 4,143 4,625
Disposals -25 0 -344 -5,045 -1,320 -1,832 -8,565
Reclassifications -6 -15 -32 0 0 -2,775 -2,828

Currency translation 
differences 29 0 2 0 0 0 31

amounts 
as of december 31 6,100 328 301 20,958 1,329 32,091 61,108

accumulated 
amortisation and 
impairment losses

Amounts 
as of January 1 3,592 265 160 0 2,430 0 6,447

Additions 235 0 0 0 0 0 235
Disposals -2 0 0 0 -1,279 0 -1,281
Reclassifications 0 38 -38 0 0 0 0

Currency translation 
differences 6 0 0 0 0 0 6

amounts  
as of december 31 3,831 303 123 0 1,151 0 5,407

net carrying 
amounts 2,269 25 179 20,958 178 32,091 55,700
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Of the reinsurance claims on Alters- und Hinterbliebe-
nen-Versorgungsstelle der Technischen Überwachungs- 
Vereine – VvaG –, Essen, (AHV) claims of €15,894k 
(2013: €15,738k) have been pledged as collateral to 
secure loan liabilities and obligations arising out of 
pre-retirement part-time working arrangements.

changes 2013
€ k

investments
in affiliates

investments in
joint ventures

and associates
(not equity
accounted)

other 
equity
invest-
ments

long-
term

securi-
ties

loans
granted

shares in
guarantee

funds 
arising 

from re-
insurance

total

cost (of purchase 
or production)

Amounts 
as of January 1 5,484 305 722 27,194 7,236 37,696 78,637

Additions 287 0 6 171 15 1,195 1,673
Disposals 0 -3 0 -1,430 -4,624 -699 -6,756
Reclassifications 22 31 -53 0 0 -5,636 -5,636

Currency translation 
differences -70 -3 -1 0 0 0 -74

amounts 
as of december 31 5,722 331 675 25,936 2,627 32,555 67,845

accumulated 
amortisation and 
impairment losses

Amounts 
as of January 1 3,531 268 160 0 2,485 0 6,444

Additions 152 0 0 0 0 0 152
Disposals -86 -3 0 0 -54 0 -143
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Currency translation 
differences -6 0 0 0 0 0 -6

amounts  
as of december 31 3,592 265 160 0 2,430 0 6,447

net carrying 
amounts 2,130 66 515 25,936 197 32,555 61,397
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5.5. inventories 

Write-downs amounting to €3k (2013: €0k) are  
recognised under Inventories.

5.6. trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables can be disaggregated in 
accordance with their residual terms as follows:

€ k 2014 2013
Raw materials and supplies 1,292 1,492
Work in progress 52,360 53,975
Finished products and merchandise 3,650 3,478
Payments made on account 3,896 2,897
total 61,198 61,842

€ k 2014 2013
current non-current total current non-current total

Trade receivables 
 from third parties 124,286 166 124,452 130,453 243 130,696

 from partly fulfilled contracts 
 to render services 15,848 0 15,848 18,788 0 18,788

Receivables 
from affiliates 819 43 862 714 15 729

Receivables from 
joint ventures, associates and 
other entities in which equity 
investments are held 2,480 0 2,480 1,187 1 1,188

total 143,433 209 143,641 151,142 259 151,401
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€ k 2014 2013
carrying amount as of January 1 7,489 6,345
Additions 3,185 3,589
Use 1,963 1,280
Reversals 984 977
Currency translation effects 129 -188
carrying amount as of december 31 7,856 7,489

During the period under review, value adjustments  
on doubtful receivables were effected in the amount  
of €3,185k (2013: €3,589k).

The development of specific value adjustments was as 
follows:

Receivables that have not been subjected to specific 
value adjustments can be disaggregated as follows:

 
5.7. other assets 

Other assets with a residual term of more than one year 
are classified as non-current, and those with a residual 
term of less than one year as current.

The other assets recognised essentially consist of 
accrued items and tax reimbursement claims. The items 
break down as follows:

€ k 2014 2013
trade receivables from third parties, gross 132,308 138,185
a) of which neither overdue nor impaired 43,485 41,969
b) of which overdue by the following periods, but not yet impaired
 1 to  30 days 56,006 58,412
31 to  60 days 12,120 15,867
61 to  90 days 4,807 5,278
91 to 180 days 4,976 5,938
more than 180 days 10,914 10,721
value adjustments -7,856 -7,489
trade receivables from third parties, net 124,452 130,696

€ k 2014 2013
current non-current total current non-current total

Other assets 15,549 3,912 19,461 13,589 3,374 16,962
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As of the reporting date there were no items more than 
180 days overdue for which no impairment loss had 
been recognised. 

5.8. cash and cash equivalents

The cash and cash equivalents consist of cheques, cash 
in hand and balances on account with a number of 
different banks in various currencies. The bank balances 
earn interest at customary market rates.

5.9. assets held for sale

Pursuant to IFRS 5, developed properties in respect 
of which disposal procedures have been initiatied are 
reported under the item “Assets held for sale”.

5.10. equity

For further details of changes in equity between January 
1 2013 and December 31 2014, see the Statement of 
Changes in Consolidated Equity.

TÜV NORD’s capital management policy aims not only 
to secure the continued existence of the business, but 
also to achieve an adequate return in excess of the costs 
of capital, thereby enhancing the value of the company 
in the long term. 

subscribed capital

The subscribed capital remains unchanged at €10,000k, 
divided into 100,000 registered no-par-value shares.  
All the shares are fully paid. 

At the time of the preparation of the Consolidated Fi-
nancial Statements for the 2014 fiscal year, TÜV NORD 
AG had neither contingent nor authorised capital. TÜV 
NORD AG does not grant any share-based remuneration 
(share option programmes) to its employees.

capital reserves

The capital reserves of TÜV NORD group in the amount 
of €114,413k correspond to the capital reserves of  
TÜV NORD AG.

subordinated registered debenture

On December 22 2014 TÜV NORD AG took out a 
subordinated registered debenture without a fixed 
term amounting to €20,000k with the Alters- und 
Hinterbliebenen-Versicherung der Technischen Überwa-
chungs-Vereine -VVaG- (AHV), Essen. The interest rate 
is fixed at 4.125% until June 30 2020 and will then 
increase by 100 basis points for each additional 5-year 
period. A termination option is exclusively available to 
TÜV NORD AG for the first time as of June 30 2020, 
thereafter annually. Interest payments are the discretion 
of TÜV NORD AG. They are also to be paid retroactively 
in full, for instance, in the event of the redemption of 
the registered debenture, distributions to the sharehold-
ers or the repayment of other liabilities of equal rank or 
in the case of economically similar procedures.

retained earnings

The retained earnings include the earnings of the con-
solidated companies, to the extent that these have not 
been distributed as dividends. In addition, the offsetting 
of asset-side and liability-side differences arising out of 
the capital consolidation of acquisitions up to December 
31 2006 and also the net amount of non-cash adjust-
ments in connection with the first-time adoption of IFRS 
are recognised under this item. 

other equity items

The other equity items include the non-cash impacts on 
equity of the currency translation of foreign subsidiar-
ies’ separate financial statements, of changes in the fair 
values of available-for-sale instruments, and of actuarial 
gains and losses arising out of post-employment benefit 
plans, and also the deferred taxes recognised in connec-
tion with these items. 
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non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests cover holdings by investors 
outside TÜV NORD group in the consolidated equity of 
group companies. 

The significant non-controlling interests are held in the 
following group companies:

€ k 2014 2013
TÜV India Private Ltd., Mumbai, India 3,804 3,375
TÜV NORD CERT GmbH, Essen, Germany 1,161 1,129
Höntzsch GmbH, Waiblingen, Germany 1,017 984

DMT Consulting Private Limited 
(formerly IMC-SRG Services & Consultancy (P) Ltd.), Kolkata, India 765 695
TÜV NORD Mobilität Immobilien GmbH, Essen, Germany 721 627
Various other companies 1,043 911
total 8,511 7,721

The voting rights of other shareholders are in propor-
tion to their share of the equity. No further information 
is given due to lack of materiality on the subsidiaries 
in which non-controlling minority shareholders have 
a stake. More information can be found in the list of 
shareholdings in chapter 7.7.

5.11.  provisions for pensions  
and other post-employment benefits

Provisions are formed for obligations arising out of 
entitlements and current benefits of serving and former 
employees and their surviving dependents, to the extent 
that these arise under a defined benefit plan. These 
provisions are determined in accordance with actuarial 
valuations of existing benefit obligations, which are 
recalculated every year. The costs resulting from these 
commitments are allocated over the employee’s period 
of service in accordance with the actuaries’ findings, and 
comprise current or past service cost and interest cost.

The full amount of actuarial gains and losses is recog-
nised in Other comprehensive income, while making due 
allowance for deferred taxes. These actuarial gains and 
losses are therefore presented in the Group Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. 

The net pension cost is shown as personnel expense.

A contractual trust agreement (CTA) was initially funded 
with effect from December 30 2008. Shares in rein-
surance guarantee funds which serve exclusively and 
irrevocably to cover and fund post-employment benefit 
obligations were vested in TÜV NORD PENSION TRUST 
e.V. Under IFRS rules, the assets of the CTA are to be 
regarded as “plan assets”. The plan assets consist exclu-
sively of these reinsurance guarantee fund shares. 

The level of post-employment benefit obligations (the 
present value, determined by actuarial valuation, of 
the defined benefit obligation (DBO)) was calculated 
by actuarial methods, a procedure in which the use of 
estimated values is unavoidable. 

Pursuant to IAS 19, Employee benefits, the level of 
post-employment benefit obligations is determined by 
the projected unit credit method, under which actuarial 
methods on the basis of best estimates of the relevant 
parameters are used to assess the vested future obliga-
tions existing as of the valuation date. 

The post-employment benefits that are expected to 
become payable, including dynamic components, are 
distributed over the employee’s entire period of service. 
For the year under review, the following assumptions 
were made by the actuaries with regard to the variable 
parameters to be included in their calculations:
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The actuaries review and revise their findings every 
year. The actuarial assumptions with regard to mortality 
are based (with regard to Germany) on the Heubeck 
mortality tables, version 2005G. The actuarial assump-
tions do not materially differ between Germany and 
other countries with the exception of the discount rate.

The group has both defined benefit and defined contri-
bution plans for commitments for retirement, invalidity 
and surviving dependants’ pensions based on works 
agreements and individual contractual agreements. 
Defined benefit pension plans were offered only to staff 

who joined the company up to and including December 
31 1991 or, as the case may be, December 31 1993. 
The level of these commitments is calculated according 
to the eligible income and/or social insurance pension as 
well as length of service. The benefits are paid directly 
by the company which granted the pension commit-
ment.

The following table shows changes in the present value 
of future post-employment benefit obligations and of the 
plan assets. 

% 2014 2013
Discount rate as of 31.12. 3.00 4.20
Future pension increases 1.20 1.50
Future wage and salary increases 1.50 2.00
Employee turnover 2.00 2.00
Rate of return on plan assets 3.60 3.70

€ k Benefit 
obligation

plan assets total

carrying amounts as of January 1 2014 953,034 -685,536 267,498
Current service cost 15,655 0 15,655
Net interest cost (interest cost/interest income) 39,823 -25,428 14,395
net pension cost 55,478 -25,428 30,050
Actual interest on plan assets
less actuarial interest income 0 -720 -720

Actuarial gains/losses from
changes in financial assumptions 103,611 0 103,611
remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans 103,611 -720 102,891
Pension payments -51,151 0 -51,151
Payments from the pension plan 0 36,264 36,264
Employer’s contributions to the pension plan 0 -28,680 -28,680
total payments -51,151 7,584 -43,567
Transfer of obligations 917 -1,144 -227
Changes in scope of consolidation/changes  
in currency translation and other effects 2,443 -966 1,477
carrying amounts as of december 31 2014 1,064,332 -706,210 358,122
Other amounts recognised in the balance sheet 36 0 36
provisions for pensions recognised  
in the balance sheet as of december 31 2014 1,064,368 -706,210 358,158
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The benefit obligation in proportion to plan assets 
reflects the funded status of the benefit plan in ques-
tion, with any excess of the benefit obligation over 
plan assets constituting a plan deficit. Both the benefit 
obligation and plan assets can vary over time, leading 
to an increase/decrease in the plan deficit. Reasons for 
such fluctuation can include changes in market interest 
rates and thus in the discount rate, or adjustments to 
actuarial assumptions.

The TÜV NORD group’s plan assets exclusively com-
prise employer’s pension liability insurance policies 
and are subject to only limited fluctuation on account 
of the existing minimum returns. A price reporting on 
an active market does not exist for employer’s pension 
liability insurance policies. The recognised plan deficit 
is covered by cash flows from operating activities.It is 
the long-term goal of the TÜV NORD group to gradually 
increase plan assets. The employer contributions to plan 
assets are expected to amount to €25.0 million in 2015. 
The weighted average term of the remainder of benefit 
obligations is 13.1 years.

€ k Benefit 
obligation

plan assets total

carrying amounts as of January 1 2013 930,908 -668,713 262,195
Current service cost 11,070 0 11,070
Net interest cost (interest cost/interest income) 40,075 -24,609 15,466
net pension cost 51,145 -24,609 26,536
Actual interest on plan assets
less actuarial interest income 0 -1,749 -1,749

Actuarial gains/losses from
changes in financial assumptions 17,864 0 17,864
remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans 17,864 -1,749 16,115
Pension payments -48,962 0 -48,962
Payments from the pension plan 0 34,752 34,752
Employer’s contributions to the pension plan 0 -22,831 -22,831
total payments -48,962 11,921 -37,041
Transfer of obligations 2,627 -1,979 648
Changes in scope of consolidation/changes  
in currency translation and other effects -548 -407 -955
carrying amounts as of december 31 2013 953,034 -685,536 267,498
Other amounts recognised in the balance sheet 40 0 40
provisions for pensions recognised  
in the balance sheet as of december 31 2013 953,074 -685,536 267,538
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The table below shows the effects on the defined 
benefit obligation (DBO) of any change in the parame-
ters. The analysis relates to parameters where a change 
was considered possible as of the reporting date. Any 
correlation between the parameters was not taken into 
account in the calculation.

Employer contributions to mandatory pension schemes 
as well as contributions to other defined contribution 
plans were made in the amount of €41.2 million in 2014 
(2013: €39.7 million).

5.12. other non-current and current provisions 

The provisions for obligations in the areas of personnel 
and welfare relate essentially to pre-retirement part-time 
working, long-service bonuses, social plan measures and 
other personnel and non-wage personnel costs.

The sundry other provisions relate mainly to provisions 
for warranty obligations, provisions for threatened 
losses from pending transactions and other risks.

Of the total amount of the sundry other provisions as 
of December 31 2014, €32,988k (2013: €28,354k) are 
current and €8,737k (2013: €7,322k) are non-current. 
No material interest accruals have been recognised on 
non-current provisions.

€ k provisions for 
the areas of 

personnel and 
welfare 

sundry other 
provisions

total

carrying amounts as of January 1 2014 55,022 35,676 90,698
Additions 24,151 16,025 40,176
Use 21,858 6,208 28,066
Reversals 2,178 4,013 6,192
Reclassifications/Transfers -149 85 -65
Currency translation differences 156 162 318
carrying amounts as of december 31 2014 55,144 41,725 96,870

sensitivity analysis
in % 

change 
in parameter

increase
in parameter

decrease 
in parameter

Interest rate
1.0 %

11.8 % DBO
decrease

14.6 % DBO
increase

Rate of pension progression
0.5 %

6.0 % DBO 
increase

5.6 % DBO 
decrease
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5.13. non-current and current trade and other payables

Payables can be disaggregated in accordance with their 
residual terms as follows:

The amounts payable to banks include an amount of  
€20,000k drawn down under a syndicated credit line 
with a ceiling of €175,000k. Interest at the three-month 
EURIBOR rate plus a margin of 100 basis points was 
payable on the amount drawn down from the time of 
disbursement. 

Amounts payable under finance leases relate to leases 
of capital goods, and are recognised as liabilities in the 
amount of the future obligation. 

Trade payables from partly fulfilled contracts to render 
services relate to contracts with regard to which the 
payments received from customers on account exceed 
the accumulated receivables from the fulfilment of the 
contracts concerned. 

Amounts payable to employees include €12,389k 
(2013: €12,307k) for obligations in lieu of free time 
and €7,437k (2013: €8,364k) for obligations relating to 
holiday not yet taken.

Other payables include an accrual of TÜV NORD College 
GmbH in the amount of €17,513k (2013: €26,845k),  
arising out of the financing of the operations of the 
vocational training colleges. 

5.14. contingent liabilities

TÜV NORD AG bears liability in cases where it and its 
subsidiaries have given guarantees in favour of various 
contractual partners. 

In the year under review, an amount of €9,341k (2013: 
€9,199k) contingent liabilities is recognised and relates 
to sureties given for the most part to banks. TÜV NORD 
AG gives performance bonds in respect of liabilities 
of group companies arising out of joint projects or 
consortia. If the consortium partner does not honour 
its contractual obligations, TÜV NORD AG may be liable 
to meet claims for payment up to the amount of the 
agreed surety. Generally, the agreed terms correspond 
to those of the underlying transaction.

€ k 2014 2013
current non-current total current non-current total

Amounts payable to banks 21,230 507 21,737 51,792 932 52,724
Amounts payable 
under finance leases 216 220 436 75 34 109
financial liabilities 21,447 727 22,173 51,867 967 52,834
Trade payables
– to third parties 19,635 318 19,953 32,232 221 32,453

–  from partly fulfilled contracts  
to render services 1,178 0 1,178 535 0 535

Payables to affiliates 393 3 397 354 6 360

Payables to joint ventures,
associates and other entities
in which equity investments
are held 515 0 515 921 0 921

Outstanding invoices 17,530 0 17,530 14,675 0 14,675
Amounts payable to employees 25,252 303 25,555 24,682 247 24,930
Other payables 29,955 18,435 48,389 32,291 24,708 56,999
trade and other payables 94,457 19,059 113,516 105,690 25,183 130,872
Payments received on account 48,089 52 48,141 49,696 30 49,727
Other taxes 15,976 0 15,976 16,396 0 16,396
sundry payables 64,065 52 64,117 66,092 30 66,123
total payables 179,969 19,837 199,806 223,649 26,180 249,829
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5.15. litigation

Neither TÜV NORD AG nor its group companies are 
involved in litigation that could have a material impact 
on the economic or financial position of the companies 
or of the group. In respect of other litigation, adequate 
provisions have been formed by the company concerned 
in any given case for any awards that may be made 
against it. As of the reporting date, these provisions 
amount to €1,311k (2013: €946k).

 
5.16. other financial liabilities

As of December 31 2014, obligations exist to order 
items of property, plant and equipment to the value of  
€167k (2013: €585k).

The other financial liabilities relate to rental and leasing 
obligations for premises, furniture and fittings and 
factory and office equipment which are classified as 
operating leases pursuant to IAS 17.

The minimum lease payments fall due as follows:

 
The other financial rental obligations are predominantly 
to be classified as non-current. They have terms of 
between five and ten years. 

Expense under such contracts recognised in the Income 
Statement amounts to €39,728k (2013: €41,657k).

€ k up to 1 year 1 –5 years more than 
5 years

total

Minimum lease payments 
for rented real estate 14,165 37,685 37,710 89,560

Minimum lease payments 
under other operating leases 5,923 20,809 20,309 47,041
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6.  consolidated cash flow  
statement disclosures

The figures for cash and cash equivalents presented 
in the cash flow statement embrace all cash and cash 
equivalents recognised in the balance sheet, i. e. cash 
in hand, cheques and balances on account with banks. 
The recognised cash and cash equivalents are freely 
disposable and not subject to any restrictions in favour 
of third parties.

7. other disclosures
 

7.1. events after the reporting period

No events that are material to the presentation of the 
group’s financial position had occurred up to the date 
on which the financial statements were authorised for 
issue. 

7.2.  fees paid to the auditors  
of the consolidated financial statements

The following fees, paid to the auditors of the Consol-
idated Financial Statements, BDO AG Wirtschaftsprü-
fungsgesellschaft, during the year under review, have 
been recognised as expense pursuant to Article 314 (1) 
No. 9 of the German Commercial Code (HGB):

7.3. financial instruments

The evaluation of categories of financial instruments 
relevant after IFRS 7 for the reporting and the compara-
tive period is shown in the following overview. 

€ k 2014 2013
Auditing services 704 665
Tax consultancy services 74 56
Other consultancy services 19 25
total 797 746
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financial instruments 
as of december 31 2014

€ k

category as 
per ias 39

carrying 
amounts

loans and 
receivables 

measured at
amortised 

cost*

available-
for-sale

financial assets 
recognised 

at fair value in 
comprehensive 

income

financial 
liabilities 

measured at 
amortised 

cost*

assets
non-current assets
Securities AfS 20,958  20,958
Loans LaR 178 178  

Receivables  
and other assets LaR 2,018 2,018  

current assets   

Trade receivables  
from third parties LaR 140,134 140,134

Receivables  
and other assets LaR 8,266 8,266

Cash and  
cash equivalents LaR 61,607 61,607

liaBilities
non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities FLAC 507   507

Trade payables  
to third parties FLAC 318   318

Other liabilities FLAC 3,603   3,603
current liabilities   
Financial liabilities FLAC 21,230   21,230

Trade payables 
to third parties FLAC 20,813   20,813

Other liabilities FLAC 117,182   117,182
total by category as 
per ias 39 212,203 20,958 163,653

of which (aggregated by 
category as per ias 39):
Loans and receivables (LaR) 212,203

Available-for-sale 
financial assets (AFS) 20,958

Financial liabilities measured  
at amortised cost (FLAC) 163,653

* The carrying amounts correspond to the fair values.
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* The carrying amounts correspond to the fair values.

financial instruments 
as of december 31 2013

€ k

category as 
per ias 39

carrying 
amounts

loans and 
receivables 

measured at
amortised 

cost*

available-
for-sale

financial assets 
recognised 

at fair value in 
comprehensive 

income

financial 
liabilities 

measured at 
amortised 

cost*

assets
non-current assets
Securities AfS 25,936  25,936
Loans LaR 197 197

Receivables  
and other assets LaR 2,026 2,026

current assets   

Trade receivables  
from third parties LaR 149,241 149,241

Receivables  
and other assets LaR 7,091 7,091

Cash and  
cash equivalents LaR 54,006 54,006

liaBilities
non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities FLAC 932 932

Trade payables  
to third parties FLAC 221 221

Other liabilities FLAC 2,838 2,838
current liabilities   
Financial liabilities FLAC 51,792 51,792

Trade payables 
to third parties FLAC 32,767 32,767

Other liabilities FLAC 115,740 115,740
total by category as 
per ias 39 212,561 25,936 204,291

of which (aggregated by 
category as per ias 39):
Loans and receivables (LaR) 212,561

Available-for-sale 
financial assets (AFS) 25,936

Financial liabilities measured  
at amortised cost (FLAC) 204,291
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As laid down in the three stages of the valuation hier-
archy in IFRS 13.72 et seq., the valuation of financial 
assets and liabilities is subject to the availability of the 
relevant information. For the first stage, quoted market 
prices are directly observable for identical asset values 
and liabilities in active markets. In the second stage, the 
assessment is made on the basis of valuation models 
which are influenced by values that are observable on 
the market. The third stage envisages the application of 
valuation models that do not rely on observable market 
inputs.

No financial assets are held for trading or held to 
maturity.

In view of the predominantly short maturities of the 
assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost, it is 
assumed that their carrying amounts approximativly 
correspond to their fair values. 

For the securities classified as available for sale, the fair 
values are based on market prices quoted on an active 
market (level 1 of the fair value hierarchy). 

net profit or loss by category

Net profit or loss from financial instruments that is 
recognised in the Income Statement is allocated to the 
following categories: 

Interest on financial liabilities and impairment losses on 
loans granted are recognised in Financial items. Impair-
ment losses on receivables (essentially trade receivables) 
and gains or losses from disposals of securities are 
recognised under other losses or gains. 

€ k 2014 2013
from 

interest
from 

subsequent
measurement

from 
disposal

from 
interest

from 
subsequent

measurement

from 
disposal

Loans and receivables 1,595 -2,011 -16 1,895 -3,866 0
Financial liabilities 
measured at amortised cost -1,569 154 0 -1,501 165 0
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7.4. management of financial risks

TÜV NORD group companies are exposed to financial 
risks in the course of their operations. These risks 
consist of credit, liquidity and market risks in the form 
of currency and interest rate risks. Through TÜV NORD 
AG’s centralised risk management system these risks 
are managed and controlled on a group-wide basis. The 
principles of the risk management system are explained 
in greater detail in the Management Report.

credit default risks

Default risks arise in particular out of day-to-day oper-
ations. The receivables of TÜV NORD group companies 
are generally subject to a default risk which it may seek 
to counter by demanding security, depending on the 
type and amount of the performance rendered. Where 
required, credit insurance with an excess component 
is concluded in respect of individual counterparties. In 
addition, payment in advance may be required. In order 
to minimise the risk of default, counterparties are sub-
jected to creditworthiness assessments in accordance 
with internal guidelines before contracts are concluded. 
Furthermore, customers’ financial standing is regularly 
reviewed during the term of the contract. If there is any 
concrete risk of default, precautionary write-downs are 
effected, on the basis either of objective evidence in 
specific cases, or of the structure of maturities and the 
actual occurrence of defaults on payment. 

Defaults on trade receivables, on receivables based on 
percentage of completion and on loans cannot exceed 
their carrying amount as of December 31 2014. The 
structure of due dates of trade receivables is shown 
under 5.6.

The maximum credit risk relating to assets held for sale 
and financial instruments is equivalent to their market 
prices as of December 31 2014.

liquidity risks

Possible liquidity risks – the danger that the group 
might not be able to meet its payment obligations at 
all times – are managed through the implementation of 
comprehensive short-term and long-term liquidity plan-
ning, taking into account existing credit lines. Funding 
requirements are for the most part covered by equity, 
by participation in cash pooling agreements or by loans 
from banks, from AHV or from group companies, to 
the extent that this is feasible and reasonable in the 
context of the legal and tax situation in each case. Bank 
balances are held exclusively with banks of impeccable 
standing.

A variety of financing instruments available on the 
market are used to cover the group’s central funding 
requirements. If events should occur that lead to an un-
expectedly high requirement for liquidity, both existing 
liquidity in the form of cash and cash equivalents and 
also available credit lines can be drawn upon. 

A credit line up to a limit of €175,000k is available, 
which can be drawn upon as required; the amount 
drawn down as of December 31 2014 amounted to  
€20,000k.

An overview of the maturities of financial liabilities and 
the resulting outflows of funds can be derived from the 
table of residual terms of liabilities (see under 5.13.). 

currency risks

Currency risks result from the assets and liabilities 
recognised in the balance sheet that are denominated 
in foreign currencies, the fair values of which may be 
negatively influenced by fluctuations in exchange rates, 
and from pending foreign currency transactions whose 
future cash flows may develop disadvantageously as a 
result of exchange rate movements. 

Exchange rate risk is of only minor importance, since 
the receivables and payables are due in local currency 
in the country in which the company concerned is 
domiciled. There are scarcely any country risks at the 
present time. 
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interest rate risks

Interest rate risks arise predominantly from short-term 
loans with variable rates of interest taken up in the con-
text of group funding. TÜV NORD AG’s risk and opportu-
nity management system counters the risk that future 
interest payments may develop unfavourably as a result 
of changes in interest rate levels by adopting appropri-
ate reporting practices and by laying down competences 
and responsibilities with regard to the taking up of 
credit. No sensitivity analysis has been prepared, since 
current liabilities were essentially already covered at the 
time of the preparation of the financial statements.

7.5. related party disclosures

Under IAS 24, “Related party disclosures”, companies 
are subject to an obligation to disclose relationships 
with, on the one hand, related business entities that are 
not fully consolidated, and, on the other, with persons 
with whom a close relationship exists. 

Related party entities of TÜV NORD group are basically 
TÜV Nord e.V., TÜV Hannover/Sachsen-Anhalt e.V. and 
RWTÜV e.V. associations, “Aktaios” Verwaltungs-GmbH 
and RWTÜV GmbH with its subsidiaries. In addition, the 
group maintains direct or indirect relationships in the 
normal course of its business activities not only with 
its consolidated subsidiaries, but also with non-consoli-
dated affiliates and associates. All trading relationships 
entered into in the normal course of business with 
non-consolidated related entities are conducted on 
the basis of normal market conditions such as are also 
customary in arm’s-length transactions. 

Members of the Board of Management and the Super-
visory Board are also considered to be related parties. 

7.6.  total compensation of the Board of management 
and the supervisory Board

The key management personnel compensation whose 
disclosure is required pursuant to IAS 24 embraces 
the compensation of the serving members of Board of 
Management and the Supervisory Board.

During the 2014 fiscal year, the serving members of 
the Board of Management received total compensation 
amounting to €1,858k (2013: €2,192k). The additional 
current service cost for pension obligations amounts to 
€175k (2013: €192k). The present value of the overall 
defined benefit obligation (DBO) to the serving members 
of the Board of Management amounts to €6,042k 
(2013: €5,336k) as of the reporting date.

Total payments to former members of the Board of 
Management and their surviving dependents, consisting 
of pension payments and other compensation (one-off 
payments and payments for consultancy services), 
amounted to €393k (2013: €485k). A DBO in the 
amount of €6,256k (2013: €5,735k) exists towards 
former members of the Board of Management and their 
surviving dependents. 

Members of the Supervisory Board were paid compen-
sation of €243k (2013: €252k) for their services. 

No loans or advances were granted to members of the 
Board of Management or the Supervisory Board in the 
2014 fiscal year.
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name, location of registered office share of equity %

consolidated affiliates
adapt engineering GmbH & Co. KG, Nordhausen, Germany 100.00 1)

ALTER TECHNOLOGY TÜV NORD S.A.U., Seville, Spain 100.00
Asesoría y Control en Protección Radiológica. S.L. (ACPRO), Barcelona, Spain 60.00
BRTUV AVALIAÇÕES DA QUALIDADE S.A., São Paulo, Brazil 75.01
Cualicontrol-ACI S.A.U., Madrid, Spain 100.00
DMT Consulting GmbH (former IMC-Montan Consulting GmbH), Essen, Germany 100.00
DMT Consulting Limited (former IMC Group Consulting Ltd.), Nottingham, United Kingdom 100.00
DMT Consulting Private Limited (former IMC-SRG Services & Consultancy (P) Ltd.), Kolkata, India 51.00
DMT GEOSCIENCES LTD., Calgary, Canada 100.00
DMT Geosurvey spol. s.r.o., Prague, Czech Republic 100.00
DMT GmbH & Co. KG, Essen, Germany 100.00 1)

DMT Petrologic GmbH, Hanover, Germany 100.00
EE Energy Engineers GmbH, Gelsenkirchen, Germany 100.00
ENCOS GmbH Engineering + Construction + Service, Hamburg, Germany 100.00
FS FAHRZEUG-SERVICE GmbH & Co. KG, Hanover, Germany 100.00 1)

Guangzhou TÜV Industrial Technical Services Co., Ltd., Guangzhou, China 100.00
GWQ Gesellschaft für Werkstoffprüfung und Qualitätssicherung mbH, Moers, Germany 100.00
HIREX ENGINEERING SAS, Toulouse, France 100.00
Höntzsch GmbH, Waiblingen, Germany 75.08
Hundt & Partner Ingenieurgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, Hanover, Germany 100.00 1)

IGN Ingenieurgesellschaft Nord mbH & Co. KG, Greifswald, Germany 100.00 1)

MEDITÜV GmbH & Co. KG – Unternehmensgruppe TÜV NORD, Hanover, Germany 100.00 1)

Nord-Kurs GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, Germany 100.00 1)

PT. TÜV NORD Indonesia, Jakarta, Indonesia 100.00
THE INSPECTION COMPANY OF KOREA (INCOK), Seoul, Korea 100.00
TOP REL S.R.L., Rome, Italy 100.00
TÜ-Service Anlagentechnik GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin, Germany 100.00 1)

TÜ Service Ingenieurgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, Potsdam, Germany 100.00 1)

TÜV ASIA PACIFIC LTD., Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong 100.00
TÜV Croatia d.o.o., Slavonski Brod, Croatia 100.00
TÜV CYPRUS LTD., Nicosia, Cyprus 60.16
TÜV Eesti OÜ, Tallinn, Estonia 100.00
TÜV HELLAS (TÜV NORD) S.A., Athens, Greece 100.00
TÜV India Private Ltd., Mumbai, India 50.00
TÜV Informationstechnik GmbH Unternehmensgruppe TÜV NORD, Essen, Germany 100.00
TÜV Nederland QA B.V., Best, The Netherlands 100.00
TÜV NORD Akademie GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, Germany 100.00 1)

TÜV Nord Baltik SIA, Riga, Latvia 100.00
TÜV NORD Bautechnik GmbH, Hamburg, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD Bildung GmbH & Co. KG, Essen, Germany 100.00 1)

TÜV NORD Bildung Opel GmbH, Bochum, Germany 80.40
TÜV NORD Bildung Saar GmbH, Saarbrücken, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD Bulgarien GmbH, Plovdiv, Bulgaria 100.00
TÜV NORD CERT GmbH, Essen, Germany 94.00
TÜV NORD CERT UMWELTGUTACHTER Gesellschaft mbH, Hanover, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD College GmbH, Essen, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD Czech s.r.o., Prague, Czech Republic 100.00
TÜV Nord Danmark ApS, Kolding, Denmark 100.00
TÜV NORD Energieagentur GmbH & Co. KG, Essen, Germany 100.00 1)

TÜV NORD EnSys Hannover GmbH & Co. KG, Hanover, Germany 100.00 1)

TÜV NORD Finland Oy, Vantaa, Finland 100.00
TÜV NORD Hangzhou Co., Ltd., Hangzhou, China 50.00
TÜV NORD HONG KONG LTD., Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong 100.00

7.7. list of shareholdings
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TÜV NORD IBERIA S.L.U., Madrid, Spain 100.00
TÜV NORD Immobilien GmbH & Co. KG, Essen, Germany 100.00 1)

TÜV NORD InfraChem GmbH & Co. KG, Marl, Germany  51.00 1)

TÜV NORD INTEGRA BVBA, Berchem, Belgium 70.00
TÜV NORD International GmbH & Co. KG, Essen, Germany 100.00 1)

TÜV NORD ITALIA S.r.l., Legnano, Italy 100.00
TÜV NORD Korea Ltd., Seoul, Korea 100.00
TÜV NORD (Malaysia) SDN. BHD., Petaling Jaya, Malaysia 100.00
TÜV NORD Mobilität GmbH & Co. KG, Hanover, Germany 100.00 1)

TÜV NORD Mobilität Immobilien GmbH, Essen, Germany 94.00
TÜV NORD MPA Gesellschaft für Materialprüfung und Anlagensicherheit mbH & Co. KG, Leuna, Germany 100.00 1)

TÜV NORD NC GmbH & Co. KG, Hanover, Germany 100.00 1)

TÜV NORD Nederland Holding B.V., Rijswijk, The Netherlands 100.00
TÜV NORD Polska Sp. z o.o., Katowice, Poland 100.00
TÜV NORD Service GmbH & Co. KG, Hanover, Germany 100.00 1)

TÜV NORD SLOVAKIA. s.r.o., Bratislava, Slovakia 100.00
TÜV NORD Sweden AB, Gothenburg, Sweden 100.00
TÜV NORD SOUTHERN AFRICA (PTY) LTD., Cape Town, South Africa 74.00
TÜV NORD SysTec GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, Germany 100.00 1)

TÜV NORD Systems GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, Germany 100.00 1)

TÜV NORD Technisches Schulungszentrum GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, Germany 100.00 1)

TÜV NORD (Thailand) Ltd., Bangkok, Thailand 99.97
TÜV NORD Transfer GmbH, Essen, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD Umweltschutz GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, Germany 100.00 1)

TÜV Teknik Kontrol ve Belgelendirme A.S., Istanbul, Turkey 100.00
TÜV Thüringen Anlagentechnik GmbH & Co. KG, Erfurt, Germany 99.94 1)

TÜV Thüringen Fahrzeug GmbH & Co. KG, Erfurt, Germany 99.50 1)

TÜV UK Ltd., London, United Kingdom 100.00
TÜV USA. Inc., Salem, USA 100.00
Unterstützungseinrichtung des Technischen Überwachungs-Vereins Hannover/Sachsen-Anhalt GmbH, Hanover, Germany 100.00
Verebus Engineering B.V., Rijswijk, The Netherlands 100.00
Versicherungsvermittlung TÜV NORD GmbH, Essen, Germany 100.00

unconsolidated affiliates
adapt engineering Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Nordhausen, Germany 100.00
British Mining Consultants Ltd., Sutton, United Kingdom 100.00
DMT-Kai Batla Pty, Ltd., Bordeaux, South Africa 51.00
DMT-KAI BATLA (Mozambique) Limitada, Maputo Cidade, Mozambique 51.00
DMT Mining Consulting Ltd., Nottingham, United Kingdom 100.00
DMT Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Essen, Germany 100.00
FAHRZEUG-SERVICE Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hanover, Germany 100.00
FORMATION SaarLor FSL EURL, Forbach, France 100.00
IGN Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Greifswald, Germany 100.00
IMC Group Consulting Limited, Nottingham, United Kingdom 100.00
IMC Montan Consulting Limited, Nottingham, United Kingdom 100.00
IMC Montan Russia Limited, Nottingham, United Kingdom 100.00
International Mining Consultants Ltd., Nottingham, United Kingdom 100.00
International Mining Consultants Pty Ltd., Brisbane, Australia 100.00
LLC “IMC Montan”, Moscow, Russia 100.00
MacKay & Schnellmann Ltd., Nottingham, United Kingdom 100.00
MEDITÜV Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hanover, Germany 100.00
Montan Consulting Limited, Nottingham, United Kingdom 100.00
MONTAN RUSSIA Ltd, (former IMC Montan Limited), Nottingham, United Kingdom 100.00
Nord-Kurs Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg, Germany 100.00
PT. DMT Exploration Engineering Consulting Indonesia, Jakarta, Indonesia 74.00
RWTÜV Akademie GmbH, Essen, Germany 100.00
SEIQ – Serviços de Engenharia Industrial e Qualidade Ltda., Rio de Janeiro, Brazil 100.00
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TN Portugal, Unipessoal Lda, Sines, Portugal 100.00
TÜ-Service Anlagentechnik Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Berlin, Germany 100.00
TÜ Service Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Potsdam, Germany 100.00
TÜV (B) SDN. BHD., Kuala Belait, Brunei 51.00
TÜV GmbH Hannover Hamburg Essen Berlin, Hanover, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD Akademie Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD ARGENTINA S.A., Buenos Aires, Argentina 100.00
TÜV NORD Austria GmbH, Vienna, Austria 100.00
TÜV NORD AUTO GmbH, Essen, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD Bauqualität Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hanover, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD Bildung Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Essen, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD Certification (Tianjin) Co., Ltd., Tianjin, China 76.90
TÜV NORD EGYPT S.A.E., Cairo, Egypt 60.00
TÜV NORD Energieagentur Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Essen, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD EnSys Hannover Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hanover, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD FRANCE S.A.S., La Madeleine, France 100.00
TÜV NORD Immobilien Verwaltungsgesellschaft, Essen, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD InfraChem Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Marl, Germany 51.00
TÜV NORD International Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Essen, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD Kft., Budapest, Hungary 100.00
TÜV NORD Luxembourg s.a.r.l., Luxembourg, Luxembourg 100.00
TÜV NORD Material Testing GmbH, Duisburg, Germany 51.00
TÜV NORD MEXICO S.A. DE C.V., Querétaro, Mexico 100.00
TÜV NORD Mobilität Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hanover, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD MPA Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Leuna, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD Philippines. Inc., Manila, The Philippines 100.00
TÜV NORD ROMANIA S.R.L., Bucharest, Romania 100.00
TÜV NORD Service Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hanover, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD SysTec Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD Systems Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD Transfer Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Essen, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD TS Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD Ukraina GmbH, Donetsk, Ukraine 100.00
TÜV NORD Umweltschutz Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg, Germany 100.00
TÜV NORD VIETNAM LTD., Hanoi, Vietnam 100.00
TÜV Thüringen Anlagentechnik Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Germany 99.60
TÜV Thüringen Fahrzeug Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Erfurt, Germany 99.50

at equity accounted associates
National Inspection and Technical Testing Company Ltd. (FAHSS), Damman, Saudi Arabia 25.11
OutSmart B.V., Velp, The Netherlands 25.10
TÜV Middle East Co. W.L.L., Manama, Bahrain 25.10
UAB TÜVLITA, Vilnius, Lithuania 50.00

not at equity accounted associates (a) and joint ventures (Jv)
ARGE „Technische Prüfstelle für den Kraftfahrzeugverkehr 21” GbR, Dresden, Germany (JV) 25.00
EnergieAgentur.NRW GmbH, Düsseldorf, Germany (JV) 50.00
Energy Agency NRW GmbH (former EnergieAgentur.NRW GmbH), Düsseldorf, Germany (JV) 50.00
IMC MONTAN Ltd. (former MONTAN RUSSIA LTD.), Nottingham, United Kingdom (JV) 50.00
TÜV NORD ENGINEERING SERVICES (M) SDN. BHD., Selangor, Malaysia (A) 40.00
TÜV NORD IRAN JOINT VENTURE CO., Tehran, Iran (A) 49.00
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other investments
DEFA-ZERT GmbH, Stuttgart, Germany 18.50
Engineering Financial Cooperative, Seoul, Korea 0.02
FSD Fahrzeugsystemdaten GmbH, Dresden, Germany 13.43
Gesellschaft für Anlagen- und Reaktorsicherheit (GRS) mbH, Cologne, Germany 12.00
Korea Electric Engineers Association, Seoul, Korea 0.20
One TÜV BV Technische Inspektions GmbH i.L., Essen, Germany 33.33
VIA Consult GmbH & Co. KG, Olpe, Germany 2.50
WINDTEST Grevenbroich GmbH, Grevenbroich, Germany 12.50

1) These trading partnerships take advantage of the exemption rule pursuant to Art. 264b HGB.
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members of the Board of management:
 
dr.-ing. guido rettig, Hanover    
Chairman and CEO,     
Natural Resources and Aerospace  
business units 

dr. rer. nat. klaus kleinherbers, Buxtehude  
Mobility business unit 

dr. rer. pol. elmar legge, Schermbeck  
CFO

harald reutter m.a., Berlin  
Labour Director, Training business unit

dr. rer. nat. dirk stenkamp, Bocholt    
Industrial Services and IT business units 
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members of the supervisory Board:

dr. rer. nat. georg schöning, Rosengarten-Nenndorf
Chairman 

dipl.-ing. albert veldmann*, Nordhorn 
1st Vice Chairman
Officially recognised expert,  
Member of Group Staff Council of TÜV NORD AG

prof. dr. karl friedrich Jakob, Dinslaken
Vice Chairman
Chairman of the Board of Directors of RWTÜV e.V.

peter Bremme*, Hamburg
Vice Chairman 
Regional representative ver.di trade union,  
Hamburg region

dr.-ing. klaus-dieter Beck, Cologne

prof. dr.-ing. hans-Jürgen ebeling, Peine

dipl.-ing. christine flöter*, Detmold 
Technical employee, TÜV NORD CERT GmbH

dr. wolfram von fritsch, Hanover 
Chairman of the Board of Management  
of Deutsche Messe AG

prof. dr.-ing. heinz Jörg fuhrmann, Salzgitter 
Chairman of the Executive Board, Salzgitter AG

dipl.-ing. raimund gemballa*, Münster 
Chairman of Group Staff Council of TÜV NORD AG

ludger halasz*, Duisburg 
Head of Human Resources of TÜV NORD AG

 

kurt hay*, Herne
Regional Director of IG BCE, Westphalia Region

dr. jur. Jürgen-Johann rupp, Dinslaken 
Member of the Executive Board,  
RAG Aktiengesellschaft

dipl.-ing. stephan schaller, Munich 
Head of Motorcycles, BMW Group

dv-kfm. michael schnoor*, Tornesch 
Chairman of the Joint Staff Council  
of TÜV NORD Systems GmbH & Co. KG/ 
TÜV NORD SysTec GmbH & Co. KG 
Ausgsburg-Berlin-Greifswald-Hamburg

prof. dr. peter schörner*, Bochum
Lecturer at EBZ BUSINESS SCHOOL

uwe schulze*, Buchholz 
Chairman of the Joint Staff Council  
of TÜV NORD AG/TÜV NORD Service GmbH & Co. KG 
Hamburg-Bremen-Kiel

dipl.-ing. rüdiger sparfeld*, Hanover
Vice Chairman of Group Staff Council of TÜV NORD AG 

regina sparfeld-möbus*, Schwerte
Secretary to the ver.di trade union

dipl.-ing. lothar velde, Köthen
Consultant of the General Management  
of VKK Standardkessel Köthen GmbH

*Employees’ representative
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measurement data directly on the test bench. The Institute for 
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on an application to simulate the fuel consumption and, con- 
sequently, the CO2

 emissions from heavy commercial vehicles. 
Read more about this on pages 38 and 39 of this annual report.
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